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THE COMPANY
Siem Industries Inc. is a diversified industrial holding company that
operates through autonomous affiliates. We currently hold interests in
several industrial areas including the oil and gas services industry and
renewable energy sector, ocean transportation of refrigerated cargoes and
automobiles, potash-mining and finance.

GROUP VALUES
SAFETY: The Group promotes safety-consciousness to prevent harm to our
employees and others who work with them and to protect the operating
assets.
RESPONSIBLE: The Group practices responsible behavior with respect to society and to
the environment.
PREDICTABLE: The Group will provide a predictable delivery of products and services as
a business partner with its employees, customers, suppliers, shareholders
and lenders.
QUALITY: The Group will deliver quality products to its customers which meet
both the customers’ and our standards and expectations.
PROFITABLE: The Group shall be profitable in order to sustain a long-term presence
and give a competitive return on the capital employed.
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The results for 2019 were strongly affected by impairment charges relating to our receivables from FSG and on
the book values of our fleet, particularly for the service vessels in the oil and gas industry. The net loss was
$265.8 million, or $17.67 per share, attributable to shareholders for 2019 as compared to a net loss of $29.2
million, or $1.94 per share for 2018.
After five years of downturn in the offshore oil and gas construction and service industry, we looked to 2020 to
be the year marking the beginning of an upturn. The collapse in the oil price, however, has changed
expectations to much reduced activity for several years. The focus is on preserving cash. Subsea 7 managed to
generate a positive cashflow after capital expenditures during the past five years of downturn and this remains
the objective going forward. Subsea 7 is reducing headcount by 25% and costs by $400 million yearly. Siem
Offshore has reduced its debt from a high of $1.6 billion to below $1 billion during the past years with low
market rates and practically no margins in new contracts. This was achieved from safe and good execution of
old long-term contracts, equity injections and sale of assets. Siem Offshore continues to generate around $100
million from operations. Unfortunately, as this is not sufficient to meet the debt repayment profile in its bank
loan agreements, more time is needed. The main banks understand this and have agreed to a standstill period to
give Siem Offshore and its lenders time to work out a long-term solution. The Standstill Agreement is subject
to acceptance by banks in Canada and Brazil and from the unsecured lenders.
All shares in FSG were sold during the year but there are substantial loans outstanding from the yard. At the end
of April this year, FSG went into self-administered reorganisation. The leadership of the yard by its chairman
and management was dysfunctional for a long time. Management of subcontractors on which the yard depended
to a large extent, has not been effective. One main subcontractor, Kongsberg Group of Norway was let down by
two of its subcontractors which were key to the electric installations and the LNG plants on the RoPax vessels
under construction at the yard and who both ran into financial difficulties.
Our ocean shipping activities include reefer vessels, car carriers and RoRo vessels owned or chartered-in and
operated in the market by the Company. Additionally, we have a chartering operation of bulk vessels.
The Company supported the start-up finance activity of Venn Partners LLP in London eight years ago. In
addition to the main shareholding, the Company has participated in funding numerous loans arranged by Venn.
The operation has been successful and Venn Partners LLP has grown into an independent, FCA regulated
finance house, standing on its own feet. Our shareholding was sold during the first quarter of 2020. We still
have £21 million investment outstanding through a real estate debt fund managed by Venn which is expected to
be repaid within the next year. All of our investments related to Venn Partners LLP have given a good return on
capital employed.
The low oil price and the impact on our operation of near 100 vessels worldwide give the management of each
company in the Group challenges constantly. It is during difficult times that excellence shines. We are fortunate
to have strong management throughout the Group. I thank all our people for their strong devotion to the
common cause.

Kristian Siem, Chairman
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SIEM INDUSTRIES INC., P.O. BOX 10718, GEORGE TOWN, GRAND CAYMAN KY1-1006, CAYMAN ISLANDS
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TELEPHONE: +1.345 .949.1030 TELEFAX: +1.345 .946.3342

DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Siem Industries Inc. operates as a diversified industrial holding company with its major holdings in
the oil and gas service industry through its interests in Subsea 7 S.A., Siem Offshore Inc. and
Electromagnetic Geoservices ASA, in the shipping industry through its holdings in Siem Shipowning Inc.,
Star Reefers Inc., Siem Car Carriers AS and Seven Yield Holding Pte. Ltd. and in other areas through its
holdings in Siem Investments Inc., Deusa International GmbH, Siem Europe S.à r.l., Venn Partners LLP,
Grand Rue Finance S.à r.l., Bradenstoke Solar Park Ltd., and BSR Group Holdings Ltd. “Siem Industries”,
the “Company”, or the “Group”, as used herein, refers to Siem Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries and
associates unless the context indicates otherwise.
Press releases and financial reports issued by the Company may be obtained from the Company’s
website at www.siemindustries.com.
The currency symbols “$” (or “USD”), “NOK”, “GBP” and “R$” refer to United States dollars,
Norwegian kroner, British pounds, and Brazilian reals representing the lawful currencies of the United
States, Norway, Great Britain and Brazil, respectively, and “EUR” (or “Euros”) refers to the official currency
of the European Union.
DESCRIPTION OF MAJOR INDUSTRIAL HOLDINGS
SUBSEA 7 S.A.
Subsea 7 S.A. (“Subsea 7” ; OSE Symbol: SUBC) — Subsea 7 is a global leader in the delivery of offshore
projects and services for the evolving energy industry.
In 2011, the business combination with Acergy S.A. that created Subsea 7 S.A. was completed and
the Company’s ownership interest was diluted from approximately 44.4% to approximately 20.5% of the
merged entity. Share buybacks by Subsea 7 and share purchase by the Company have increased the
Company’s ownership interest since the merger.
At 31 December 2019, the Company beneficially-owned 71,712,977 shares of Subsea 7, or
approximately 23.3% of its issued and outstanding shares. The Company accounts for Subsea 7 as an
investment in associated company using the equity method.
Fiscal 2019 Discussion and Subsequent Events — Subsea 7 performed well and produced solid results reflecting
its strong project execution and focus on cost efficiency. Revenues decreased to $3.7 billion in 2019 from
$4.1 billion in 2018, or a decrease of 10%, mostly due to reduced activities in the Renewables and Heavy
Lifting business unit and the timing of large project awards to the market. The Oil and Gas activity business
was broadly flat year-on-year. The adjusted EBITDA decreased to $631 million in 2019 from $669 million
in 2018, or a decrease of 6%. The EBITDA-margin in 2019 was 17%, up from 16% in 2018, reflecting
good progress on certain projects but lower activity in Renewables and Heavy Lifting.
The backlog of Subsea 7 was $5.187 billion at the end of 2019, compared to $4.907 billion at year
end 2018. Subsea 7 continues to have a strong financial and liquidity position at 31 December 2019 with
cash and cash equivalents of $398 million, net debt of $181 million including $345 million related to IFRS
16 lease liabilities, and an undrawn revolving credit facility of $656 million. The company made payments
to its shareholders of $304 million, through a combination of share repurchases of $250 million and a
special dividend of $54 million.
The priorities of Subsea 7 to invest in the business, make sound investments and cost control, coupled
with maintaining its investment grade credit profile, have resulted in solid performance through the cycle
and enabled the company to adapt as the needs and expectations of the stakeholders have evolved.
In February 2019, Subsea 7 announced that its board of directors had recommended payment of a
cash dividend of NOK1.5 per share to shareholders payable in early May 2019, representing a total
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dividend of $53.8 million, of which $12.5 million was paid to the Company. In 2018, the Company
received a payment of dividend from Subsea 7 of $43.7 million.
In mid-May 2019, the Company purchased 1,981,046 shares of Subsea 7 in the market at
NOK105.7011 per share to increase its holdings from 69,731,931 shares to 71,712,977 shares.
In June 2019, the Company entered into an OTC Option structure with a total of eight legs and the
underlying shares being Subsea 7 shares. Two of the legs represent bought Calls for an aggregate 4,560,000
SUBC shares at various dates and a strike price of NOK103 and 6 of the legs represent sold Puts for an
aggregate 7,600,000 SUBC shares with different maturities and strike prices ranging from NOK83 to
NOK90 per SUBC share. The final legs of the structure will terminate at the end of 23 May 2021.
In August 2019, the Company entered into a second OTC Option structure with a total of ten legs
and the underlying shares being Subsea 7 shares. One leg represents a bought Put for 1,140,000 shares,
two of the legs represent bought Calls for an aggregate 698,000 SUBC shares and seven of the legs represent
sold Puts for an aggregate 1,996,000 SUBC shares with different maturities and strike prices ranging from
NOK76 to NOK94 per SUBC share. The final legs of the structure will terminate at the end of 23 May
2021.
In September 2019, the Company entered into a third OTC Option structure with a total of two legs
and the underlying shares being Subsea 7 shares. Both legs represent bought Puts for an aggregate of
670,000 SUBC shares with strikes and maturities offsetting equivalent existing sold Puts.
In May 2020, the Company acquired a total of 1,270,000 shares in Subsea 7, related to the exercise
of two put option legs entered into in 2019. Following the share acquisition, the Company holds
72,982,977 shares in Subsea 7 or the equivalent of 24.33% of the Subsea 7 share capital.
The option structure is described in further detail in Note 23 Fair Value Measurement.
The following financial highlights show results and amounts for Subsea 7 for the years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018:
As of and for the Fiscal Periods Ended 31 December
2019
2018

Subsea 7 Financial Highlights (in thousands):

Financial Performance: Revenues
Adjusted EBITDA
Impairment of goodwill
Tax expense
Net income (loss) attributable to shareholders

$ 3,656,600
$
631,000
$
99,900
$
(29,500)
$
(82,400)

$ 4,073,800
$ 668,700
$
0
$ (51,800)
$ 164,500

Financial Position:

Assets
Liabilities

$ 7,224,200
$ 1,861,200

$ 7,568,900
$ 1,847,100

Other notable:

Capital expenditures
Backlog

$
239,900
$ 5,187,000

$ 237,900
$ 4,907,000

For more information regarding Subsea 7, please visit its website at www.subsea7.com.
At 15 June 2020, the Company beneficially owned 72,982,977 shares of Subsea 7 S.A.
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SIEM OFFSHORE INC.
Siem Offshore Inc. (“Siem Offshore” ; OSE Symbol: SIOFF) — Siem Offshore owns and operates one of the
world’s most modern fleet of high specification offshore support vessels.
In December 2019, Siem Offshore purchased and subsequently cancelled 7,282,603 of its owned
shares in connection with the termination of an executive share scheme. The number of issued shares after
the cancellation is 934,738,777 shares. At 31 December 2019, the Company owned a beneficial interest
of 782,094,365 shares of Siem Offshore, or approximately 83.7% of its issued and outstanding shares.
Fiscal 2019 Discussion and Subsequent Events — At the end of 2019, Siem Offshore had 35 vessels in
operation, including partially-owned vessels and vessels in layup, as compared to 40 vessels at the end of
2018. The fleet includes 7 mid-size and large-size platform supply vessels (“PSVs”), 4 offshore subsea
construction support vessels (“OSCVs”; category includes multipurpose field and ROV support vessels,
“MRSVs”), 10 large-capacity anchor-handling, tug and supply (“AHTS”) vessels, 2 well-intervention vessels
(“WIVs”), 5 Canadian-flagged vessels including both AHTS vessels and PSVs, 1 scientific core-drilling
vessel, 5 smaller Brazilian-flagged vessels and 1 partially-owned WIV.
The total backlog of firm contracts for the fleet was $526 million at the end of 2019 as compared to
$688 million at the end of 2018.
In April 2018, Siem Offshore completed the sale of its wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem Offshore
Contractors GmbH (“SOC”), and two of its specialized vessels, built specifically to support SOC’s
operations, to Subsea 7. SOC’s operations involved the installation of inner-array and export cables in the
offshore renewable energy market and related repair and maintenance business for the European windfarm
market. The acquisition of SOC by Subsea 7 was complementary to its renewable energy business. The
sales price was EUR140 million and, further, Siem Offshore was entitled to additional consideration
contingent upon the volume of work performed by SOC during the period 2019 to end of 2024. In May
2019 Siem Offshore and Subsea 7 agreed to settle the contingent consideration, and in August 2019 Siem
Offshore received EUR27 million as final payment related to the sale of SOC, and recognized a gain of
$5.3 million under Discontinued Operations in 2019 from the relief of the contingent asset.
Siem Offshore has issued two high-yield unsecured bonds. The first bond was for NOK600 million
(“SIOFF01”) with initial maturity in 2018 and the second bond was for NOK700 million (“SIOFF02”)
with initial maturity in 2019. Following the severe downturn in the offshore oil and gas industry, Siem
Offshore negotiated with its secured lenders and reached agreement on a finance plan. One of the
provisions was an extension of the maturity for each of SIOFF01 and SIOFF02 for 33 months, which was
subsequently agreed by the bondholders with SIOFF01 extended to mature in 2020 and SIOFF02
extended to mature in 2023.
In April 2018, Siem Offshore presented new proposals to the bondholders. The SIOFF02
bondholders approved the exchange of the NOK700 million of old bonds for NOK560 million of a new
SIOFF02 convertible bond. The SIOFF01 bondholders did not approve a similar exchange proposal;
however Siem Offshore granted individual SIOFF01 bondholders the opportunity to participate in the
new SIOFF02 bonds. A total of NOK250 million of SIOFF01 bonds were exchanged for NOK200 million
of the new SIOFF02 convertible bonds. The remaining NOK350 million of SIOFF01 bonds are scheduled
to mature in October 2020.
In accordance with the bond agreement of SIOFF01, Siem Offshore elected to pay the interest
payments due on 30 April 2020, 30 July 2020 and the maturity date 30 October 2020, by settlement in
kind. The settlement-in-kind will be conducted by way of issuance of additional bonds in SIOFF01.
In March 2020, Siem Offshore received approval from the bondholders of SIOFF01 and SIOFF02 for
the waiver of financial covenants for the period 1 January 2020 to 30 June 2020.
In May 2020, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement with its secured lenders in Europe and Norway
for a standstill agreement for the period 29 May 2020 until 30 April 2021. The terms of the agreement
include 100% deferral of principal and interest until the end of the standstill period, and waiver of
financial covenants. The standstill agreement is conditional upon Siem Offshore reaching standstill
agreements with the secured lenders in Brazil and Canada and the bondholders of SIOFF01 and SIOFF02.
The intention is to use the standstill period to agree a long-term plan which will take Siem Offshore
through the prolonged market downturn.
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In late May 2020, Siem Offshore summoned bondholders in SIOFF01 and SIOFF02 to meetings on
15 June 2020 for the approval of standstill agreements which include deferral of all interest, amortization
and other payments, and waiver of rights related to acceleration based on breach of financial covenants or
any material adverse clause under SIOFF01 and SIOFF02 prior to expiry of the standstill period at 30 April
2021, the expiry or effective termination of the standstill agreement, liquidation, received or administrator
is appointed or to the date in which any event affects the whole or any substantial part of Siem Offshore.
The collapse in the oil price and the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on the world’s economies have
created a very different operating environment for Siem Offshore’s fleet. Field developments offshore are
being cancelled or postponed by clients and there will be much less work offshore during the coming
several years. The demand for Siem Offshore’s services is therefore likely to decrease. At the end of 2019,
the outlook was for gradual recovery in offshore activities and the nearing of balance in supply and demand
in the Offshore Support Vessel segment. That outlook is no longer valid and Siem Offshore is preparing
itself for a downturn probably worse than experienced during the past few years.
Siem Offshore is better positioned than most of its competitors due to its relative low debt level, its
modern fleet, its strong operating record, its reputation with clients, and its proven ability to obtain
employment for its fleet. If the lenders of Siem Offshore are realistic about their alternatives and trust is
provided to Siem Offshore to undertake the best possible out of a most challenging situation, there is
reason to be optimistic that the day will come when rates will allow the repayment of the remainder of
Siem Offshore’s debt and that Siem Offshore will experience a new day.
The fleet valuations in the present environment have been effected and resulted in impairment charges
of $59 million against vessels ($57 million in 2018), and nil against projects and long term receivables ($7.2
million in 2018) and $1.1 million against intangible assets (nil in 2018).
The following financial highlights show results and amounts for Siem Offshore for fiscal years 2019
and 2018:
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

Siem Offshore Financial Highlights (in thousands)

Financial Performance: Operating revenue
Operating margin
Impairments of vessels, intangibles, other
Tax benefit (expense)
Net income (loss) from discontinued ops
Net income attributable to shareholders

$ 292,530
$ 109,744
$ (59,238)
$
(1,383)
$
5,260
$ (88,229)

$ 307,736
$ 115,056
$ (65,270)
$
(588)
$
86,765
$
15,951

Financial Position:

Assets
Liabilities

$ 1,541,454
$ 1,181,084

$ 1,746,273
$ 1,280,184

Other notable:

Capital expenditures

$

$

35,678

10,968

For more information regarding Siem Offshore, please visit its website at www.siemoffshore.com.
At 15 June 2020, the Company beneficially-owned 782,094,365 shares of Siem Offshore, or 83.7%.
STAR REEFERS INC. (“Star Reefers” ;formerly Siem Shipping Inc.) — Star Reefers operates in the specialized
reefer industry and is a leading global owner and operator of refrigerated vessels.
At 31 December 2018, the Company owned 7,436,498 shares of Star Reefers, or approximately 83.9%
of its issued and outstanding shares. The Company accounts for Star Reefers as an investment in subsidiary
company and consolidates its financial statements.
Fiscal 2019 Discussion and Subsequent Events — Star Reefers directly controlled 13 vessels at the end of
December 2019, with a total capacity of 9 million cbft. The average age of the company’s fleet is 11 years.
Star Reefer’s activity in the reefer segment is focused on the transportation of bananas and refrigerated
cargo.
Star Reefers is increasingly exposed to the spot market and has significant long-term charter
commitments. The spot market for reefer vessels has been trending downwards for some time. Since 2005,
the number of reefer vessels in the world has been reduced by 50% and there are few newbuilds underway.
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In 2018, 20 reefer vessels were recycled. As a consequence, Star Reefers Inc. was restructured to gain
flexibility to respond to future changes in the market, such as potential consolidation with other operators.
At its Annual General Meeting in May 2019, the company’s shareholders approved a plan to restructure
the company to gain flexibility for strategic purposes and to simplify its structure. Consequently, a new
company, Siem Shipowning Inc. was established and nine older vessels from the company’s specialized
reefer fleet and its two pure car-and-truck carrier (“PCTC”) vessels were transferred into Siem Shipowning,
along with all of the company’s interest bearing debt. The company distributed all of its shares in Siem
Shipowning to its shareholders as a dividend-in-kind so that the shareholdings of Siem Shipowning and
Star Reefers were identical.
At present, the Star Reefers and its operations are affected negatively by the world-wide spread of the
COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic affects all segments of international shipping. Crew changes have
become extremely challenging due to world-wide travel restrictions, a lack of workers negatively affects
repair and refurbishment work at yards, and cargo operations are hampered.
The spot market for reefer transportation is influenced by fierce competition from container lines,
putting significant downward pressure on rates as the lines look to build market share and gain business
for this overbuilt sector. The future will continue to be challenging for specialized reefer transportation
providers, and 2020 is likely to be no exception.
The following financial information shows Star Reefers results and amounts for 2019 and 2018. The
financial performance figures of the Income Statement for 2018 have been restated to reflect restructuring
of the business.
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

Star Reefers Financial Highlights (in thousands)

Financial Performance: Net operating revenues
EBITDA
Impairments
Net income (loss)

$
$
$
$

57,855
12,954
(5,000)
(17,908)

$
$
$
$

80,081
(5,318)
(21,509)

Financial Position:

$
$

53,555
58,028

$
$

231,332
102,539

Assets
Liabilities

For more information regarding Star Reefers, please visit its website at www.siemshipping.com.
At its Annual General Meeting in May 2020, the shareholders resolved to rename Siem Shipping Inc.
as “Star Reefers Inc.”
At 15 June 2020, the Company owned 7,436,498 shares of Star Reefers, or 83.9%.

SIEM SHIPOWNING INC.
Siem Shipowning Inc. (“Siem Shipowning”) — Siem Shipowning is an owner and operator of vessels
engaged in international shipping operating in the refer segment, the car carrier segment and bulk segment.
Siem Shipowning was established with accounting effect from 1 January 2019 through a carve-out of
certain assets and liabilities from Star Reefers which is another subsidiary of the Company.
At 31 December 2019, the Company owned a beneficial interest of 7,436,498 shares of Siem
Shipowning, or 83.9%.
Fiscal 2019 Discussion and Subsequent Events — One part of Siem Shipowning operates in the specialized
reefer industry through operation of refrigerated vessels, directly controlling nine vessels with a total
capacity of 5 million cbft per 31 December 2019. The activity of this segment is focused on the banana
transportation.
The company also operates in the car carrier industry and at 31 December 2019 had two pure car-andtruck carrier (“PCTC”) vessels in operation, one 2017-built vessel with a capacity of 7,000 car equivalent
units (“CEU”), and one 2010-built vessel with a capacity of 4,900 CEU.
As part of the strategy to further grow within the PCTC segment, Siem Shipowning acquired, Siem
Shipowning I Norway AS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, in March 2020. Siem Shipowning
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I Norway is the owner of three PCTC vessels “Siem Curie”, “Siem Plato”, and “Mosel Ace”, where “Siem Plato”,
2009 Chinese-built with 4,900 CEU, was acquired from a third party in December 2017, “Siem Curie”,
2009 Japanese-built with 3,930 CEU, was acquired from a third party in October 2019, and finally “Mosel
Ace”, 2000 Croatian-built with 4,200 CEU, was acquired from a third party in December 2019.
Siem Shipowning provides management and technical services to the PCTC sector.
As a part of its on-going strategy to further diversify its operations, Siem Shipowning has entered into
the bulk segment where it has three vessels on index charter-in which traded in the spot market at year-end
2019. In 2020, Siem Shipowning chartered-in additional six modern and economic handymax-size bulk
carriers.
At present, Siem Shipowning and its operations are affected negatively by the world-wide spread of
the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic affects all segments of international shipping. Crew changes have
become extremely challenging due to world-wide travel restrictions, a lack of workers negatively affects
repair and refurbishment work at yards, and cargo operations are hampered.
The following financial information shows Siem Shipowning’s results and amounts for 2019.
As of and for the Year Ended 31 December
2019

Siem Shipowning Financial Highlights (in thousands)

Financial Performance: Net operating revenues
EBITDA

Financial Position:

$ 67,841
$ 30,458

Net income (loss)

$

14,857

Assets
Liabilities

$ 262,579
$ 132,364

For more information regarding Siem Shipowning, please visit its website at www.siemshipping.com.
At 15 June 2020, the Company owned 7,436,498 shares of Siem Shipowning, or 83.9%.

SIEM CAR CARRIERS AS
Siem Car Carriers AS (“SCC”) — SCC operates global liner services, specializing in the movement of
cars, roll on roll off (RO-RO), high, wide and heavy (OHW), break bulk and project cargo between North
America, Europe, and Asia.
SCC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
SCC is the owner of three PCTC’s of which two vessels were acquired in 2019. These include two
2009-built PCTC with capacities of 4,900 RT and 3,900 RT, and a 2000-built PCTC with 4,300 RT. In
2019 SCC purchased the two group companies Seven Yield 7500 PCTC 1 AS and Seven Yield 7,500
PCTC 2 AS, which are the Buyers under two separate shipbuilding contracts for a total of two 7500 CEU
LNG PCTC vessels. Immediately upon delivery from Xiamen Shipyard in China, the two LNG PCTCs
will be delivered into the Atlantic service in March and September 2020. The vessels are financed under a
Japanese Operating Lease arrangement with a Call Option (“JOLCO”) through Seven Yield from delivery,
and SCC will bareboat charter the vessels back over a 7-year period from Seven Yield.
SCC also operates logistics services that involve car and RO-RO (roll-on/roll-off) transportation
solutions and capabilities on a worldwide basis through partnerships with car manufacturers, shipping
lines and logistics companies. This extensive network is necessary for the operations in order to source cars
and other cargo in an effort to keep the vessels filled from one voyage leg to the next.
At present, SCC and its operations are affected negatively by the world-wide spread of the COVID-19
pandemic. The pandemic affects all segments of international shipping. Crew changes have become
extremely challenging due to world-wide travel restrictions and a lack of workers negatively affects repair
and refurbishment work at yards, and cargo operations are hampered.
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SEVEN YIELD HOLDING PTE. LTD.
Seven Yield Holding Pte. Ltd. (“Seven Yield”) — Seven Yield is a ship leasing company offering lease
financing solutions to the industrial shipping segments.
Seven Yield, a Singapore company, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
Seven Yield is building a diversified portfolio of shipping assets to engage in long-term bareboat
charters of these assets to financially-sound counter-parties. The diverse nature of the fleet, across different
shipping segments and counterparts will enable Seven Yield to achieve attractive cost of capital and return.
At the end of September 2018, the Company sold its 100%-interest in Siem RoRo Carriers, the owner
of three RoRo vessels on bareboat charters, to Seven Yield. In October 2018, Seven Yield took delivery of
a 4100-design RoRo newbuild vessel “MV Alf Pollak” from FSG and the vessel was immediately placed on
a 12-year bareboat charter with a third party charterer. A second newbuild 4100-design RoRo vessel "MV
Maria Grazia Onorato" was delivered to Seven Yield in March 2019 and immediately commenced a 12year bareboat charter with a third-party charterer. The purchase of the two RoRo vessels was initial financed
by the Company and this was repaid via the post-delivery financing provided by external financial
institution in respect of the two vessels amounting to EUR94.1 million. The remaining outstanding
amounts owed by Seven Yield to the Company were converted into equity in Seven Yield Holding Pte.
Ltd.
In August 2019, Seven Yield took delivery of the first of another two RoRo vessels under construction
at FSG. The MV “Leevsten" was financed via seller's credit from the Company in July 2019 amounting to
EUR55.8 million. In early December 2019, Seven Yield received post-delivery bank financing for MV
“Leevsten” for EUR33.0 million which was used to repay parts of the sellers credit to the Company. The
remaining outstanding seller's credit stood at EUR55.8 million as at 31 December 2019.
In March 2020, Seven Yield took delivery of the second and last RoRo vessel under construction at
FSG, “MV Liekut”. This vessel is still to be financed by an external third party and is fully financed by the
Company via the sellers credit to Seven Yield.
In December 2019, ITOCHU Corporation and Seven Yield, through its subsidiary Seven Yield Pte
Ltd, signed a shareholders’ agreement for the establishment of S&I Leasing Pte. Ltd. a joint venture for
the purpose of developing a ship finance lease business in relation to conventional shipping segments such
as bulk, tanker, gas carriers and container vessels.
At 31 December 2019 Seven Yield had six RoRo vessels on long term bareboat contracts and one
RoRo vessel under construction. Subsequently to year-end, Seven Yield agreed to enter into two bareboat
contracts, each related to one LNG PCTCs for SCC, increasing the total fleet to nine vessels post-delivery
of the two LNG PCTCs.
Seven Yield entered into its first green loan JOLCO arrangement with Crédit Agricole CIB in respect
of MV “Siem Confucius", an LNG Pure Car and Truck Carrier (“LNG PCTC”). The transaction is
documented in accordance with LMA Green Loan Principles ("GLP") and Second-Opinion provided by
DNV-GL. The vessel was delivered in mid-March 2020 and immediately sub-chartered to Siem Car Carriers
where it will operate exclusively for the Volkswagen Group.
The operations of the clients of Seven Yield are negatively affected by the world-wide spread of the
COVID-19 as the pandemic affects all segments of international shipping. The negative effects have
however not significantly influenced the operations of Seven Yield.
With banks reducing their exposure within all shipping segments, the prospects for maritime lease
solutions as an alternative source of financing remains intact.
For more information regarding Seven Yield, please visit its website at www.sevenyield.com.

Day OCV PTE. LTD.
Siem Investments established Day OCV Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned Singapore company, for the purpose to
acquire ownership of the “Siem Day”, an offshore subsea construction vessel, following a restructure
agreement between the then owner of the vessel and the Export-Import Bank of Malaysia Berhad (“Ex-Im
Bank”). Day OCV held an irrevocable right to put the vessel back to the original owners who would deliver
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the vessel to the bank. Following the prolonged downturn in the Offshore Support Vessel sector, in
December 2019 Day OCV Pte. Ltd. was able to conclude and sign a Debt Settlement Agreement with ExIm Bank. The agreement was executed in January 2020, and at the same time Day OCV Pte. Ltd. signed a
Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) with Siem Oil Service Invest Norway AS to sell “Siem Day” to Siem
Oil Service Invest AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Siem Oil Service Invest Holdings Ltd. in which the
Company holds a 20%-interest.

SIEM EUROPE S.A R.L.
Siem Europe is wholly-owned by the Company and is a Luxembourg company that functions as a
holding company for a number of the Company’s investments including the 83.7%-interest in Siem
Offshore Inc., a 100%-interest in Siem Kapital AS, a 100%-interest in Venn Capital S.à r.l., a 44.3%interest in Deusa International, a 42.1%-interest in BSR Group Holdings Ltd., and a 38%-interest in
Grespo AB.

VENN PARTNERS LLP
Venn Partners LLP (“Venn Partners”) — Venn Partners is a specialist investment manager in European
real estate private debt.
Venn Partners was awarded an exclusive mandate from the UK government at the end of 2014 to
manage the Private-Rented Sector Guarantee Scheme which will offer government guarantees to raise more
than GBP3.5 billion of competitive 10 to 30 year financing in the capital markets with the proceeds to be
used for eligible private rental housing after construction has been completed. Venn Partners is responsible
for arranging all aspects of the scheme and has built-up the organization to address the needs of the new
activity.
Siem Kapital AS, a wholly-owned Norwegian company, owned a 44.5%-interest in Venn Partners.
Venn Partners provides specialist credit and advisory services and focuses on private asset-based financing
in European markets. Its activities extend to commercial real estate and residential mortgage finance, assetbacked securities and other specialist asset finance markets.
Since mid-2013, Venn Partners has arranged a series of financing solutions for various projects and
borrowers in the European commercial real estate sector. The Company provided much of the funding for
the financings through its wholly-owned Luxembourg subsidiary, Grand Rue Finance. One of the goals of
the business model was to sell-off participations in each of the financings to third parties within a short
timeframe after closing but to retain a portion of each project. The proceeds from the sales of participations
would then be rolled-over into new project financings.
In December 2019, Siem Kapital AS entered into an agreement to sell the 44.5%-interest in Venn
Partners. The financial close of the transaction was conditional upon formal approval from the Financial
Conduct Authority (FCA) of UK and the UK government related to the PRS Housing Guarantee scheme
managed by Venn Partners. This formal approval was received in March 2020, and the transaction
concluded.
A gain of GBP 6.3 million, or $ 8 million will be recorded in the consolidated financial accounts of
the Company in the first half of 2020.

GRAND RUE FINANCE S.A R.L. (formerly VENN CAPITAL S.A R.L)
Grand Rue Finance S.à r.l (“Grand Rue”) — Grand Rue, a Luxembourg company, was established to
finance commercial real estate projects arranged by Venn Partners.
The projects funded by Grand Rue met strict investment criteria to manage exposures arising from
downturns in the economy and are backed by the underlying commercial real estate in the specific project.
In September 2015, Venn Partners helped to establish the Venn Commercial Real Estate Fund
(VeCREF) for certain counties located in the U.K. with the purpose to invest funds from public pension
plans. The initial size of the fund is GBP160 million. Grand Rue’s commitment is for GBP30 million, or
18.66% of the fund. Grand Rue transferred all but one of its commercial real estate notes into VeCREF.
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The total amount of notes transferred to VeCREF was equivalent to $149.9 million and Grand Rue
received $107.1 million from the other fund participants with the difference representing Grand Rue’s
equity investment. At the end of December 2019, Grand Rue owns a 16.27% interest of VeCREF.

VSK HOLDINGS LIMITED
VSK Holdings, a Cayman Islands company, was established at the end of 2013 where the Company
owned a 55%-interest and a group of funds managed by a global private-equity investment firm (the
“Funds”) owned the remaining 45%-interest. The Company subsequently acquired the 45% interest.
In 2017, a decision was made to find a buyer for VSK Holdings and exit the residential mortgage
business. The Company discussed the sale of VSK Holdings and its mortgage origination business with
prospective purchasers in 2017 and entered into negotiations with interested party. The parties reached an
impasse on certain issues and the Company terminated the discussions. In March 2018, the Company
invited offers for the sale of VSK Holdings, a buyer was selected and the sale was completed in stages
commencing in June 2018.
Since a decision had been taken to sell the business, VSK Holdings was recorded as a discontinued
operation at the end of 2017 and its assets recorded as held-for-sale. At the end of 2018, the only
component of the transaction that remained open was a liquidity facility agreement that was established
to provide security for an interest rate hedging transaction for the residential loans. The liquidity facility,
with an outstanding balance of EUR7,150,000- plus accrued and unpaid interest at the end of 2018, was
repaid in full in April 2019.

BSR GROUP HOLDINGS LTD
BSR Group Holdings Ltd. (“BSR”) — BSR, a UK company, providing engineering, procurement, and
construction (“EPC”) services to the solar power generation industry and has developed and built a number
of solar park projects in excess of 5MW.
BSR, formerly Sustainable Power Generation Ltd., is owned 42.1% by the Company. Siem Europe
acquired the interest in BSR at the end of September 2014. BSR is among the larger developers of largescale solar projects in the U.K. and performs EPC-activities for solar parks which may be sold to third
parties or remain owned and operated within the company. BSR also performs operations and
maintenance activities after the solar parks go into operation.
The Company provided project financing to BSR for the construction of several solar parks, the most
notable being the Owl’s Hatch Solar Park with a 51.8MW DC-capacity and Bradenstoke Solar Park with a
70MW DC-capacity. In addition, BSR used funds provided under other working capital facilities to
undertake additional activities on smaller solar parks.
By the end of September 2017, all of the solar parks had been sold with the exception of Bradenstoke
Solar Park. At present, Bradenstoke Solar Park is generating power for the U.K.’s National Grid. At the
end of 2018, Bradenstoke Solar Park, which is wholly owned by the Company, was designated to be a
discontinued operation within the Company’s accounts.

FLENSBURGER SCHIFFBAU-GESELLSCHAFT mbH & Co. KG
Flensburger Schiffbau-Gesellschaft mbH & Co. KG (“FSG”) — FSG is a German based shipyard.
Siem Offshore entered into two shipbuilding contracts with FSG for the construction of two modern
large-tonnage well-intervention vessels in early 2014. These vessels were the subjects of charters that had
been procured by Siem Offshore. The charters were scheduled to commence upon delivery of each vessel
from the shipyard during 2016. Each charter was for a firm period of 7 years with options to extend the
charter periods for up to 22 years. The successful deliveries of these vessels were important to Siem
Offshore’s business. In September 2014, FSG informed Siem Offshore that it was experiencing liquidity
problems. The Company formed a committee of stakeholders, including owners both with vessels under
construction or on order, banks, local German governments, employee union and suppliers, for the
purpose to find a solution for the shipyard. As part of the solution, the Company’s wholly-owned
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subsidiary, Siem Europe, purchased FSG from the former owner, a private equity firm which had declined
to participate in the solution.
In the beginning of 2019, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem Europe, entered into an
agreement with a third party company, whose activities are focused on special situation investment
opportunities across continental Europe, Africa, Middle East and Asia, to sell a part of the investment in
FSG (the “New Investor”). The transaction was concluded in February 2019 and the Company’s ownership
in FSG was reduced from 100% to 24%. The New Investor made a cash contribution of EUR33 million
in exchange for 76% of the shares of FSG and Siem Europe made a contribution-in-kind where EUR10
million of the revolving credit facility provided to FSG by Siem Europe in 2018 of EUR64 million was
converted to equity.
As a result of the reduction of ownership in FSG in early 2019, the investment in FSG was classified
as a discontinued operation in the income statement for 2018 and assets held-for-sale in the balance sheet
at 31 December 2018.
In March 2019, the first of the three remaining RoRo vessels under construction for the Company at FSG,
MV “Maria Grazia Onorato" was delivered to Seven Yield. The second vessel MV “Leevsten” was delivered
to Seven Yield in October 2019.
In August 2019 Siem Europe sold its remaining 24%-interest in FSG to the major shareholder.
During 2019, Seven Yield had paid advances to FSG in the aggregate amount of EUR56.5 million, or the
equivalent of $63.5 million, towards the construction of the last of the three RoRo vessels under
construction during 2019. The MV “Liekut” was delivered to Seven Yield in March 2020.
In April 2020, FSG entered into self-administration and a trustee was appointed for managing of the estate
and if possible, financially restructure FSG for going concern. The Company has provided funding to FSG
for the construction of vessels at the yard and forms part of the creditor committee established as a result
of the self-administration. The Company is in negotiations with the estate of FSG on a way forward.

DEUSA INTERNATIONAL GMBH
Deusa International GmbH (“Deusa”) — Deusa is a company based in Bleicherode, Germany, which
mines and markets a number of salt based products.
Siem Investments, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, acquired a 49%-interest in Deusa in
2005 and provided financing for the modernization and development of its operations. Deusa owns
significant deposits of potash at its location in Germany and its operations consist of mining the potash
and refining the raw materials into commercial products.
At the end of December 2015, Siem Europe acquired a 24.9%-interest from Deusa’s major
shareholder to increase the Company’s beneficial ownership to 73.9% of Deusa. Effective 31 December
2015, the Company changed its accounting for the investment in Deusa in order to consolidate its financial
statements rather than record the investment using the equity method.
In the third quarter of 2017, Deusa completed a merger with its neighboring facility NDH
Entsorgungsbetreibergesellschaft mbH. The neighboring facility has potash reserves and also has
abandoned caverns which are used for waste storage.
At the closing of the merger, Deusa issued new shares such that its existing shareholders owned 60% of
the issued and outstanding shares and the new shareholders owned the remaining 40%.
The Company accounts for Deusa as an investment in subsidiary company and consolidates its financial
statements.
The loans to Deusa by the Company since its first investment have funded the modernization of the
facility and expansion of its operations. The Company received principal repayments of EUR3 million
during 2018, to reduce the loan balance to EUR21.1 million at the end of 2018. Additional repayments
of EUR3 million was made during 2019, reducing the loan balance to EUR18.1 million at the end of
2019.
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ELECTROMAGNETIC GEOSERVICES ASA
Electromagnetic Geoservices ASA (“EMGS”; OSE Symbol: EMGS) — EMGS is the owner of proprietary
electromagnetic technology which supports the offshore exploration for oil and gas.
In November 2014, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem Investments, purchased a block of
shares in EMGS, a publicly-traded Norwegian company, to increase its ownership to 11.1%, and
subsequently since 2015 through three rights issues increased its shareholding to 23.9%. EMGS provides
services for survey design and data acquisition which will be processed and interpreted. EMGS’ services
can also integrate the data with seismic and other geophysical and geological information to provide a more
in-depth and complete understanding of the subsurface which reduces costs and associated risks.
In April 2018, Siem Investments and the other two main shareholders in EMGS underwrote the
issuance of convertible bonds for $32.5 million by EMGS. Proceeds from the convertible bonds issue were
partially used to refinance EMGS’ NOK bond facility. The new facility is denominated in USD. The
Company exchanged its NOK91 million of bonds plus cash for $12,680,000 of the new convertible bonds
and recorded a $2.5 million gain. The convertible bonds are 5-year bonds maturing in May 2023, bear
interest at 3-month Libor plus 5.5% p.a and are convertible into new shares of EMGS at $0.42677 per
share.
In March 2020, EMGS announced that it has started the transition process to a low-cost set-up, due
to the recent sharp oil price decline and the uncertainty created by the global Covid-19 pandemic, with
associated impact on the global economy and, in particular, on oil company investment decisions. To be
able to achieve a sufficiently low cost level, the company decided to redeliver the vessel “Petrel Explorer”
at the end of the current fixed charter period, and cold stack the vessel “Atlantic Guardian”. All employees
and consultants were terminated, with the exception of a skeleton crew which will continue to service the
multi-client late sales and consulting market and form the basis for a future scale-up.
SHAREHOLDER MATTERS
NATURE OF TRADING MARKET
Quotes for the Company’s common shares, U.S. $0.25 par value per share (“Common Shares”), which
is the Company’s only issued and outstanding form of equity securities, are available from OTC Markets
Group Inc., a centralized quotation service that collects and publishes market maker quotes for OTC
securities, in the OTC Pink market under the symbol “SEMUF” at www.otcmarkets.com. Previously, the
Company's Common Shares were publicly traded on the American Stock Exchange commencing in 1987
and on the Oslo Stock Exchange commencing in 1997. The Company voluntarily delisted from the
American Stock Exchange effective October 1998. The Company was delisted by the Oslo Stock Exchange
in November 1999 when it failed to satisfy a requirement for a minimum number of shareholders to be
registered on the VPS in Norway. The Company is no longer registered with the Securities and Exchange
Commission.
There are approximately 80 holders of record with an estimated 325-375 additional shareholders
holding shares in street name. It is estimated that less than 1,000,000 Common Shares are available for
active trading, or approximately 5% of the outstanding shares. The 3-month average daily trading volume
of Common Shares on the Pink Sheets is below a hundred shares. The low liquidity of the Company’s
Common Shares has made the trading susceptible to volatile pricing.
The Company will, from time-to-time, buy back Common Shares which have been offered for sell to
the Company by its shareholders. The Company purchased an aggregate 66,367 Common Shares in several
transactions during 2018 at an average price of $59.86 per share. Upon the purchase of Common Shares
by the Company, such Common Shares are retired.
DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company's policy is to reinvest available funds into the business and, consequently, the Company
does not pay dividends on a regular basis. The Board of Directors last declared and paid an extraordinary
cash dividend in May 2015 of $0.20 per Common Share.
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CONTROL
The following table sets forth certain information, as of 15 June 2020 with respect to the only persons
known to the Company who owned beneficially more than 10% of the Company's 15,041,314 issued and
outstanding Common Shares and the number of Common Shares owned by the other Directors and
Officers of the Company, as a group:

Name of Beneficial Owners
or Identity of Group

Shares
Beneficially Owned

10,108,070
1,883,656
101,671

Old Yard Trust Company Limited (1)
Kristian Siem
Other Officers and Directors as a Group

Percentage of
Common Shares

67.2%
12.5%
0.7%

(1) Old Yard Trust Company is the trustee for a trust whose potential beneficiaries include Mr. Kristian Siem and his family. The
trustee holds voting and dispositive power over its shareholding.

EXCHANGE CONTROLS AND OTHER LIMITATIONS AFFECTING SHAREHOLDERS
The Company may not carry on business in the Cayman Islands except in furtherance of its business
outside the Cayman Islands and is prohibited from inviting the public of the Cayman Islands to subscribe
for any of its Common Shares.
Neither the Company's Memorandum or Articles of Association nor Cayman Islands law impose any
limitations on the right of nonresident or foreign owners to hold or vote their common shares except in
the event of insanity of a holder. The laws of the Cayman Islands freely permit the import and export of
capital including, but not limited to, the payment of dividends to persons who do not reside in the Cayman
Islands.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected comparative financial data has been derived from the consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the five years ended 31 December 2019. The fiscal years ended 31
December 2019 and 2018 should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements of the
Company (including the related notes) and “Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” included elsewhere herein.
Years Ended 31 December
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE:
Total income (1)
Total expenses and other
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax (expense) benefit

2019

2018

$630,678
(810,470)
(179,792)
4,742

$730,827
(766,180)
(35,353)
(5,064)

Net income (loss) from continuing ops
Loss on discontinued operations
attributable to Common Shares

(175,050)
(124,497)

Net income (loss)

2017

2016

2015

$764,909
(765,982)
(1,073)
13,378

$890,762
(992,482)
(101,720)
1,007

$706,648
(499,921)
206,727
(2,413)

(40,417)

12,305

(100,713)

204,314

(5,762)

(25,824)

(8,988)

—

$(299,547)

$(46,179)

$(13,519)

$(109,700)

$204,314

Net income (loss) attributable to:
Holders of Common Shares
Non-controlling interests

$(265,788)
$(33,759)

$(29,231)
$(16,948)

$68,570
$(82,089)

$(73,632)
$(36,068)

$228,844
$(24,530)

Earnings (loss) per Common Share:
Basic and Diluted:
Net income (loss) from continuing ops
Net income (loss)

$(9.39) $
$(17.67) $

FINANCIAL POSITION:
Working capital
Total assets
Interest-bearing debt
Shareholders' equity

$(21,327)
$3,870,881
$1,612,181
$1,654,369

Weighted avg. no. shares outstanding
Ending no. of shares outstanding

15,041
15,041

(1.56) $
(1.94) $
$223,553
$4,086,787
$1,580,533
$1,920,941
15,073
15,041

6.25
4.54
$266,820
$4,558,427
$1,933,400
$1,947,454
15,113
15,108

$
$

(4.27)
(4.86)
$273,141
$4,365,872
$1,749,184
$1,910,893
15,135
15,120

$
$

15.12
15.12
$27,232
$3,324,511
$1,506,294
$1,967,681
15,140
15,140

(1) Includes share of profit (loss) of associates of $(16,482), $33,187, $99,103, $100,512 and $72,758 for each of the years ended 31 December
2019, 2018, 2017, 2016 and 2015, respectively.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
GOING-CONCERN
The Company’s financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company is
a going-concern. This assumption is based on the level of cash and cash equivalents at the end of 2019, the
availability of cash under revolving credit facilities, the liquidity and market value of the Company’s
investments and the forecast cash flows.
Several of the businesses of the Company are either directly or indirectly influenced by the price of oil
and gas and associated demand for services within the oil and gas sector, as well as general economic
activity. At present, these businesses and its operations are also negatively affected by the world-wide spread
of the COVID-19 pandemic. The pandemic affects all segments of international shipping, as well as oil
and gas, and creates increased uncertainty.
For the autonomous subsidiaries of the Company, Star Reefers Inc. and Siem Offshore Inc., operating
in the Reefer- and Offshore Support Vessel segment respectively, there are uncertainties related to the
going concern of these businesses due to the current contractual arrangements with its financing banks
and leasing contracts, coupled with challenging market conditions in which they operate and the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic on vessel operations. For further details on this related to Star Reefers Inc.
and Siem Offshore Inc. see Note 30 Going Concern – Uncertainty related to OSV and Reefer Segment.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
FISCAL YEAR ENDING 31 DECEMBER 2019
Total revenues recorded during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were $647,160,000, and $565,656,000,
respectively. Operating expenses during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were $426,475,000 and $375,545,000,
respectively.
The share of profits (losses) of associates recorded during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 was approximately
$(16,482,000) and $33,187,000, respectively.
Interest income recorded during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 was approximately $20,027,000 and
$32,682,000, respectively.
Net gains (losses) on investments for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were approximately $26,645,000 and
$16,060,000, respectively. IFRS requires that the Company’s investment in Siem Offshore’s bonds, which
were purchased at discounts, be recognized at nominal value so that the notes payable recorded by Siem
Offshore are matched against the notes receivable in the Company’s books. The de-recognition is recorded
as a gain or loss in the income statement. The Company recorded a net gain of $211,000 for 2019 and
$17,723,000 for 2018 as a result of the exchange of existing public bonds valued at 80% of par value for
new Siem Offshore convertible bonds.
Re-valuation gains of $(43,359,000) and $73,822,000 were recorded in 2019 and 2018, respectively,
with respect to the re-valuation of the financial derivative established in relation to the EUR Bonds and reevaluation of financial derivative arising from the exchange feature of the Company’s EUR250 million
Exchangeable in relation to Subsea 7 shares. The re-valuation is subject to significant swings related to the
volatility of the underlying Subsea 7 share price, currency exchange rates and time to maturity.
Depreciation and amortization expenses were $155,367,000 and $138,195,000 for 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
Impairments of $80,564,000 and $67,527,000 were recorded for 2019 and 2018, respectively. The
offshore oil and gas industry continued to experience low activity and the valuations of the offshore support
vessel fleets have suffered. As a result of asset valuations performed by Siem Offshore at the end of each
reporting periods, Siem Offshore recorded impairments of $59,238,000 for vessels, during 2019 as
compared to $56,990,000 for vessels, $7,200,000 for a long-term receivable and $1,080,000 for intangible
assets during 2018. Star Reefers recorded impairments of $5,000,000 for vessels during 2019 as compared
to nil during 2018.
Interest expense was approximately $97,698,000 and $106,109,000 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.
The interest expense includes $34,894,000 and $33,698,000 for 2019 and 2018 respectively, related to the
EUR250 million Exchangeable Bonds. Upon issuance of the bonds, the optionality of the bonds is
evaluated using an options pricing model such as the Black-Scholes Option Price Model. The model
generates a value for the financial derivative and the remainder of the bond obligation is a long-term debt
liability. The long-term debt liability is amortized such that the value debt liability will equal the bond
obligation at maturity. The amortization amount is recorded as interest expense.
General and administrative expenses for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 were approximately $40,635,000
and $41,209,000, respectively.
Currency exchange gains (losses) were $(20,543,000) and $(32,143,000) for 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The Company held a significant amount of non-U.S.-denominated holdings in cash and
monetary investments during 2019 and 2018 which is subject to fluctuations in the currency exchange
rates.
Income tax expense (benefit) for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 was $(4,742,000) and $5,064,000,
respectively. Subsea 7 is the largest taxpayer in the Siem Industries’ group of companies; however, its
significant tax expense is reflected within the net share of after-taxes results from associates and are
therefore not specifically identified as tax expense in the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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FINANCIAL CONDITION AND LIQUIDITY
The current ratios were 0.95 at 31 December 2019 as compared to 1.55 at the end of 2018. The
interest-bearing debt-to-total assets ratios were 0.42 and 0.39 at 31 December 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Further information about financial condition and liquidity is presented in Note 18 Risk management
and capital management.
The Company believes that its cash position, the proceeds from the maturities of its existing notes
receivable and its ability to raise additional credit facilities using its assets will generate the liquidity to
address all short-term requirements.

MARKET RISKS DISCLOSURES
The Company’s balance sheet includes a substantial amount of assets whose fair values are subject to
market risks. Due to the Company's significant level of investments in equity securities, fluctuations in
equity prices represent the largest market risk factor affecting the Company's financial position. The
following sections address the significant market risks associated with the Company's business activities.
EQUITY PRICE RISK
Strategically, the Company strives to invest at reasonable prices in businesses possessing good
economics and competent management. The Company prefers to own a meaningful amount in each
business and, as a result, the Company is concentrated in relatively few holdings.
The Company's primary strategy is to engage in businesses in which it possesses experience on a longterm basis. Thus, short-term price volatility with respect to its holdings is understood and accepted by the
Company provided that the underlying business, economic and management qualities of the operations
remain favorable.
The carrying values of holdings subject to equity price risks accounted for under the equity method of
accounting are based on costs adjusted for the Company’s proportionate share of investee earnings. The
carrying values of investments which the Company has classified as available-for-sale securities are adjusted
to reflect market prices at the end of the period with the appreciation or depreciation in the investments
reflected as a component of other reserves. The carrying values of investments which the Company has
classified as trading securities are adjusted to reflect market prices at the end of the period with the
adjustment reflected as a gain or loss. Market prices are subject to fluctuation and, consequently, the
amount realized in the subsequent sale of an investment may significantly differ from the reported market
value. Fluctuation in the market price of a security may result from perceived changes in the underlying
economic characteristics of the investee, the relative price of alternative investments and general market
conditions. Furthermore, amounts realized in the sale of a particular security may be affected by the relative
quantity of the security being sold.
INVESTMENT CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company believes that it may have investment concentration risks with respect to its operational
holdings in the oil and gas services industry.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
Investors are cautioned that certain statements contained in this document, as well as some statements
made by the Company in periodic press releases and some oral statements made by its management during
presentations about the Company, are "forward-looking" statements. Forward-looking statements include
statements which are predictive in nature, which depend upon or refer to future events or conditions,
which include words such as "expects", "anticipates", "intends", "plans", "believes", "estimates", or similar
expressions. In addition, any statements concerning future financial performance (including future
revenues, earnings or growth rates), ongoing business strategies or prospects, and possible future Company
actions, which may be provided by management, are also forward-looking statements. Forward-looking
statements are based on current expectations and projections about future events and are subject to risks,
uncertainties, and assumptions about the Company, economic and market factors and the industries in
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which the Company conducts business, among other things. These statements are not guarantees of future
performance and the Company has no specific intention to update these statements.
Actual events and results may differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors. The principal important risk factors that could cause the Company's
actual performance and future events and actions to differ materially from such forward-looking
statements, include, but are not limited to, changes in market prices of the Company's significant equity
investees, changes in income tax laws, and changes in general economic and market factors that affect the
prices of securities or the industries in which the Company and its associates conduct business.
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The following persons are currently Directors and Executive Officers of the Company:
DIRECTORS
Name

Kristian Siem
Ivar Siem
Karen Siem
M.D. Moross
Barry W. Ridings

Position

Director and Chairman
Director
Director
Director (1,2)
Director (1,2)

Director
Since

Present
Term Expires

1982
2007
2019
1995
1993

2022
2020
2021
2021
2022

(1) Member of Audit Committee.
(2) Member of Compensation Committee.

Directors are normally elected for terms of three years at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.
Executive officers are appointed by and serve at the pleasure of the Board. Officer appointments are
normally confirmed at the Board meeting which promptly follows the Annual General Meeting of
Shareholders.
EXECUTIVE OFFICERS
Name

Michael Delouche

Office

President and Secretary

Officer Since

1991

Kristian Siem is chairman of Subsea 7 S.A., Star Reefers Inc. Siem Offshore Inc. and Siem Shipowning
Inc., a director on the boards of Seven Yield Holding Pte. Ltd. and Frupor S.A. (Portugal).
Ivar Siem is the chairman of American Resources, Inc. He is the brother of Kristian Siem.
Karen Siem is Member of the Board of the Weizmann Institute of Science. She is the spouse of Kristian
Siem.
M.D. Moross is a private investor and the father-in-law of Kristian Siem.
Barry W. Ridings is Senior Advisor to Lazard Frères & Co. and, previously, vice-chairman of U.S.
Investment Banking for Lazard Frères & Co. and chairman of LMDC Holdings; and also a director on the
boards of iStar Inc. and Republic Airways Holdings Inc.
Michael Delouche, an officer of the Company since 1991, was appointed President in 2003.

COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
Messrs. Moross, Ridings, Karen Siem and Ivar Siem receive annual director’s fees of $18,000 and
reimbursements for expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Separate management services
agreements provide for the services of Messrs. Kristian Siem and Michael Delouche and are discussed in
the Notes to the Financial Statements.
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SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS
For Years Ended 31 December
2018
2019

Notes

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)
TOTAL REVENUES AND OPERATING EXPENSES:

Total revenues
Operating expenses
Operating margin

10
7,10

$

647,160
(426,475)
220,685

$

565,656
(375,545)
190,111

OTHER INCOME

Share of profits of associates
Interest income
Gains (losses) on investments and other assets, net
Gains (losses) on re-valuation of financial derivatives, net
Other income
Total other income

5
12
8

(16,482)
20,027
26,645
(43,359)
13,963
794

33,187
32,682
16,060
73,822
9,420
165,171

(155,367)
(80,564)
(97,698)
(40,635)
(20,543)
(6,464)
(401,271)
(179,792)
4,742
(175,050)
(124,497)

(138,195)
(67,527)
(106,109)
(41,209)
(32,143)
(5,452)
(390,635)
(35,353)
(5,064)
(40,417)
(5,762)

EXPENSES AND OTHER:

Depreciation and amortization
Impairment of vessels and investments
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange gains (losses), net
Other expenses
Total expenses and other
Income (loss) before income tax expense
Income tax (expense) benefit
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) on discontinued operations attributable to Holders of Common Shares

6,7,13
5,6,16
8
14,15,17,19

9
21

Net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to:
Holders of Common Shares
Non-controlling interests
Earnings (Loss) per Common Share:
Basic / Diluted:
Attributable to Holders of Common Shares for net income (loss) from continuing operations
Attributable to Holders of Common Shares for net income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

$

(299,547)

$

(46,179)

$
$

(265,788)
(33,759)

$
$

(29,231)
(16,948)

$
$
$

Weighted avg. no. of Common Shares outstanding for period

(9.39)
(8.28)
(19.91)

$
$
$

15,041,314

(1.56)
(0.38)
(3.06)
15,072,636

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For Years Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(Dollars in thousands)

Net income (loss)
Items that may be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent periods:
Currency exchange differences
Share of other comprehensive income of associates
Items that will not be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent periods:
Other
Other comprehensive income (loss)

$

(299,546)

$

(46,179)

$

(12,909)
5,696

$

26,614
(19,989)

Total comprehensive income (loss)

$

(303,260)

$

(39,554)

Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to:
Holders of Common Shares from discontinued operations
Holders of Common Shares from continuing operations
Non-controlling interests

$
$
$

(120,962)
(148,539)
(33,759)

$
$
$

(3,280)
(19,326)
(16,948)

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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3,499
(3,714)

—
6,625

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
31 December
2019

Notes

(Dollars in thousands)

31 December
2018

ASSETS:

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securitites
Inventories
Financial derivative
Notes, loans, finance lease and other receivables
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Noncurrent assets held-for-sale
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Notes, loans, finance lease and other receivables
Investments in associates
Vessels, property and equipment, net
Other assets and long-term receivables
Total Assets

3

$

4

4,11
5,6,21
3
4
5
6,7,16
4
$

121 932
71 962
0
12 818
19 261
11 939
13 850
35 347
136 643
423 752
69 409
204 984
1 177 319
1 850 151
145 266
3 870 881

$

64 492
7 754
2 755
190 922
124 514
54 642
445 079
1 421 259
40 623
108 858
110 586
2 126 405

$

$

142 623
74 915
1 603
10 104
19 385
—
6 881
78 030
294 235
627 776
89 330
165 012
1 176 757
1 964 734
63 178
4 086 787

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY:

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Accrued interest payable
Due to affiliates
Current maturities and short-term notes
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Net liabilities directly related to assets held-for-sale
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and notes payable
Finance lease liability
Financial derivatives
Other liabilities and deferred credits
Total Liabilities
Shareholders' equity:
Common shares, $0.25 par value, 100,000,000 shares authorized,
15,041,314 and 15,072,636 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings
Currency translation reserves
Other reserves
Total shareholders' equity
Non-controlling interests
Total Equity
Total Liabilities and Equity
See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$
19
8
8,16
21
8
16
8
14

20

$

3 760
102 907
1 635 530
(11 326)
(76 502)
1 654 369
90 107
1 744 476
3 870 881

$

68 144
7 467
31 052
136 080
38 396
123 084
404 223
1 444 453
0
41 468
145 691
2 035 835

3 760
105 405
1 897 783
1 583
(87 590)
1 920 941
130 011
2 050 952
4 086 787

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Attributable to Common Shares

(in thousands, except number of shares)

Balances at 31 December 2017
Net income (loss)
Currency translation differences
Share of other comprehensive income (loss)
of associates
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Purchase and retirement of Company shares
Other
Total transactions with owners
Balances at 31 December 2018
Net income (loss)
Currency translation differences
Share of other comprehensive income (loss)
of associates
Other
Total comprehensive income (loss)
Subsidiaries purchase and retirement of own shares
Other
Total transactions with owners
Balances at 31 December 2019

Common Shares
Number
Share Capital

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Currency
Translation
Reserves

Other
Reserves

Non-Controlling
Interests

15 107 681 $
—
—

3 777 $ 105 405 $ 1 930 970 $
—
—
(29 231)
—
—
—

(25 031) $
—
26 614

(67 667) $
—
—

148 810
(16 948)
—

—
—
(66 367)
—
(66 367)
15 041 314 $

—
—
—
—
—
(29 231)
(17)
—
(3 956)
—
—
—
(17)
—
(3 956)
3 760 $ 105 405 $ 1 897 783 $

—
26 614
—
—
—
1 583 $

(19 989)
(19 989)
—
66
66
(87 590) $

—
(16 948)
—
(1 851)
(1 851)
130 011

—
—

(33 759)
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

(265 787)
—

—

—

—

—

—
—
—

—
3 499
(262 288)
0
35
35
$ 1 635 530 $

—
(2 498)
0
0
(2 498)
3 760 $ 102 907

0
—
0
15 041 314 $

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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—
(9 410)
—
(3 499)
(12 909)
—
—
—
(11 326) $

5 696
5 696
—
5 392
5 392
(76 502) $

—
(33 759)
(508)
(5 637)
(6 145)
90 107

SIEM INDUSTRIES INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(Dollars in thousands)
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net income (loss)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss)
to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization, including drydocking amortization
Share of profits of associates
Losses (Gains) on investments and other assets, net
Losses (Gains) on re-valuation of financial derivatives, Exchangeable Bonds
Accretion of interests on Exchangeable Bonds
Provision expenses
Impairment of vessels and investments
Impairment of investments in intangible assets
Impairment of long-term receivables
Deferred compensation expense (reversal) for performance unit plan
Currency exchange losses (gains)
Other
Changes in working capital:
(Increase) Decrease in:
Accounts receivable, other
Accrued interest receivable
Trading securities
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Increase (Decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest payable
Due to affiliates
Cash flow from Discontinued Operations
Other accrued costs and short-term liabilities
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

For Years Ended 31 December
2018
2019

Notes
$

6,7
5
12
8

6
6
4
14

(299 546)

$

(46 179)

158 462
16 482
(24 933)
43 359
14 127
58 437
80 564
—
—
(554)
20 543
4 758

154 910
(33 187)
(16 060)
(71 245)
33 698
74 084
56 127
4 200
7 200
(2 229)
32 143
21 882

6 555
1 603
(2 714)
185
14 794

25 176
1 040
(734)
1 190
14 789

(40 728)
287
(28 297)
(34 387)
43 339
(34 173)
(1 837)

(79 065)
(5 726)
29 116
63 475
(61 053)
9 224
212 776

(61 951)
10 347
(28 685)
22 767
(20 091)
—
218 368
(177 139)
(36 384)

(119 709)
42 902
(47 391)
42 932
—
286 402
—
(223 064)
—
(17 928)

(3 006)
183 278
(177 298)
5 735
(11 100)
(2 391)
(40 612)
112 875
119 078

(3 973)
62 701
(316 914)
—
7 878
12 084
—
(238 224)
(43 376)
181 913
4 087
89 330

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Additions to notes receivable and other investments
Proceeds from repayment of notes receivable and other investments
Investments in associates
Distributions from associates
Reclass net assets held-for-sale
Proceeds from sale of subsidiary
Proceeds from sales of vessels, shipping-related assets and other
Capital expenditures for vessels, shipping-related assets and other
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

4
4
5
5
21
6
6,7

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Buyback and retire Common Shares
Buyback and retire Common Shares of subsidiary of Company
Proceeds from long-term debt and notes payable
Repayment of long-term debt and notes payable
Redemptions and repurchases of Exchangeable Bonds
Contribution from non-controlling interest owners
(Increase) Decrease in restricted cash
Repayment of finance lease liability
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Restricted cash
Total cash and cash equivalents, including restricted cash, end of period

8
8
8
3

3
3

$

191 341

$

231 953

$
$

83 841
177

$
$

58 879
1 179

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION

Cash paid during period for:

Interest
Taxes

See accompanying Notes which are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial
20 Statements.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) GENERAL INFORMATION
Siem Industries Inc. was incorporated in October 1980 under the laws of the Cayman Islands as
Bahama Cruise Line, Inc. The name was changed to Bermuda Star Line, Inc. in 1986, to Norex America,
Inc. in 1989, to Norex Industries Inc. in 1996 and to Siem Industries Inc. in 1998. “Siem Industries”,
the “Company” or the “Company”, as used herein, refers to Siem Industries Inc. and its subsidiaries and
associates unless the context indicates otherwise.
The Company’s registered office address is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands.
Quotes for the Company’s Common Shares are available from OTC Markets Company Inc., a
centralized quotation service that collects and publishes market maker quotes for OTC securities, in the
OTC Pink market under the symbol “SEMUF” at www.otcmarkets.com.
The currency symbols “$” or “USD”, “NOK”, “GBP”, “BRL” and “SEK” refer to United States
dollars, Norwegian kroner, British pounds, Brazilian reals and Swedish krona representing the lawful
currencies of the United States, Norway, Great Britain, Brazil and Sweden, respectively, and “EUR”
refers to Euros.
At 31 December 2019, the Company held beneficial ownerships in the following major holdings:
71,712,977 shares, or 23.3% of the issued and outstanding shares, of Subsea 7 S.A. (“Subsea 7”; OSE
Symbol: SUBC), a publicly-traded Luxembourg company and one of the world’s leading subsea
engineering and construction contractors; 782,094,365 shares, or 83.7%, of Siem Offshore Inc. (“Siem
Offshore”; OSE Symbol: “SIOFF”), a publicly-traded Cayman Islands company that had 35 vessels in
operation at year-end; 7,436,498 shares, or 83.9%, of Star Reefers Inc., (formerly Siem Shipping
Inc.,“Star Reefers”) a Cayman Islands company that at year-end controlled a fleet of 13 reefer vessels
engaged in the refrigerated transportation of fruits and other perishable products; 7,436,498, or 83.9%
of Siem Shipowning Inc., (“Siem Shipowning”); a Cayman Island company that is an owner and
operator of vessels engaged in the international shipping within the reefer, car carrier and RoRo (rollon/roll-off) and bulk segment, that at year-end controlled a fleet of 15 owned and chartered-in pure-carand-truck carrier (“PCTC”) vessels, reefer/vessels, bulk-carrier and RoRo-vesssels; a 100%-interest in
Siem Car Carriers AS (“SCC”), a Norwegian company, that provides PCTC-transportation solutions and
capabilities on a worldwide basis through partnerships with car manufacturers, shipping lines and
logistics companies. SCC has also entered into a sale and leaseback bareboat agreement to bareboat two
newbuild LNG PCTC vessels which as of year end 2019 were under construction in China; a 100%interest in Seven Yield Holding Pte. Ltd. (“Seven Yield”), a Singapore based leasing company, which
provides lease financing to the maritime industry across a diversified portfolio of shipping assets and
counterparts; a 44%-interest in Venn Partners LLP (“Venn Partners”), a U.K. company that provides
specialist credit advisory and investment services focusing on private asset-based financing in European
markets with investment activity extending across commercial real estate finance, residential mortgage
finance, asset-backed securities and other specialist asset finance markets; a 100%-interest in Siem
Europe S.à r.l. (“Siem Europe”), a Luxembourg company whose wholly-owned subsidiary, Grand Rue
Finance S.à r.l. (formerly Venn Capital S.à r.l.,“Grand Rue”) has provided funding for a number of
subsidiaries of the Company; a 44.3%-interest in Deusa International GmbH (“Deusa”), a German
company operations whose operations include the mining of potash which is used for fertilizer
production, bischofite for the construction industry, magnesium chloride for de-icing and other
materials; a 42.1%-interest in BSR Company Holdings Limited (“BSR”), a U.K. company engaged in
the engineering, procurement and construction of solar parks in the U.K.; and a 20%-interest in Siem
Oil Service Invest Holdings Limited (“SOSI”), a U.K. company that is positioned to opportunistically
acquire distressed oil-related assets, and a 38%-interest in Grespo AB, a research biotech company.
During 2018, the Company reclassified certain of its subsidiaries from operating activities to
discontinued operations. These long-term assets held-for-sale include the Company’s 100%-interest in
Flenburger Schiffbau-Gesellschaft mbH & Co. (“FSG”), a German company engaged in the shipyard
construction of large vessels; a 100%-interest in Bradenstoke Solar Park, a U.K. company engaged in the
production of electricity from solar; and a 100%-interest in Day OCV Pte. Ltd. (“Day OCV”), a
Singapore company which was the owner of an offshore construction vessel. In addition, Siem Offshore
sold its 100%-owned interest in Siem Offshore Contractors GmbH (“SOC”), a German company
involved in the installation of offshore inner-array and export cables for the offshore windfarm market.
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During 2019, the Company sold its entire interest in FSG, as described in further detail in note 21,
Discontinued Operations and Non-Current Asset-Held-for-Sale.
In December 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its 44%-interest in Venn
Partners. The financial close of the transaction was conditional upon formal approval from the Financial
Conduct Authority (FCA) of UK and the UK government related to the PRS Housing Guarantee
scheme managed by Venn Partners. This formal approval was received in March 2020, and the
transaction concluded. A gain of GBP 6.3 million, or $ 8 million will be recorded in the consolidated
financial accounts of the Company in the first half of 2020.
In December 2019 Day OCV Pte. Ltd. signed a Debt Settlement Agreement with Ex-Im Bank. The
agreement was executed in January 2020, and at the same time Day OCV Pte. Ltd. signed a
Memorandum of Agreement (“MOA”) with Siem Oil Service Invest Norway AS, to sell the vessel “Siem
Day” to Siem Oil Service Invest AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Siem Oil Service Invest Holdings Ltd.
where the Company have a 20%-interest.
The 100%-interest in Bradenstoke Solar Park and 100%-interest in Day OCV Pte. Ltd. are classified
as Non-Current Asset-Held-for-Sale as per 31 December 2019.

ULTIMATE OWNER
At 31 December 2019, Old Yard Trust Company Limited, a trustee for a trust whose beneficiaries
include Kristian Siem and his family, owned 10,108,070 shares, or approximately 67.2% of the issued
and outstanding shares, of the Company’s Common Stock. Mr. Siem personally owned 1,883,656
shares, or approximately 12.5% of the Common Stock. Mr. Siem and the trustee for the trust hold
separate voting and dispositive powers over their respective holdings.

(2) SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BASIS OF PREPARATION
The Company’s consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as endorsed by the European Union under the
assumption that the Company is a going-concern and are presented in United States dollars. The
consolidated financial statements are based on historical costs, as modified by adjustments of financial
assets and liabilities to fair value through profit or loss.
For further information about fair value measurement policy adopted by the Company, see the section
“Fair value measurement”.
The preparation of financial statements requires the use of certain critical estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the end of the fiscal year and the reported
amounts For information about critical estimates and assumptions adopted by the Company, see the
section “Accounting estimates and judgements”.
NEW STANDARDS EFFECTIVE FOR FISCAL 2019
The following IFRS standards, amendments and interpretations are effective for periods
commencing on 1 January 2019. Standards and interpretations that are evidently not applicable to the
Company or those that would not give rise to a material effect on the Company’s financial statements
have been omitted.
-

IFRS 16 Leases
Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments.

The group had to change its accounting policies as a result of adopting IFRS 16. The group elected to
adopt the new rules retrospectively but recognised the cumulative effect of initially applying the new
standard on 1 January 2019. This is disclosed in note 16.
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The other amendments listed above did not have any impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the current or future periods.
Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published that are not mandatory for
31 December 2019 reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the group. These standards are
not expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
Initial Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, and measured at amortized cost, fair value
through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI), and fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Company’s business model for managing them. The Company initially
measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial asset not recorded at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Company has applied the practical expedient are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Credit losses are provided for under the expected credit
loss model.
Subsequent Measurement of Financial Assets
For the purpose of subsequent measurement, financial assets are classified in five categories:
-

-

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) with recycling of
cumulative gains and losses upon de-recognition (debt instruments)
Financial assets at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) with no recycling
of cumulative gains and losses upon de-recognition (equity instruments). This category has to be
elected irrevocably at initial recognition
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
Financial Instruments used for hedging (FVTPL)

Financial Assets at Amortized Cost (Debt Instruments)
The Company measures financial assets at amortized cost if both of the following conditions are
met:
The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR)
method and are subject to impairment testing. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss when the
asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.
The Company’s financial assets at amortized cost includes “Accounts receivable”, “Notes, loans and other
receivables”, and “Other assets and long term receivables”.
Financial Assets at Fair Value through OCI (Debt Instruments)
The Company measures debt instruments at fair value through OCI if both of the following
conditions are met:
The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling and
The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognized in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised in OCI.
Upon de-recognition, the cumulative fair value change recognized in OCI is recycled to profit or loss.
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The Company’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI includes investments in quoted debt
instruments included under other non-current financial assets.
Financial Assets Designated at Fair Value through OCI (Equity Instruments)
Upon initial recognition, the Company can elect to classify irrevocably its equity investments as
equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI when they meet the definition of equity under
IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation” and are not held for trading. The classification is
determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.
Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled to profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the income statement when the right to payment has been established,
except when such proceeds effectively are a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments designated at fair value through OCI are not
subject to impairment assessment.
The Company has currently not classified any of its equity investments under this category.
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets
mandatorily required to be measured at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they
are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely
payments of principal and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be classified at
amortized cost or at fair value through OCI, as described above, debt instruments may be designated at
fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an
accounting mismatch.
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the balance sheet at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognized in the income statement.
This category includes derivative instruments and listed equity investments which the Company has
not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through OCI. Dividends on listed equity investments are
also recognised as other income in the income statement when the right of payment has been
established.
Impairment of Financial Assets and Construction Contract Assets
The implementation of IFRS 9 resulted in a change from an incurred loss impairment model to an
expected credit loss (ECL) impairment model and required the Company to record allowances for
expected credit losses. The expected credit loss model is applied to all financial assets measured at
amortized cost. The expected credit loss impairment model is also applied to contract assets accounted
for under IFRS 15 “Revenue from contracts with customer”.
Impairment of Debt Instruments at Amortized Cost
The Company recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not
held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash
flows due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Company expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will
include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.
ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of
the default (a lifetime ECL).
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies a simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Therefore, the Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a loss
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allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Company has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to
the debtors and the economic environment.
Impairment of Debt instrument at Fair Value through Other Comprehensive Income
For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, the Company applies the low credit risk
simplification. At every reporting date, the Company evaluates whether the debt instrument is
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the Company reassesses the internal credit
rating of the debt instrument. In addition, the Company considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.
The Company’s debt instruments at fair value through OCI comprise solely of quoted bonds. It is
the Company’s policy to measure ECLs on such instruments on a 12-month basis. However, when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance will be based on the lifetime
ECL.
The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due.
However, in certain cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal
or external information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual
amounts in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial
asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
Financial Liabilities – Initial Recognition and Measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, within the following four categories:
-

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Loans and borrowings
Payables
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.
Financial liabilities - Subsequent Measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below.
Financial liabilities at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading
and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.
Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of
repurchasing in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into
by the Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by
IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated
as effective hedging instruments.
Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognized in the income statement.
Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are
designated at the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. IFRS 9
requires the change in fair value attributable to changes in the Company’s own credit risk to be
recognized in Other Comprehensive Income. The requirement did not impact the Company as it had
not designated any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss.
Loans and Borrowings
After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate method (EIR-method).
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Payables
The Company’s payables include trade payables and other accounts payable.
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees
or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortization is included as finance costs in the
income statement.
Derivatives designated as hedging instruments - Embedded Derivatives
A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial liability or non-financial host, is
separated from the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the economic characteristics and
risks are not closely related to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at fair value
through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognized in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms of the
contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a reclassification
of a financial asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.
A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a financial asset host is not accounted
for separately. The financial asset host together with the embedded derivative is required to be classified
in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.
De-recognition of Financial Assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Company of similar
financial assets) is primarily de-recognised (i.e., removed from the Company’s consolidated balance sheet)
when:
The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, or
The Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘passthrough’ arrangement; and either (a) the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset
When the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into
a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of
ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the
asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Company continues to recognize the transferred asset to
the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Company also recognizes an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights
and obligations that the Company has retained.
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at
the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that
the Company could be required to repay.
De-recognition of Financial Liabilities
A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled
or expires with the difference between the redemption amount and carrying amount recognized as gains
or losses in the income statement. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and
the recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognized in the
income statement.
Non-Substantial Modifications of Financial Liabilities
A non-substantial modification in terms is where the net present value of the cash flows with the
modified terms is 10% or less different from the net present value prior to the modification, but
discounted at the original effective interest rate. Under IFRS 9 a gain or loss should be recognized in the
income statement for any modification.
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Offsetting of Financial Instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated
balance sheet if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is
an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.
Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedge Accounting
The Company uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts, interest rate
swaps and forward commodity contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risks, interest rate risks and
commodity price risks, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities
when the fair value is negative.
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:
-

-

Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset
or liability or an unrecognized firm commitment
Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposure to variability in cash flows that is either
attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a highly probable
forecast transaction or the foreign currency risk in an unrecognized firm commitment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation

Hedge Accounting
For cash flow hedges that qualify for hedge accounting, the effective portion of changes in the fair value
of the hedging instrument that is designated and qualifies as a cash flow hedge is recognized in equity.
These are cash flow hedges relating to highly probable forecast transactions. The effective portion of
changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument is recognized in Other comprehensive income.
Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified in the period when the hedged item affects profit or loss.
When the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss and deferred
costs of hedging that were reported in equity are immediately reclassified to profit or loss.
The Company applied hedge accounting for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 in one of its
subsidiaries.
Hedges of a Net Investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, including a hedge of a monetary item that is
accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains
or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge are recognised as OCI
while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the income statement. On
disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded in a separate
component of equity is reclassified via OCI to the income statement as part of the gain or loss on
disposal.
Effect on Net Income and Equity as of 1 January 2018 from the adoption of IFRS 9
The adoption of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments had no significant impact on the consolidated
Income Statement or equity for the Company as of 1 January 2018.
IFRS 15, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. IFRS 15 replaced IAS 18, Revenue and IAS 11,
Construction Contracts and related interpretations upon which the Company’s previous revenue
recognition policies were based and establishes a single comprehensive 5-step model to use in accounting
for consideration which the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring goods or services to
a customer. The adoption of IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers” had no significant
impact on the consolidated Income Statement or equity for the Company as of 1 January 2018.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
One of the main activities for the Company is to employ different types of vessels, such as offshore
support vessels (PSVs, OSCVs, AHTS vessels, WIVs, OSRVs, standby- and crew-vessels), together with a
scientific core-drilling vessel, refer vessels and car carriers.
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Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods
and services in the ordinary course of the Company’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value-added tax,
withholding tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after elimination of sales within the Company.
Revenue is recognized as follows:
Revenue from Voyage Charter
Freight income from voyage charter is accrued over the period from date of loading of charterer’s
cargo to the date of discharging the cargo and is recognized on a percentage of completion basis
measured by time proportion of each voyage charter contract.
Vessels without signed contracts in place at discharge have no revenue until the signing of a new
contract. Operating expenses for vessels during idle time are expensed as incurred.
The operating results of voyages in progress are estimated and recorded pro-rata on a per day basis in
the consolidated statements of operations. Probable losses on voyages are provided for in full at the time
such losses can be estimated.
Operating costs and costs in connection with freight-seeking activities are expensed as incurred.
Voyage expenses such as fuel costs, port costs and other voyage-related expenses are deducted from
gross revenue to reflect net charter earnings.
Finance lease income
Finance lease income is recognised over the term of the contract based on a constant periodic rate of
return on the net investment in the finance lease receivable.
Onerous Contracts
Losses from voyage charters are provided for in full when they become probable in accordance with
the provisions for onerous contracts in IAS 37.
Time Charter Contracts
Time charter contracts contain a lease element and a performance obligation for the provision of
time charter services. The lease of the vessel, representing the use of the vessel without any associated
performance obligations or warranties, is accounted for in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 16
Leases. Typically, lease revenues are recognized on a straight line basis over the lease term. Revenues for
time charter services are recognized over time as the service is rendered in accordance with IFRS 15.
Certain contracts include mobilization fees payable at the start of the contract. Mobilization fees are
recognized on a straight line basis over the lease term. Expenses that the mobilization fee is meant to
cover, is recognized as an asset and expensed over the lease term.
Revenues earned on a finance lease arrangement is recognized in the profit and loss as finance lease
revenue over the lease term in a way that produces a constant rate of return on the investment.
Contingent rental income is recognized in the income statement when it is earned.
Revenue from Potash Mining activities
For products which are not made to the customer's specification, revenue is recognized at delivery to
the customer. For products made to customer specifications and orders, the Company do not have
enforceable right to payment as described in IFRS 15, and thus recognition at a point in time is
appropriate.
Service contracts, Management Services and Crew-Services
Revenue from service contracts are recognized in the period in which the services have been
provided.
Interest Income
Interest income is recognized using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the
Company reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, which is determined as the estimated
future cash flow discounted at original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding
the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired loans and receivables is recognized using
the original effective interest rate.

28

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Dividend Income
Dividend income is recognized when the right to receive payment is established.
Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Construction contracts consist of shipbuilding contracts with no alternative use for the Company.
The notion of no alternative use is fulfilled when the constructed vessel is unique under the contract.
Such contracts are considered as one performance obligation, and revenue is recognized over time.
Revenues reported by FSG are based on the percentage-of-completion method which determines the
stage of completion of vessel construction activity at each reporting date. Revenue recognition and cost
estimates are dependent upon such variables as steel prices, supplier and subcontractor costs, labor costs
and availability and other production inputs. FSG must also evaluate and estimate the effects of variation
orders, contract claims and requests from customers involving complex negotiations. Since the primary
risk in the execution arises during the construction phase, a profit margin will not recorded on the
shipbuilding contract until the project has reached a minimum 25% technical completion of the project
and the construction phase has commenced. Prior to reaching a minimum 25% technical completion
and, subject to a projected positive margin on the contract, project revenues are accrued to match the
actual costs incurred at the estimated stage.
Revenues reported by Siem Offshore Contractors during the performance of its fixed price offshore
construction contracts for the design, procurement and installation of submarine power cables for the
offshore windfarm industry are based on the percentage-of-completion method. Management estimates
completion based on an assessment of certain technical criteria in the project execution plan that have to
be met in order to achieve a certain level of percentage-of-completion. Since the primary risk in the
execution of a project arises during the offshore installation phase, a profit margin will not recorded on
the contract until the project has reached a minimum 25% technical completion and the offshore
installation phase has commenced. Prior to reaching a minimum 25% technical completion and, subject
to a projected positive margin on the contract, project revenues are accrued to match the actual costs
incurred at the estimated stage.
The investment in Siem Offshore Contractors were sold in May 2018, and presented as a
Discontinued Operation in the Consolidated Financial Statement for 2018.
Variable Consideration in Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Variable consideration is constrained at contract inception to the extent that it is highly probable
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognized will not occur when the
uncertainty associated with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
Liquidated Damages in Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Liquidated damages are penalties for not achieving certain milestones defined in the contract. If a
project does not meet the defined milestones in a contract, the transaction price is reduced, unless it is
highly probable that the liquidation damages will not be imposed by the customer. The assessment is
highly judgmental and based on experiences from similar situations in other projects and negotiations
with the customers.
Warranty Obligations in Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
The Company provides warranties for the repair of defects which are identified during the contract
and within a defined period thereafter. Most are assurance-type warranties which the Company
recognizes as liabilities under IAS 37 ‘Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets’,
consistent with its practice prior to the adoption of IFRS 15. The Company does not have any
contractual obligations for service-type warranties.
Waste Cost in Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Waste costs is not included when determining cost-to-cost progress.
Government Grants in Construction Contracts – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Government grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attached conditions will be complied with. When the grants relates to an expense item, it is
recognized as income on a systematic basis over the periods that the related costs, for which is intended
to compensate, are expensed.
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Revenue Recognition - Financing Component – Presented as Discontinued Operations
The Company has adopted the practical expedient permitted by IFRS 15, and has not adjusted the
promised amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money where the Company
expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the customer pays for the service and when
the Company transfers that promised service to the customer will be 12 months or less.
Revenue Recognition - Classification in the Balance Sheet – Presented as Discontinued Operations
Revenue accruals are presented separately as contract asset or liabilities under IFRS 15, and not
netted against cost accruals and presented as work in progress as practice was under IAS 11 Construction
Contracts and IAS 18 Revenue Recognition.

IFRS 16 Leases
As a result of the adoption of IFRS 16 the Group recognised right-of use assets and lease liabilities
on 1 January 2019. The implementation of IFRS 16 will result in differences within the Consolidated
Income Statement compared to the treatment under IAS 17, however the impact on net income is
expected to be insignificant.
Under IFRS 16 a lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to use an
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. IFRS 16 eliminates the classification of a lease as
either an operating lease or finance lease for lessees and introduces a single model for all leases. The new
requirements result in significant changes to the accounting where the Company is a lessee, whereas the
accounting where the Company is a lessor remains, in substance, unchanged. Where leases were
previously accounted for as operating leases there will be significant changes. The single model will
require lessees to recognise most leases on the Consolidated Balance Sheet as lease liabilities. A
corresponding right-of-use asset will be recognised which represents the contracted right to use the leased
asset for a period of time. The cash flow statement for leases will be affected with principal payments
being presented within financing activities as opposed to operating activities.
On implementation, the lease liabilities were measured as the present value of the remaining
committed lease payments using a discount rate equal to the incremental borrowing rates specific to each
lease. The weighted-average incremental borrowing rate of 6%, calculated on a portfolio basis, where
leases are similar in nature and have similar remaining lease terms have been used to measure lease
liabilities at the date of initial application. As permitted by IFRS 16, the Company adopted the option to
measure the right-of-use asset at an amount equal to the liability at the implementation date. No
adjustment has been made for accrued or prepaid lease obligations on the grounds of materiality, and
initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-use asset has been excluded. The Company have relied on
the previous assessment of whether a lease is onerous as an alternative to performing an impairment
review. Where applicable the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset have been adjusted by the carrying
amount of the onerous lease provision. Furthermore, the Company have applied the short-term lease
exemption to all leases with durations which terminate within 12 months of the implementation date,
with the exception of vessels leases which at inception were greater than 12 months, which are in
substance long-term agreements, and payments related to leases are presented as financing cash flows,
representing payments of principal and interest in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flow. As long as
the Company has lease agreements on time-charter reflecting the leases of a vessel and a service
agreement related to the operation of the vessels, the two different lease agreements has to be separated
in the consolidated financial accounts for the Company.
The reconciliation of lease assets and lease liabilities and the effect on the income statement as at 1
January 2019 are presented in note 16 Leases.
Fair Value Measurement
The Company measures financial instruments such as financial derivatives and listed equity
securities at fair value at each balance sheet date.
Fair value measurements are categorized into three different levels, based on the degree to which the
inputs to fair value measurement are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value
measurement in its entirety, described as follows:
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-

Level 1 inputs are unadjusted quoted prices observed in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at a specific measurement date.

-

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices observed included in Level 1 that are
observable for the assets or liability, either directly or indirectly.

-

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring
basis, the Company determines whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorization (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement
as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
Fair-value related disclosures for financial instruments that are measured at fair value or where fair
value are disclosed, are summarized in the following Notes:
-

Disclosure for valuation methods, significant estimates and assumptions – Note 2 Summary of
significant accounting policies
Quantitative disclosures of fair value measurement hierarchy – Note 23 Fair Value
Measurement
Investment in non-listed equity shares (discontinued operations) – Note 21 Discontinued
Operations – Non-Current Asset-Held-for-Sale
Financial instruments (including those carried at amortised cost) – Note 4 Financial Assets
Contingent consideration – Note 21 Discontinued Operations – Non-Current Asset-Held-forSale
Finance lease receivables – Note 11 Finance and Operating Leases
Derivatives – Note 8 Long term debt
Exchangeable bond with embedded derivative – Note 8 Long term debt

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS
The presentation of financial statements under IFRS requires management to make estimates and
assumptions relating to items within the financial statements. These estimates and assumptions affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the report
date and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results may
differ from management's estimates. The Company's significant accounting policies are described in this
Note 2.
Certain of the Company's accounting policies require critical accounting estimates that involve
complex and subjective judgments and the use of assumptions, some of which may be for matters that are
inherently uncertain and susceptible to change. Such critical accounting estimates could change from
period to period and may have a material impact on the Company's financial condition, changes in
financial condition, or results of operations. Critical accounting estimates could also involve alternative
estimates when competing methodologies exist for calculating estimates in an accounting period.
The Company has identified the following significant accounting policies that involve critical
accounting estimate
Determination of Fair Value.
Judgment needs to be exercised to determine estimates of fair value. The level of such judgment is
usually minimal for financial instruments for which there is a quoted price in an active market. Similarly,
there is little subjectivity or judgment required to establish the fair value of instruments using valuation
models which are accepted and standard across the industry and where all parameter inputs are quoted
in active markets.
Valuation and Recognition of Exchangeable Bond and Financial Derivative.
Significant management judgment is required to estimate the fair value of the embedded financial
derivative related to the Exchangeable Bond. The written option to convert the loan to shares in
Subsea 7 involves complex assumptions on how to factor in various currencies and which currency to
measure volatility in the share price in addition to general assumptions for an option pricing model. Due
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to the volatility of the financial markets, the fair value of the financial derivative can change significantly
from period to period.
Impairment of Vessels.
Management needs to assess whether indications exist that may require an impairment of the value
of a vessel. Such indications may include adverse market conditions, significant changes in charter-hire
contracts, day-rates, operating expenses or external broker estimates. When such indications exist, an
impairment test is performed in accordance with Company policy. As of 31 December 2019, external
indicators indicated that the fair value of the vessels had been reduced and impairment testing was
carried out in accordance with IAS 36 “Impairment of vessels”. Each vessel is deemed to be a cash
generating unit and each vessel is therefore tested separately for possible impairment. External experts
have presented broker values for each vessel owned by the Company. Fair value less cost to sell is based
on an average of the broker estimates, reduced by brokers’ sales commission.
Value-in-Use Calculations of Vessels.
Estimated cash flows are based on next year’s budget per vessel, and the forecast for the subsequent
periods. For vessels fixed on firm long-term contracts. The assumption is that the contracts continues
until expiry date. Options for contract extensions, held by the customers, are not included in the
forecasted cash flows unless they are entered into on terms that are at or below current market rates, and
that it is highly probable that they will be exercised.
The weighted average cost of capital (“WACC”) is used as a discount rate when the value-in-use is
estimated. The capital structure applied in the model reflects a normalized capital structure for the
industry, representing the rate of return that the Company is expecting to pay to the lenders and equity
providers of capital for cash flows that have similar risks. Cash flows are calculated after tax and
discounted with an after-tax discount rate. The nominal WACC used in the value-in-use calculations
varies from 7.49% to 9.05% (2018: 7.65% to 9.81%).
For the offshore support vessel (“OSV”) segment, the market is expected to remain weak for several
years. For vessels fixed on firm contracts during the period from 2020 through 2025, the assumption is
that the contract remains unchanged during the remaining contract period, and that the rate levels will
remain low, but will increase gradually towards 2029. Options, included in charter hire agreements, to
extend the charter party are not considered in the value-in-use calculations. However, if charter hire rates
for optional periods is expected to be lower than market rates for the applicable period, this is considered
in the value in use calculation.
The critical assumptions in the assessment of value-in-use are related to charter hire rates, utilization
of the vessels, ship operating expenses and capital expenditures.
Annual Depreciation and Residual Value of Vessels.
The level of annual depreciation is based on the categorization of the vessel into the different
components and the calculated residual value. The vessels within the Company are divided into the
following components and economic lives:
Component
Offshore support vessels
Hull
Cargo equipment
Marine equipment
Crew equipment
Engine
Engine system
Combined sewerage system
Docking
Equipment
Reefer vessels
Car carrier vessels
Roll-on / Roll-off vessels
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Percentage
of Total

Economic
Lifetime

27%
17%
10%
9%
18%
6%
13%

3o years
30 years
15 years
15 years
30 years
30 years
30 years
2.5 years
3 years
30 years
30 years
30 years
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The residual value and expected useful lifetime assumptions of long-lived assets are reviewed at each
balance sheet date, and where they differ significantly from previous estimates, depreciation charges are
amended accordingly.
Impairment of Financial Assets.
Significant management judgment is required to assess the existence of objective evidence of possible
impairment of financial assets. Such estimates of impairment may change from period to period as
conditions change.
Significant management judgment is required to assess the existence of objective evidence of possible
impairment of financial assets according to the Expected Credit Loss method required under IFRS 9
“Financial Instruments”. Such estimates of impairment may change from period to period as conditions
change.
Accounting for Investments in Associates.
Significant management judgment is required to assess the existence of objective evidence of possible
impairment of investments in associates. Such estimates of impairment may change from period to
period as conditions change.
Classification of Lessors Lease Arrangements.
One of the subsidiaries within the Company, Seven Yield, has a portfolio of shipping assets engaged
long-term bareboat charter of these assets as a lessor to financially-sound counter-parties. At the inception
of the lease agreements, the Company makes an assessment as to whether the lease agreements should be
classified as either operating leases or finance leases. When assessing whether an agreement is an
operating lease or a finance lease, estimates of the fair value of the vessels at the end of the lease periods
and calculations of the present value of the minimum lease payments are the most important factors.
Options that are included in the lease agreement, such as purchase obligations at the end of the lease
period or options to extend the lease period beyond the firm period, are elements that are taken into
consideration when assessing whether the lease is an operating lease or a finance lease. For further
information, see Note 11 Finance and Operating Leases.
Value in Use calculations of Right-of-Use Assets
The most significant part of the right-of-use asset is the lease liability, which is the present value of
the lease payments discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease is this is readily determinable, or
otherwise at the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate. Accordingly, the discount rate applied to determine
the lease liability can have a significant effect on the amount of the right-of-use asset.
If the Value in Use (“VIU”) is determined mechanically after the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases, ignoring
the lease liability and related lease payments from both the carrying amount and the VIU of the Cash
Generating Unit (“CGU”), the following effects will occur when compared with the VIU with operating
leases under IAS 17 Leases:
1.The carrying amount of the CGU will increase by the net present value of the future lease
payments discounted at the IFRS 16 rate. This is because the operating lease expenses
included in EBITDA under an IAS 17 calculation of VIU is removed from EBITDA under
an IFRS 16 calculation of VIU and considered partly as payment of interest and party as
repayment of the finance lease liability.
2.The VIU of the CGU will increase by the net present value of the future lease payments
discounted at the discount rate used under IAS 36 Impairment of assets. This is because
lease expenses under IFRS 16 are excluded from operating expenses, and are not included in
EBITDA, the way they are under IAS 17.
As long as the discount rate under IAS 36 is based on the weighted average cost of capital (WACC)
exceeds the IFRS 16 discount rate (lessee’s incremental borrowing rate), this will have a negative impact
on the results of the impairment test as the carrying amount of the CGU. In practice, this may be seen
as less of an issue as long it results only in decrease in an existing headroom. However, this might as well
result in an increase in the impairment charged that has been calculated. From an economic perspective,
the underlying business and cash flows have not changed, thus, it is difficult to justify why there would
be an effect on the impairment test as a result of the discontinuing effect. The return on equity, as
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demanded by equity investors would in our opinion remain unchanged. Assuming that investors were
already aware of the operating leases and based their risk assessment thereon, such effects are already
included in the required equity return. However, since the lease liability is now regarded as debt, the
debt/equity ratio increases, and, given that the debt returns are generally lower than equity returns, the
discount rate based on WACC would decrease after the adoption of IFRS 16 accordingly.
Percentage-of-completion method in accounting for its fixed price construction contracts
In 2018, the Company used estimates during the application of the percentage-of-completion
method in accounting for its fixed price construction contracts related to activities of Siem Offshore
Contractors GmbH (“SOC”), a former wholly-owned subsidiary of Siem Offshore, and for Flensburger
Schiffbau-gesällschaft (“FSG”), a former wholly-owned subsidiary of Siem Europe. Siem Offshore
Contractors is involved in the design, procurement and installation of submarine power cables for the
renewable energy industry, while FSG is a German shipyard that mainly builds RoRo vessels and RoPax
vessels. These estimates are used as a measurement for revenue recognition purposes and are based on an
assessment of certain technical criteria in the project execution plan that have to be met in order to
determine the level of percentage-of-completion rather than simply using costs incurred to expected costs
as the measure of completion. The investment in SOC was sold in 2018, as described in further detail in
note 21 Discontinued Operations – Non-Current Asset-Held-for-Sale. In February 2019 the Company’s
100%-interest in FSG was reduced to 24% following a right issue in the company to an external investor.
The remaining 24%-interest in FSG was sold to the same external investor in August 2019.
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND ACCOUNTING FOR INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control is assumed to exist where the Company is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee. The Company re-assesses whether or not it
controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the
elements of control.
The Company consolidates non-wholly owned subsidiaries where it exercises a controlling influence
despite holding less than 50% of the voting rights, if it is deemed to have de facto control.
Subsidiaries — Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that the Company obtains control over the subsidiary until the date
that the Company ceases to control the subsidiary. Changes in the Company’s interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in the Company ceasing to control that subsidiary are accounted for as equity
transactions.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to align these with
the accounting policies of the Company. All intra-Company transactions, balances, income and expenses
are eliminated on consolidation. Non-controlling interests comprise equity interests in subsidiaries which
are not attributable, directly or indirectly to the Company. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of
subsidiaries are identified separately from the Company’s equity. Non-controlling interests consist of the
amount of those interests at the date the Company obtains control over the subsidiary together with the
non-controlling shareholders’ share of net income and share of other comprehensive income since that
date.
Associates — An associate is an entity over which the Company has significant influence and which is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. Significant influence is defined as the right to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint control over those
policies.
A joint venture is a commercial business governed by an agreement between two or more
participants, giving them joint control over a business.
Investments in associates and joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method. Under this
method, the investment is carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost plus post-acquisition changes
in the Company’s share of net assets of the associate or joint venture, less any provisions for impairment.
The consolidated income statement reflects the Company’s share of the results of operations after tax of
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the associate or joint venture. Losses in excess of the Company’s interest, which includes any long-term
interests that, in substance, form part of the Company’s net investment, are only recognized to the extent
that the Company has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.
Changes in the equity of the associates or joint venture due to items in Other Comprehensive Income is
recognized in Other Comprehensive Income of the Company on an aggregate basis. Other changes in
the equity of the associate or joint venture is analysed for potential dilution or anti-dilution effects and
accounted for accordingly.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses. The
consideration for each acquisition is measured as the aggregate of the fair values at the date of acquisition
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Company in
exchange for control of the new subsidiary. Costs related to the acquisition are recognized in the
Company’s income statement as incurred.
Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from
a contingent consideration arrangement, measured at its acquisition date fair value. Subsequent changes
in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of acquisition where the changes qualify as measurement
period adjustments. All other subsequent changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that are
classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with relevant IFRSs. Changes in the fair
value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognized.
The subsidiary’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under IFRS 3 “Business Combinations” are recognized at their fair value at the acquisition date,
except that:
•

assets, or disposal groups, that are classified as held-for-sale in accordance with IFRS 5 “Noncurrent Assets Held-for-Sale and Discontinued Operations”, are measured in accordance with that
standard;

•

deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 “Income Taxes” and IAS 19 “Employee
Benefits”, respectively; and

•

liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Company of a subsidiary’s
share-based payment awards are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-based Payments”.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is not completed by the end of the reporting
period during which the combination occurs, then the Company will report provisional amounts for the
items for which the accounting is incomplete to the extent that such amounts can be reasonably
calculated. These provisional amounts are adjusted, or additional assets or liabilities are recognized,
during the measurement period to reflect new information obtained regarding facts and circumstances
that existed as of the acquisition date that, if such facts or circumstances had been known, would have
affected the amounts recognized as of that date.
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.
Intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Company
companies are eliminated. Profits and losses resulting from inter-company transactions that are
recognised in assets are also eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Company.
Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests are
also recorded in equity.

35

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Company obtains
complete information regarding facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date and is
subject to a maximum of one year.
GOODWILL AND BARGAIN PURCHASE
Goodwill that arises from a business combination is recognized as an asset at the acquisition date.
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interests in the subsidiary and the fair value of the Company’s previously-held equity
interest, if any, in the subsidiary over the net amounts of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed at the acquisition date.
If, following a re-assessment, the Company’s interest in the fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
net assets exceeds the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the subsidiary and the fair value of the Company’s previously-held equity interest in the
subsidiary, then such amount represents a bargain purchase and will be immediately recognized as a gain
in the Company’s consolidated income statement.
Goodwill is not amortized; however, goodwill is reviewed for impairment at least on an annual basis.
INTANGIBLE ASSETS OTHER THAN GOODWILL
Intangible assets are measured at cost at the date of initial acquisition. Following the initial
recognition, intangible assets are measured at cost less amortization and impairment charges. Internallygenerated intangible assets are not capitalized with the exception of development expenditures which
meet the criteria for capitalization.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortized over their useful economic life and are assessed for
impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortization
period and the amortization method for intangible assets with finite useful lives are reviewed at least
annually. Changes in the expected useful lives or the expected pattern of consumption of future
economic benefits embodied in the assets are accounted for by changing the amortization period or
method and are treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Research costs are expensed as incurred. Development expenditures are recognized on an individual
project as an internally-generated intangible asset when it can be demonstrated that it meets the criteria
for recognition.
Amortization of the asset over the period of expected future benefit begins when development is
complete and the asset is available for use. The asset is tested for impairment whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Functional and Presentation Currency — The Company uses the USD as the functional and
presentation currency in the financial statements since the USD is the primary currency in the
environment in which the Company operates. At 31 December, the exchange rates for the following
currencies and the percentage change year-over-year were as follows:
Currency:
NOK/USD
USD/GBP
USD/EUR
BRL/USD

Percentage Change

2019

1.6%
3.5%
(2.0)%
(3.7)%

8,7803
1,3204
1,1234
4,0197

2018

8.6416
1.2759
1.1469
3.8745

Transactions and Balances — Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rates prevailing on the date of the transactions. Currency exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities using the currency rates prevailing on the last day of the fiscal period are recorded in the
income statement.
Changes in the fair value of a monetary security that is classified as available-for-sale and is
denominated in a foreign currency are analyzed between changes arising from translation differences in
36

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the amortized cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of such security. Translation
differences are recognized as currency exchange gains or losses in the income statement and other
changes are recognized in other comprehensive income.
Currency exchange gains or losses are included in fair value changes for assets and liabilities
measured at fair value through profit and loss.
Subsidiaries — The Company translates the results and balances of its consolidated subsidiaries that
have a functional currency different from the USD as follows:
•

Assets and liabilities for each fiscal period are translated at the closing exchange rate on the date
of the balance sheet.

•

Income and expenses for each fiscal period are translated at the average exchange rate for the
period.

•

Resulting exchange differences are recognized through other comprehensive income as a
separate component of equity.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments that are identified on the date of acquisition of a foreign entity
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing rate on the reporting
date. Exchange differences that arise are recognized as other comprehensive income as a separate
component of equity.
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents include cash, certificates of deposit and all highly liquid investments
purchased with original maturities of three months or less.
The Company is required to maintain certain minimum cash balances or to pledge securities and/or
cash deposits as security for drawdowns under its revolving credit facilities. Pledged cash deposits and
minimum cash balances required by loan facilities are reported as restricted cash in the consolidated
balance sheet.
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE AND POSSIBLE IMPAIRMENTS
Accounts receivable includes trade receivables which are recognized initially at fair value and,
subsequently, at amortized cost using the effective interest method less any provision for impairment. A
provision for impairment of trade receivables is recorded when objective evidence indicates that the
Company may not be able to collect all amounts that are due in accordance with the originals terms of
the transaction. Such objective evidence includes default or delinquency of payments, significant
financial difficulties of the debtor and probability that the debtor may enter bankruptcy or financial
reorganization. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the present value of the estimated future cash flows as discounted at the effective rate of interest.
Provisions are recorded in the income statement as a general and administrative expense.
FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLE

Fair value of the finance lease receivable determined for disclosure purposes. The fair value of finance
lease receivables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted with an applicable
discount rate. As of year-end 2019 the Group has 3 lease agreements that are classified as finance leases.
The fair value calculation of the finance lease receivables is explained in greater detail in Note 16.
INVENTORIES
The major components of inventory include bunkers and lubrication oil. These inventories are
recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out
(“FIFO”) method.
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND POSSIBLE IMPAIRMENT
Property and equipment consist primarily of vessels engaged in the support of the offshore oil and
gas industry and vessels designed for the ocean-transport of refrigerated goods (“reefer vessels” or
“vessels”) and the ocean-transport of cars and high and heavy units (“car carriers”). Vessels and related
shipping assets are stated at historical cost, which includes costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
less accumulated depreciation. The carrying value of vessels and related shipping assets are based on
estimates, assumptions and judgments relative to capitalized costs, useful lives and residual values
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reflecting both historical experience and expectations of future industry conditions and operations.
Depreciation for vessels is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 15-30 years
after allowing for residual values. Equipment and other fixed asset costs less residual values are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of 3-5 years.
Buildings are generally depreciated over a useful life of 20 years. Remaining long-lived assets include
furniture, fixtures and cars that are carried at cost and depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful life of 3-5 years.
Subsequent costs that may be included in the asset’s carrying value may include expenditures for
renewals, major modifications or betterments. These costs are capitalized as separate assets when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with these assets will result and the costs can be
measured reliably. These costs of these assets may be amortized over the adjusted remaining useful life of
the related asset.
Following the disposal or retirement of property and equipment, the costs and related accumulated
depreciation are removed from the respective accounts and any resulting gains or losses are recorded in
the statements of operations.
The assets’ residual, or scrap, values and useful lives are reviewed annually and adjusted if
appropriate. Estimated residual value is determined as the estimated sales price for steel less the cost
related to the scrapping of the vessel. The estimate is reassessed at each reporting date. The carrying
values of assets are reviewed periodically for potential impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. This
determination of recoverability for property and equipment held for use is based on the estimated
discounted future net cash flows of the underlying asset and the difference is recorded as an impairment
loss in the income statement.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.
Maintenance and costs incurred to maintain the certification of assets and comply with current
regulations are charged to operating expense as incurred.
NEWBUILD CONTRACTS
Instalments on newbuild contracts are recorded as non-current assets. Costs related to the on-site
supervision and other pre-delivery construction costs are capitalized per vessel. Borrowing costs directly
attributable to the construction are capitalized as a part of the cost of the asset.
DRYDOCKING, MOBILIZATION AND DECOMISSIONING COSTS
Dry-dock costs are incurred to maintain a vessel’s classification and capitalized as a distinct
component of the asset. The capitalized costs are amortized over the period until the next scheduled drydocking (usually between 2.5 to 5 years) and are derecognized at the date of the next dry-docking. All
other repair and maintenance costs are recognized in the income statement when incurred.
Mobilization costs consist of expenditures incurred prior to the deployment of vessels or equipment
and are classified as prepayments. These costs are expensed over the life of the project or contract.
A provision is recorded for decommissioning costs that will necessary to restore a leased, or
chartered-in, vessel to an agreed-upon condition when a current obligation exists and a reliable estimate
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The corresponding amount is capitalized as property, plant
and equipment.
NON-CURRENT ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD-FOR-SALE
Assets are classified as held-for-sale when the following criteria are met: Management has committed
to a plan to sell the asset, the asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition, the sale of the
asset is highly probable to be completed within a one year period and the asset is being actively marketed
at a sale price that is reasonable in relation to its current market value. Assets classified as held-for-sale are
measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less the costs of disposal. Held-for-sale assets are
no longer depreciated and are shown separately in the financial statements.
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LOANS AND NOTES PAYABLE AND DEFERRED FINANCING COSTS
Loans and notes payable are recognized initially at fair value net of financing costs incurred to obtain
the financing. Financing costs, including debt arrangement fees, are deferred and amortized using the
effective interest method of amortization over the term of the underlying facility agreement. Loans and
notes payable are recorded as noncurrent liabilities for payments that extend more than 12 months from
the reporting date. Payments on loans and notes payable due less than 12 months from the reporting
date are recorded as current liabilities. The unamortized balances of deferred financing costs are recorded
as a reduction of noncurrent loans and notes payable. The amortization of deferred financing costs is
recorded in the income statement as interest expense.
EXCHANGEABLE BONDS
The Exchangeable Bonds were initially recognised in two separate components: (1) the present value
of the liability; and (2) the market value of the exchange option, classified as a financial derivative. The
liability was subsequently measured at amortized cost and subsequent changes in the fair value of the
exchange option were recognized in profit or loss.
An embedded derivative is separated from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative if,
among other criteria, the economic characteristics and risks of the embedded derivative are not closely
related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract. Accordingly, the financial
derivatives related to the redeemable right should be valued at the date of closing using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model. The option hold by the company to call the exchangeable bond after 5 years is
considered closely related to the host contract and is therefore not separated from the host contract and
valued on a separate basis.
In accordance with IFRS, the Company recorded gains when the value of the financial derivative
declines and increased interest expense with respect to the financial liability based on the amortized
difference between the net present value of the obligation and the expected redemption amount by
bondholders.
Upon issuance of the EUR Bonds at the end of May 2016, the Company segregated the EUR Bonds
into a debt liability and financial derivative.
For further information, see Note 8.
COMMERCIAL INTEREST REFERENCE RATE (CIRR) LOANS
Siem Offshore has applied for CIRR loans from the Norwegian Export Credit Agency. The duration
of the loans is 12 years. Cash proceeds from drawdowns of the loans are deposited in fixed deposit
accounts with reputable banks at the same interest rate as the loans and the agreed periods of the
deposits are identical to those with the related loans.
EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS
Exceptional are those items that, in Management’s opinion, should be separately disclosed within
the Company’s income statement as a result of the size or incidence of the items for the purpose to
provide a better understanding of the Company’s financial performance.
EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Share-Based Compensation
According to IFRS 2, all share-based payment transactions must be recognized in the financial
statements using a fair value measurement basis.
Performance Unit Plan — The parent company has maintained a Performance Unit Plan for its officers,
directors and others who contribute to the success of the Company since 1987. Compensation expense is
measured at the end of each period as the amount by which the calculated market-adjusted net asset
value of the Company’s Common Stock covering a grant of performance units exceeds the value
specified under the plan and is charged to expense over the periods that the recipient of the grant
performs the related services. The Company has the option to satisfy the redemption of the performance
units in either cash or Common Shares. This plan reflects IAS 19 treatment.
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Pension Obligations
Siem Offshore and Siem Shipowning maintain defined benefit plans for their respective employees
in Norway. A defined benefit plan defines the amount of pension benefit that an employee will receive
on retirement which is usually dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and
compensation. The pension scheme is financed through contributions to insurance companies or
pension funds. The liability recognized by the Company in the financial statements is the net present
value of the future obligations of the pension plan as determined which is determined annually by an
independent actuary. Net pension expenses are recorded as salary-related expenses in the income
statement. The estimated net funds are recorded as noncurrent assets in the balance sheet. The effect of
changes in the estimates and differences between estimated and actual return are recognized as they
occur. The excess amount is amortized over the remaining service life of the employees.
Siem Shipowning maintains two defined contribution plans for its employees in the U.K. Yearly
contributions for the two plans are expensed as incurred.
INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and is exempt from income taxes in that
jurisdiction. For the two years ended 31 December 2019, there were no Cayman Islands income or
profits tax, withholding tax, capital gains tax, capital transfer tax, estate duty or inheritance tax payable by
a Cayman Islands company or its shareholders. The Company has received assurance from the Cayman
Islands government under the Tax Concessions Law (1995 Revision) that, in the event that any
legislation is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing tax computed on profits or income, or computed
on any capital assets, gain or appreciation, or any tax in the nature of estate duty or inheritance tax, such
tax shall not be applicable to the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares, debentures or
other obligations of the Company. Therefore, there will be no Cayman Islands tax consequences
affecting distributions under present law.
Income taxes have been provided for based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in which the
operations are conducted and income is earned. The income tax rates imposed by these taxing
authorities may vary substantially. Income for tax purposes may differ from income before taxes for
financial accounting purposes, particularly in those tax regimes that are revenue-based. There is no
expected relationship between the provision for income taxes and income before income taxes because
the countries have different tax regimes which vary not only with respect to the nominal rate, but also in
terms of the availability of deductions, credits and other benefits. Variations may also arise because
income earned and taxed in any particular country or countries may fluctuate from period to period.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the anticipated future tax effects of temporary
differences between the financial statement basis and the tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities
and the operating losses carried forward using the applicable tax rates in effect at year-end. Deferred tax
assets are recognized only if the Company has determined that it is probable that the tax assets will be
realized. A valuation allowance for deferred tax assets is recorded when it is more likely than not that
some or all of the benefit from the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND PROVISIONS
The Company recognizes provisions when there is a legal or self-imposed obligation to do so as a
result of events that have transpired, there is a preponderance of evidence that the obligation will be
settled by some form of transfer of economic resources and the size of the obligation can be estimated
with an adequate degree of reliability. Provisions are measured as the net present value of the expected
payments to satisfy the obligation.
NET EARNINGS, OR NET INCOME, PER COMMON SHARE
The Company reports both basic earnings per common share and diluted earnings per common
share. Basic earnings per common share is determined by dividing net income (loss) available to common
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per common share is determined by using the average market price per common share when
applying the treasury stock method to determine the number of common share equivalents which should
be added to the weighted average number of shares outstanding. For the Company, diluted earnings per
common share is the same as basic earnings per common share since there are no common share
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equivalents because the Performance Units, which are potentially common share equivalents, are
expected to be settled in cash.
RECLASSIFICATIONS
The Company has reclassified certain amounts in the prior period financial statements in order to
conform to the current year presentation. Such reclassification had no effect on the Company’s net
income (loss), financial position, total shareholders’ equity or cash flows.
(3) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Terms in certain of the Company’s loan, revolving credit or bond facilities require minimum cash
balances or the pledge of cash deposits. Minimum cash balances and pledged cash deposits represent a
form of security for long-term liabilities and are not available for unrestricted use. Accordingly, these
balances are recorded as noncurrent assets. At 31 December, the following cash amounts are recorded at
fair value through profit and loss:

(in thousands)

2019

2018

Total cash and cash equivalents
Less: Restricted cash – CIRR deposits
Less: Restricted cash – Other

$

191,341 $ 231,953
(54,540)
(68,730)
(14,869)
(20,600)

Cash and cash equivalents - current assets

$

121,932 $ 142,623

The restricted cash includes amounts securing bank loans and guarantees for periods in excess of 12
months. Cash that is restricted for various tax withholdings and other similar transactions is not
included in the long-term restricted cash position.
The “noncurrent assets held-for-sale” includes $1.1 million in cash at the end of 2019 (2018: $35.5
million).
Proceeds from the drawdowns under CIRR loans, as discussed in Note 8, are placed on deposit with
the banks as security for the loans. The maturities of the deposits are scheduled to match the maturities
of the CIRR loans which had original terms of 12 years.
The Company’s cash holdings are denominated in several currencies as presented below:
(in thousands)

2019

Cash and cash equivalents denominated in following currencies:
USD
NOK
EUR
GBP
BRL
Other
Total cash and cash equivalents

$

$

2018

95,273 $ 135,558
11,226
21,054
67,785
60,602
3,522
2,292
4,595
4,540
8,940
7,907
191,341 $ 231,953

The Company is conservatively managing its cash portfolio and ensures that deposits are placed with first
class commercial banks with high credit ratings.
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(4) FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial Assets at Fair Value through Profit or Loss
At 31 December, the following securities are recorded at fair value through profit and loss and are
classified as trading securities:
(in thousands)

2019

Trading securities:
Listed equity securities
Trading securities, net fair value

2018

$

12,818

$

10,104

$

12,818

$

10,104

The activity in trading securities during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

2019

Trading securities:
Balance, 1 January
Purchases
Proceeds from sales
Gains (losses), see Note 12
Currency exchange gains (losses), see Note 16
Trading securities, 31 December

$ 10,104
7,143
(4,305)
(732)
(607)
$ 12,818

2018

$

8,929
16,072
(15,338)
916
(475)
$ 10,104

The trading securities are classified as Level I financial instruments. The valuation for such securities
is based on quoted prices available in the market for identical assets.

Notes, Loans and Other Receivables
At 31 December, the following notes, loans and other receivables are recorded:
(in thousands)

Notes, loans and other receivables:
Listed securities:
Floating rate notes
Unlisted securities:
Notes receivable, various rates
Finance lease receivables
Notes, loans and other receivables
Notes, loans and other receivables:
Current
Noncurrent
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2019

2018

$ 15,540

$ 16,268

51,322
151,972

49,130
106,495

$ 218,834

$ 171,893

$ 13,850
$ 204,984

$ 6,881
$ 165,012
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Notes, loans and other receivables are within the category Financial asset at fair value through profit
and loss.
The activity in notes, loans and other receivables during the fiscal years ended 31 December is
presented below:

(in thousands)

2019

Notes, loans and other receivables:
Balance, 1 January
Additions and purchases
Proceeds from maturities, repayments and sales
Gains (losses) on investments, net, see Note 12
Reclassification to assets held-for-sale
Currency exchange gains (losses), see Note 16
Other
Notes, loans and other receivables, 31 December

$171,894
54,808
(6,042)
(980)
—
(846)
—
$ 218,834

2018

$183,170
119,709
(42,902)
2,752
(83,406)
(7,989)
559
$ 171,893

At the end of 2018, Bradenstoke Solar Park was reclassified as a discontinued operations with its
assets recorded as noncurrent assets held-for-sale and its liabilities recorded as liabilities directly related to
assets held-for-sale since the solar park itself is not a core asset and will be marketed for sale in a manner
similar to the other solar parks. As of 31 December 2019 the investment in Bradenstoke Solar Park is
classified as Non-Current-Asset-Held-for-Sale.
The net recorded value of the notes, loans and other similar receivables approximates the fair value
of such notes, loans and other similar receivables at 31 December 2019.

(5) INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES
A summary of the share of profits (losses) of and the investments in associates as of and for the years
ended 31 December is presented below:
Summary of Investments in Associates
(in thousands)
Share of
Profits (Losses)
Investments in

Percentage
Ownership

Year Ended

Associate

31 December 2019

Subsea 7
23.9%
Venn Partners
44.5%
VeCREF
18.7%
BSR
40.0%
SOSI
20.0%
EMGS
23.9%
Siem Offshore’s Associates various
Other

$

$
31 December 2018

Subsea 7
Venn Partners
VeCREF
BSR
SOSI
EMGS
Siem Offshore’s Associates
various
Other

21.8%
44.5%
18.7%
40.0%
20.0%
23.2%

$

$
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(19,529)
—
2,111
(2,540)
(689)
3,597
568
—
(16,492)

$ 1,115,553
2,136
34,044
13,861
6,496
3,610
1,226
79
$ 1,177,319

39,125
—
3,018
(1,247)
449
(8,754)

$ 1,117,425
2,136
40,443
16,588
7,185
(8,799)

596
—
33,187

1,698
80
$ 1,176,757
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The activity in investments in associates during the fiscal years ended 31 December follows:
(in thousands)

2019

2018

Investments in associates:
Balance, 1 January
Additions to investments
Share of profits (losses) of associates
Proceeds from sales or disposals
Dividends or distributions by associates
Share of associates’ other comprehensive income
Cumulative translation adjustments
Currency exchange gains (losses), net, see Note 16
Other

$ 1,176,757
28,685
(18,654)
—
(22,767)
5,696
(1,505)
(7)
8,798

$ 1,191,312
47,391
33,187
(28,365)
(42,932)
(19,989)
(3,653)
(75)
(119)

Investments in associates, 31 December

$ 1,177,319

$ 1,176,757
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(6) VESSELS, PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Summaries of the vessels and related shipping assets and property, equipment and other at 31
December are presented below (the Vessels and Related Assets includes Vessels-under-Construction):

(in thousands)

Vessels and
Related Assets*)

Cost:
Balance, 1 January
$ 3,150,956
Adjustments
85,927
Capital expenditures
173,197
Disposals
(218,368)
Reclass to Held-for-Sale
(20,091)
Reclass to Finance Lease Receivable
—
Reclass/transfer between asset groups
(95,708)
Translation adjustment and other
(10,773)
Cost, 31 December
Accumulated depreciation/impairment:
Balance, 1 January
$
Adjustments, 1 January
Depreciation, see Note 13
Disposals and eliminations
Impairment
Reclass to Held-for-Sale
Reclass/transfer between asset groups
Translation adjustment and other
Accum. depreciation, 31 December
Net book value, 31 December
$
Property, equipment and other, net
Deferred drydocking costs, see Note 7
Vessels, property and equipment, net $

3,065,140
(1,260,505)
16,953
(146,541)
146,109
(64,238)
9,999
5,467
3,061
(1,289,695)
1,775,445
51,628
23,078
1,850,151

2019
Property, Equipment
and Other*)

$

121,459
23,400
6,627
(874)
—
—
—
(111)
150,501

$ (66,666)
(23,400)
(8,826)
408
—
—
—
(389)
(98,873)
$ 51,628

Vessels and
Related Assets

$

2018
Property, Equipment
and Other

3,383,330
—
219,468
(251,619)
(82,659)
(125,695)
11,293
(3,162)

$ 148,770
—
3,596
(5,067)
(20,614)
—
(169)
(5,057)

3,150,956

121,459

$ (1,118,833)
—
(117,241)
75,256
(100,129)
6,659
(9,967)
3,749
(1,260,505)
$ 1,890,451
54,794
19,489
$ 1,964,734

$(70,637)
—
(9,614)
5,005
—
4,555
1,477
2,548
(66,666)
$54,794

Right-of Use Asset as included in the column Vessels and Related Assets above, as described in further
detail in the table below:
Right of Use Asset at 1 January 2019:
Additions in 2019:
The year’s depreciation:
The year’s impairment:
Restatement 31December :
Right-of-Use assets at 31 December 2019:

$

$

80,675
943
(25,122)
(5,000)
(6,006)
45,490

In 2018, Seven Yield acquired 100% of Siem RoRo Carriers Ltd. (“Siem RoRo Carriers”), a whollyowned subsidiary of the Company, and its three RoRo vessels. The three RoRo vessels are all occupied
on initial 5-year charterparty contracts, which commenced in 2017 from delivery of FSG. The three
charterparty contracts were classified as operating leases and the vessels were recorded as fixed assets.
In the fourth quarter of 2018, Seven Yield received delivery of the first of two newbuild RoRo
vessels from FSG which immediately commenced a 12-year charterparty contract. The charterparty
agreement has been classified as a finance lease agreement. The second newbuild RoRo vessel was
delivered from FSG to Seven Yield in March 2019 and immediately commenced a 12-year charterparty
contract. The charterparty agreement has been classified as a finance lease agreement.
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During 2018, one of Siem RoRo Carriers’ RoRo vessels were deemed to be finance leases in
accordance with IFRS 16 and the right-of-use assets were reclassified from fixed assets.
In 2018, FSG’s property and equipment were transferred from a full consolidation of the financial
statements of the subsidiary to a long-term assets held-for-sale. For further information about the
reclassification, see Note 21 Discontinued Operations.
Details of the impairments recognized by the following amounts at the end of 2019 and 2018:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Impairments:
Vessels: Offshore Support Vessels segment
Vessels: OSV segment, Drydocking, see Note 7
Vessels: Reefer, RoRo and Car Carriers Vessel segment
Shipbuilding contracts
Long term receivables and projects
Reversal of impairment related to FSG
Reversal of impairment related to Deusa
Reclassified to income (loss) on discontinued operations
Other

$ 75,564
—
5,000
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 56,990
587
26,582
4,200
7,200
(11,518)
(16,682)
—
168

Impairments, net

$ 80,564

$67,527

Impairment testing – Based on its testing, Siem Offshore recorded an impairment of $59.2 million
and $57 million in 2019 and 2018 respectively to write down of its offshore support vessels to their
recoverable amounts. The recoverable amount was based on the higher of fair value less cost of disposal
and value-in-use calculation with each vessel treated separately. The offshore supply vessel sector has been
hard hit because of overcapacity arising from speculative newbuild programs in recent years and because
of the prolonged downturn in offshore oil and gas projects and activity. The impairments affected 15
vessels.
Day OCV recorded an impairment of $16.3 million on its offshore support vessels to its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount was based on the agreed fair market value in the transaction between
Day OCV and Siem Day AS a wholly owned subsidiary of SOSI in the transaction that was concluded in
January 2020. The investment in Day OCV is classified as Non-current Asset held for Sale. Revenue
and operating expneses in 2019 are included in continued operations.
Star Reefers recorded impairments of $5 million in 2019 and $31.4 million in 2018 under the
former name Siem Shipping, with respect to its older, less efficient refrigerated vessels. Star Reefers’
operation in the specialized refrigerated transportation of fruits and other products has experienced
significant competition from the regular container lines as the container lines offer lower rates in an
effort to build market share and generate activity for vessels in the overbuilt container lines.
Star Reefers (former Siem Shipping) further recorded impairments of $4.2 million related to the
termination of car carrier newbuild contracts in 2018.
Impairment sensitivities – The value-in-use calculation is mainly affected by changes in WACC and
freight rate and charter rate assumptions. The nominal WACC used in the value-in-use calculations
varies from 7.49% to 9.05% (2018: 7.65% to 9.81%) for vessels within the offshore support vessel and
scientific core vessel segments and 7.5% (2018: 7.5%) for the reefer, RoRo and car carrier vessel segment.
A reduction of charter rates for vessels within the offshore support vessel and scientific core vessel
segments of $1,000 per day for the remaining life of each vessel would increase the impairment by
approximately $53.0 million, which is applicable for 25 vessels. An increase in charter rate assumption
of $1,000 per day would reduce the impairment by approximately $33.6 million, relevant for 12 vessels.
With an increase in charter rate assumptions of $1,000 day, the value-in-use would be higher than fair
value less cost of disposal for certain vessels.
An increase in WACC of 0.5% for vessels within the offshore support vessel and scientific core
vessel segments would increase the total impairment by approximately $23.7 million and relate to 21
vessels in total. A decrease in WACC of 0.5% would reduce the impairment by approximately $18.8
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million related to 15 of the vessels. With a decrease in WACC of 0.5% value in use would become
higher than fair value less cost of disposal for certain vessels.
For the vessels within the reefer, RoRo and car carrier vessel segment, an adverse movement in the
WACC rate of 1% would increase the impairment of vessels by $7.7 million (2018: $7 million).
(7) DEFERRED DRYDOCKING COSTS
A summary of the drydocking activity for the years ended 31 December is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Deferred drydocking costs:
Balance, 1 January
Additions
Disposals
Amortization, see Note 13
Impairment, see Note 6
Effects of currency exchange gains(losses)
Transfers

$ 19,489
20,275
(3,816)
(12,075)
—
(794)
—

$ 26,962
8,279
(423)
(11,340)
(587)
(768)
(2,634)

Deferred drydocking costs, 31 December, see Note 6

$ 23,078

$

19,489

The amortization period is generally 3-5 years and the amortization of deferred drydocking costs is
recorded as an operating expense.
(8) LONG-TERM DEBT
A summary of long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized financing fees and excluding
Siem Offshore’s debt which is separately shown, at 31 December is presented below:

(in thousands)

Interest
Rate

USD-denominated long-term debt and notes payable:
Vessel Financings
Floating
USD-denominated long-term debt and notes payable
NOK-denominated long-term debt and notes payable, USD-equivalents:
Margin loan facility
Floating
NOK-denominated long-term debt and notes payable
EUR-denominated long-term debt and notes payable, USD-equivalents:
Exchangeable Bonds
Fixed
Vessel Financings
Floating
Margin loan facility
Floating
Deusa bank loan
EUR-denominated long-term debt and notes payable
Siem Offshore credit facilities, USD-equivalents:
Secured loans
Public bond issues
CIRR loans
Siem Offshore credit facilities
Long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized financing fees
Less unamortized financing fee
Long-term debt and notes payable, net of unamortized financing fees
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2019

2018

58,383
58,383

78,555
78,555

8,338
8,338

8,159
8,159

256,870
268,316
38,812
2,574
566,572

247,793
147,183
26,439
1,820
423,235

855,846
61,769
54,540
972,155

958,792
51,556
68,730
1,079,078

$ 1,605,448
$
(2,928)
$ 1,602,520

$1,589,027
$ (8,494)
$1,580,533

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated current and noncurrent maturities for the Company, including Siem Offshore’s
debt, are shown below:
(in thousands)

2019

Long-term debt and notes payable:
Current
Noncurrent
Long-term debt and notes payable net of unamortized financing fees

$ 181,260
$ 1,317,621
$ 1,498,881

2018

$ 136,080
$1,444,453
$1,580,533

The consolidated Current maturities and short term notes are shown below:
(in thousands)

2019

Current maturities and short term notes:
Current portion of long term debt and notes payable:
Current portion of finance lease liability:
Current maturities and short term notes

$ 181,260
$ 9,662
$ 190,922

2018

$136,080
—
$136,080

The scheduled total debt service, comprised of principal maturities and accrued interest payments,
for the Company’s debt and notes payable for each of the years ended 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

Years Ended
31 December

Principal
Maturities

2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025 and thereafter
Total
CIRR loan:
Credit facilities:
Long-term debt and notes payable:

181,260
383,991
363,248
114,583
116,086
339,711
$ 1,498,881
54,540
49,099
$ 1,602,520

Interest
Payments

48,655
38,361
32,239
16,921
12,192
20,265
$168,632

Debt
Service

229,918
422,352
395,487
131,504
128,278
359,976
$ 1,667,513

$

Exchangeable Bonds — At the end of May 2016, the Company placed EUR250,000,000- 2.25% Senior
Secured Exchangeable Bonds (“EUR Bonds”) which are exchangeable into shares of Subsea 7 at an
Exchange Price of EUR10.2995 per Subsea 7 share, representing a premium of 27.5% to the volumeweighted average price of such shares on the Oslo Stock Exchange, pay interest semi-annually in June and
December at the rate of 2.25% p.a., mature on 2 June 2021 and trade on the Oslo Stock Exchange. The
Exchangeable Bonds were secured by the pledge of 48,546,044 shares of Subsea 7 of which 24,273,022
of the shares pledged where subject to adjustment based upon the occurrence of certain events, such as
the payment of dividends by Subsea 7. The proceeds from the EUR Bond were used to refinance the
previous issue of exchangeable bonds which were redeemed in 2016.
Under IFRS, the existence of an exchange provision required that a portion of the EUR Bonds be
valued and recorded as a Financial Derivative and the remaining portion was recorded as a long-term
debt liability. The effective interest rate on the exchangeable bond loan is 5.88%.
The amount of the long-term debt liability is amortized from the recorded value to the nominal
value of the EUR Bonds over the period from the date of the issue of the bonds to the date of maturity.
The amortization is recorded as interest expense and the debt liability increases by such amount.
The Financial Derivative is re-valued at the end of each reporting period using the Black-Scholes
Option Pricing Model and changes in the amount of the Financial Derivative are recorded as a gains
(losses) on re-valuation of Financial Derivatives. Changes in value may be significant and are a product,
amongst other factors, of the volatility of the market prices of Subsea 7 shares. The separate components
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of the EUR Bonds and changes to the amount and valuation are shown below in USD-equivalents,
excluding the deferred financing costs.
Long-Term
Debt Liability

Value of
Financial
Derivatives

EUR250 Million Exchangeable Bonds, 31 December 2016
Exchange (gain) loss
Re-valuation (gain) loss
Amounts and valuation of EUR Bonds, 31 December 2017

$ 196,428
27,690
—
$ 24,118

$ 122,019
17,718
(23,184)
$ 116,553

Amortization of long-term debt liability
Exchange (gain) loss
Re-valuation (gain) loss
Amounts and valuation of EUR Bonds, 31 December 2018
Amortization of long-term debt liability
Exchange (gain) loss
Re-valuation (gain) loss
Amounts and valuation of EUR Bonds, 31 December 2019

33,698
(10,023)
—
$ 247,793
14,126
(5,049)
—
$ 256,870

—
(4,358)
(71,245)
$ 40,951
—
(3,347)
53,331
90,935

(in thousands)

Vessel financings – The subsidiaries of the Company has entered into vessel financing facilities with
standard security packages including but not limited to, first priority mortgages over the vessels,
assignment of earnings and insurances and share pledges in vessel-owning subsidiaries. A majority of the
vessel financings are on floating rate basis and as per 31.12.2019, excluding SIOFF, the vessel financings
were denominated in either USD or EUR. In addition to vessel specific covenants, the vessel financings
of the subsidiaries include covenants related to equity, free cash, leverage and credit.
The creditors and guarantors related to the vessel financings are in general first class commercial banks
and state-owned financial institutions with ratings on or above BBB- and AAA.
Siem Offshore Portfolio of Loans — Following the consolidation of Siem Offshore financial statements,
Siem Offshore’s portfolio of loans are reflected within the consolidated long-term debt obligations. Most
of Siem Offshore’s loans are secured with first priority mortgages on vessels.
Siem Offshore has issued two high-yield unsecured bonds. The first bond was for NOK600 million
(“SIOFF01”) with initial maturity in 2018 and the second bond was for NOK700 million (“SIOFF02”)
with initial maturity in 2019. Following the severe downturn in the offshore oil and gas industry, Siem
Offshore negotiated with its secured lenders and reached agreement on a finance plan. One of the
provisions was an extension of the maturity for each of SIOFF01 and SIOFF02 for 33 months, and
subsequently an agreement was reached with the bondholders and SIOFF01 was extended to mature in
2020 and SIOFF02 was extended to mature in 2023. In April 2018, the bondholders of SIOFF02
approved that the NOK700 million of old bonds were exchange for NOK560 million of a new SIOFF02
convertible bond. The SIOFF01 bondholders were given the opportunity to participate in the new
SIOFF02 bonds. A total of NOK250 million of SIOFF01 bonds were exchanged for NOK200 million of
the new SIOFF02 convertible bonds. The remaining NOK350 million of SIOFF01 bonds will mature in
October 2020.
The terms of the NOK760 million of new SIOFF02 convertible bonds includes a conversion right
for the bondholders into new shares of Siem Offshore at NOK3 per share, a fixed interest rate of
2.75%p.a., a term of 5½ years to mature in late-2023 and a call option by Siem Offshore at 120% of par
value of bonds.
The new SIOFF02 convertible bonds have an embedded call option and a put option in the form of
a conversion right and, in accordance with IFRS, the obligation was segregated into a financial derivative
in reflection of the options and a long-term liability and recorded at their respective fair values. The two
options are closely-related and are accounted for as a net liability as per 31 December 2018. The fair
value of the liability portion of the convertible bond is determined using a market interest rate for an
equivalent non-convertible bond until extinguished on conversion or maturity of the bonds. The debt
liability component is subsequently stated at amortized cost with the amortization recorded as interest
expense. The financial derivatives are marked-to-market using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model at
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each reporting date and the changes to fair value are reported as revaluation gains or losses. The
financial derivative is recognized as a financial liability or included in shareholders equity depending on
the features of the bond and the conversion option. As long as the Siem Offshore shares are quoted in
NOK and the functional currency of Siem Industries remains the USD, the convertible bond will not
meet the “fixed-for-fixed” criteria and the changes in the fair value of the conversion right will be
reflected as a financial derivative and not as an equity instrument.
The Company has purchased Siem Offshore bonds in the market at prices which are at a discount to
the bonds’ nominal value. Since Siem Offshore’s financial statements are fully consolidated within the
Company’s consolidated financial statements, IFRS requires certain treatment with respect to the
purchases and sales of these bonds which are deemed to be intercompany transactions. Therefore, the
Company’s purchases of Siem Offshore bonds are treated as debt buybacks in the consolidated financial
statements and are de-recognized immediately at the date of purchase for consolidation reporting
purposes. For purposes of the Company’s consolidated financial statements only, this de-recognition of
the Company’s investments in Siem Offshore bonds has resulted in a gain on the “buyback” of the bonds
of $0.2 million in 2018 ($6.9 million in 2018), see Note 12. This gain is presented in the Company’s
consolidated income statement as “Gains (losses) on investments and other assets, net”.
Siem Offshore raised a NOK760 million unsecured convertible bond in May 2018. Embedded in the
bond loan is a call option and a conversion right. These are closely related, and are accounted for as a net
liability as per 31 December 2019. The liability component and the embedded derivatives were initially
recognised at their fair value. The liability component is subsequently stated at amortized cost, while the
embedded derivatives are market to market at each balance sheet date, with changes to the fair value
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income within finance cost/revenue. As long as the
Company owns the new SIOFF02 convertible bond facility, an adjustment will need to be recorded in
the Company’s consolidated financial statements to adjust the net financial derivative related to the call
option and conversion right that has been recorded by Siem Offshore to reflect the market value of the
two financial derivative represented by SIOFF02 bonds held by third parties. Siem Offshore recorded a
financial derivative liability of $3.3 million in 2019, and $2.7 million in 2018, being the fair market
value of the conversion right. The carrying amount of the financial derivative recognized by Siem
Offshore is partly reduced by the Company to $1.1 million in 2019 and $0.9 million in 2018.
In connection with the ordering of newbuilds from Norwegian shipyards, Siem Offshore applied for
and received three Commercial Interest Reference Rate (“CIRR”) loans from the Norwegian Export
Credit Agency. The duration of the loans is for 12-year periods and the purpose is to secure and improve
the terms of related bank loans. The proceeds from the drawdowns of these loans are placed in
corresponding deposits as financial security for the loans. The loans and deposits have matching
maturities.
The Company, Siem Offshore, Siem Shipowning, Seven Yield and Siem RoRo Carriers were all in
compliance with their respective loan covenants at the end of 2019 and 2018.
Taking into consideration the variable rate structure of the Company’s long-term debt, the fair value
of long-term debt at 31 December 2019 approximates its carrying value with the exceptions for the
Company’s EUR Bonds and Siem Offshore’s SIOFF02. The fair value of the Company’s EUR250
million EUR Bonds is at EUR302.7 million which is equivalent to $340.1 million. In Siem Offshore’s
stand-alone financial statements at 31 December 2019, the reported obligation for SIOFF01 is NOK350
million and for the SIOFF02 convertible bond it is NOK760 million. SIOFF01 has a fair value of
NOK350 million and SIOFF02 has a fair value of NOK745.5 million. In the Siem Industries’ financial
statements, the total amount outstanding is less than whole amount of the SIOFF02 convertible bond
obligation because of the Company’s purchases of SIOFF02 which are considered to be debt buybacks in
consolidation. For the Company’s consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2019, the fair value
for SIOFF01 bonds is NOK350 million, or $39.9 million, and for SIOFF02 convertible bonds is
NOK136.9 million, or $15.6 million.
Siem Investments established Day OCV Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned Singapore company, for the
purpose to acquire ownership of the “Siem Day”, an offshore subsea construction vessel (“OSCV”),
following an agreement reached with the owner and the Export-Import Bank of Malaysia Berhad (“Ex-Im
Bank”). Day OCV held an irrevocable right to put the vessel back to the original owners who would
deliver the vessel to the bank. Following the prolonged downturn in the OSV sector, in December 2019
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Day OCV concluded and signed a Debt Settlement Agreement with Ex-Im Bank. The agreement was
executed in January 2020, and at the same time Day OCV Pte. Ltd. signed a Memorandum of
Agreement (“MOA”) with SOSI to sell “Siem Day” to Siem Oil Service Invest AS, a wholly owned
subsidiary of SOSI. The gain from the debt settlement agreement was $36.3 million.
The reconciliation of net debt for the years ended 31 December are shown below:
(in thousands)

2019

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, liquid investments
Borrowings, repayable within one year
Borrowings, repayable after one year
Net debt at 31 December
Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, liquid investments
Gross debt – fixed interest rates
Gross debt – variable interest rates
Net debt at 31 December

2018

$

204,158
(181,260)
(1,421,260)

$

242,057
(136,080)
(1,444,453)

$

(1,398,362)

$ (1,338,476)

$

204,158
(428,360)
(1,174,160)

$

$

(1,398,362)

$ (1,338,476)

242,057
(328,407)
(1,252,126)

The activity in long-term debt during the fiscal years ended 31 December is presented below:
(in thousands)

2019
Long term debt

Balance 1 January
Drawdowns
Repayment and buybacks
Total cash movements:
Amortization of financial liability:
Currency exchange (gains) losses:
Gains on refinancing of debt:
Amortization of financing fees:
Reclassification of loans to Discontinued
Operations:
Other:
Total non-cash movements:

$

Long term debt, 31 December 2019:

$

1,580,533
183,278
(178,940)
4,338
21,629
(5,887)

2018
Financial lease

$

57,117
612
(11,100)
(10,488)

Long term debt

$

1,642
2,733
(2,468)
17,649
1,602,520

1,933,400
62,701
(316,914)
(254,213)
33,698
(17,774)
(17,723)
3,135
(82,659)
(17,331)
(98,654)

(6,006)
(6,006)
$

40,623

$

1,580,533

(9) INCOME TAXES
The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and, as such, is not subject to income taxes in
that jurisdiction. Income taxes have been provided based upon the tax laws and rates in the countries in
which operations are conducted and income is earned. There is no expected relationship between the
provision or benefit from income taxes and income or loss before income taxes because the countries
have taxation regimes that vary not only with respect to nominal rate, but also in terms of the availability
of deductions, credits and other benefits. Variations also arise because income earned and taxed in any
particular country or countries may fluctuate from year to year. The tax expense (benefit) for the years
ended 31 December are reflected below:
Tax Expense (Benefit), in thousands

2019

Current
Deferred
Tax expense (benefit)

$

177
(4,919)
$ (4,742)

2018

$

—
(5,064)
$ (5,064)

The Company records its share of the net income (loss) of associates that are net of tax expenses
incurred by each of the associates. In its income statement for 2019, Subsea 7 reported Net loss before
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taxes of $(52.9) million (2018: $216.3 million) and related income tax expense of $29.5 million (2018:
$51.8 million).
Deferred taxes are recorded to recognize temporary differences existing between the tax bases of
assets or liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements using the applicable tax rates
in effect at year-end. The tax effects of temporary differences are recorded as deferred tax assets or
deferred tax liabilities. Deferred tax assets generally represent items that can be used as a tax deduction or
credit in future years. Deferred tax liabilities generally represent items that have been taken as a tax
deduction but have not yet been recorded in the statement of operations. The Company has determined
that it is not probable at this time that certain of the deferred tax assets will be recovered. Therefore, a
valuation allowance has been provided to offset deferred tax assets on net operating losses incurred
during the year in certain jurisdictions where, in the opinion of management, it is more likely than not
that the financial statement benefits will not be realized.
The deferred taxes at 31 December, are reflected below:
(in thousands)

2019

Deferred tax liabilities (assets):
Operating assets
Receivables
Deferred capital gains
Provisions and accruals
Temporary differences
Net operating loss carryforwards
Basis for deferred tax liabilities (assets)
Valuation allowance
Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

2018

$ 121,786
(2,654)
2,919
(76,630)

$ 79,295
(18,354)
(19,115)
17,034

45,421
(999,252)
(953,831)
934,335

58,860
(967,409)
(908,550)
897,660

$ (19,496)

$ (10,890)

A significant portion of the income tax detail presented in the tables above is attributed to Siem
Offshore. With respect to Star Reefers, tax losses in Norway can be carried forward indefinitely.

Siem Offshore —The deferred taxes at 31 December are shown below:
(in thousands)

2019

2018

Deferred tax liabilities (assets):
Operating assets
Participation in limited liability companies
Pension funds and obligations
Other long-term differences

$(5,499)
(2,701)
(476)
—

$(31,149)
(2,701)
(1,811)
—

Net temporary differences
Net operating loss carryforwards
Basis for deferred tax liabilities (assets)

(8,676)
(42,601)
$(51,277)

(35,661)
(30,557)
$ (66,218)

Deferred tax asset:
Norway
Holland

$ (9,521)
(800)

$ (7,825)
(3,065)

Net deferred tax liabilities (assets)

$(10,321)

$ (10,890)

Siem Offshore has recorded $10.3 million of deferred tax assets at end of 2019, which it believes are
probable of recovery and utilized through future earnings.
The Company has received assurances from the Cayman Islands government that, in the event that
any legislation is enacted in the Cayman Islands imposing taxes on profit or income, taxes on capital
assets, either gain or appreciation, or any taxes in the nature of estate duties or inheritance taxes, such tax
shall not be applicable to the Company or to any of its operations or to the shares or other obligations of
the Company. Consequently, under present law, there will be no Cayman Islands tax consequences
affecting distributions.
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(10) OPERATING REVENUES AND EXPENSES
Operating revenues consist of freight revenues on a time charter basis from voyage charters, time
and bareboat charters, pool arrangements, finance lease arrangements, property rentals and other are
presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Operating revenues:
Offshore Support vessels
Reefer vessels and Car Carriers
Potash-mining operations
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling
Other

$ 273,686
269,082
55,299
24,246
28,316
(3,468)

$ 277,273
183,406
60,784
13,729
28,384
2,080

Operating revenues

$ 647,160

$ 565,656

Ship operating expenses are a component of operating expenses and include crew payroll, spares
parts, maintenance and repair, lube oil and consumables, and other related expenses. Operating expenses
are presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Operating expenses:
Vessel operating and crew expenses
Time charter expenses
Potash-mining operations
Other
Operating expenses

(11)

$ 295,561
90,436
40,383
95
$ 426,475

$ 255,114
73,416
47,145
(130)
$ 375,545

FINANCE AND OPERATING LEASES

Lease Arrangements as Lessor
At year-end 2019, the Company had 6 lease arrangements as lessor entered into by Seven Yield, of
which four were classified as finance leases and two were classified as operating leases, and Other
operating lease arrangements entered into by Siem Offshore and Star Reefers.
Operating Leases as Lessor
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by owner are
classified as operating leases. The leased assets are included in the balance sheet together with other
vessels owned by the Company. Direct costs that are incurred in the establishment of an operating lease
are included in the leased asset’s carrying amount and are expensed over the term of the lease on the
same basis as the corresponding charter hire income.
Finance Leases as Lessor
Leases in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of the ownership of the vessel are
transferred to the charterer are classified as finance leases. At the inception of the lease, the net present
value of the minimum lease payments and any discounted unguaranteed residual value are recognized as
non-current receivable.
Impairment of Finance Lease Receivables as Lessor.
The Company uses the simplified approach when it assesses its finance lease receivables for
impairment This approach requires the Company to recognize a loss allowance based on expected credit
losses at each reporting date.
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Total operating lease revenue and finance lease revenue for the Company as a lessor are presented
below:
(in thousands)

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

Operating lease revenue:
Ordinary operating lease revenue
Contingent charter hire
Mobilization fee, advances and deferred revenue
Total operating lease revenue

10,999
—
—
$ 10,999

12,164
—
—
$ 12,164

Finance lease revenue:
Ordinary finance lease revenue
Contingent charter hire
Mobilization fee, advances and deferred revenue
Total finance lease revenue

8,015
—
—
$ 8,015

4,435
—
—
$ 4,435

Operating Leases.
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease
arrangements as a lessor is as follows as per 31 December 2019:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Total operating lease payments:
Within 1 year
After 1 year but before 5 years
After 5 years
Total operating lease payments:

220,237
489,677
6,328
$ 716,242

219,064
501,594
19,766
$ 740,424

Finance Leases. Future minimum lease payments under finance lease arrangements as a lessor as per
31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018:

(in thousands)

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

Gross finance lease receivable
Within 1 year
After 1 year but before 5 years
After 5 years
Unguaranteed residual value
Gross finance lease receivable
Unearned finance income
Total finance lease receivable

19,188
93,702
81,207
—
194,097
(42,125)
$ 151,972

12,765
77,934
46,343
—
137,042
(30,546)
$ 106,495

11,169
71,853
68,950
—

6,881
61,024
38,589
—

$ 151,972

$ 106,495

Within 1 year
After 1 year but before 5 years
After 5 years
Unguaranteed residual values
Total finance lease receivable

Short-term lease receivables $11,169,000 and $6,881,000 are included in “Notes, loans, finance lease and
other receivables” in current assets for 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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Operating Leases as Lessor
Charter-hire payments to third parties for certain contracted-in vessels are accounted for as operating
leases. The charter expense and future minimum lease payments under Star Reefer’s non-cancelable
operating leases are presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Charter expenses:
Time charter expenses, see Note 10
Other
Total charter expenses
Minimum lease payments
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total minimum lease payments

90,436
—
$ 90,436

73,416
2,077
$ 75,493

31,108
46,615
24,974
4,388
—
$ 113,085

67,522
61,536
52,369
24,974
4,388
$ 210,789

Lease commitments as Lessee
For Star Reefers, the total undiscounted future minimum lease payments which includes both lease
and service elements at 31 December 2019 for the time charter expenses were $113,085,000 (2018:
$201,122,000) and the net present value of the future minimum lease payments was $98,035,000 (2018:
$180,707,000) using a 5% discount rate. The comparative future minimum lease payments and related
net present value for 2018 were $201,122,000 and $180,707,000, respectively.
For Siem Offshore, the total undiscounted future minimum lease payments were $7,488,000 and
the net present value of the future minimum lease payments was $6,890,000 using a 5% discount rate.
The comparative future minimum lease payments and related net present value for 2018 were
$9,667,000 and $8,637,000, respectively.
The Group charters out the vessels to internationally recognised companies within the shipping
industry through its subsidiary Seven Yield Holding Pte. Ltd which engages in maritime lease financing.
(12) GAINS (LOSSES) FROM INVESTMENTS AND SALES OF PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
A summary of the net gains (losses) related to the Company’s investments and the sales of property
and equipment is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Gains (losses) on investments, net:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, see Note 4
Notes, loans and other receivables, see Note 4
Sales of vessels, property and other
Gain (loss) on buyback and de-recognition of Siem Offshore public bonds
acquired by Company, see Notes 8
Gain on refinancing of Siem Offshore public bonds
Gain from debt settlement agreement – See note 8
Other
Gains (losses) on investments and other assets, net
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(732)
(980)
(2,779)

916
2,752
249

211
—
36,346
(5,421)
$ 26,645

6,893
17,723
—
(12,473)
$ 16,060
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(13)

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION
A summary of the depreciation and amortization is presented below:
Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Depreciation and amortization:
Depreciation, see Note 6
Amortization, drydock and other, see Note 7
Amortization, intangibles and other

$ 143,231
12,075
59

$126,855
11,340
—

Depreciation and amortization

$ 155,367

$138,195

(14) PERFORMANCE UNIT PLAN
A summary of the performance unit awards which have been granted and are currently outstanding
is presented below:
No. of Performance Units Awarded and Outstanding
Granted June 2005
Granted April 2007
at $48.21 per Unit
at $128.00 per Unit

Name

Kristian Siem
M.D. Moross
Barry W. Ridings
Ivar Siem

115,000
7,000
7,000
—

—
—
—
28,000

Performance units have been awarded pursuant to provisions of the Company's 2005 Performance
Unit Plan (the “2005 Plan”), as amended, by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
The Company may elect to make payments in either cash or Common Shares. If the Company
makes payment in Common Shares and there is no liquid market for such shares, then the Company is
obligated either to provide a market for the Common Shares within 9 months of the new share issue or
to redeem or purchase the Common Shares for the cash amount that would have been paid had the
original payment been made in cash.
The 2005 Plan expired on 31 December 2014 and no additional performance units can be granted.
The Compensation Committee will continue to administer the outstanding units until such units are
converted into Common Shares, redeemed for cash at the option of the Compensation Committee or
forfeited.
The Company will continue to record compensation expense with respect to the Plan with respect to
the remaining outstanding units. This expense is determined using the number of units which have
vested and the higher of the market value of Common Shares as traded on a regulated exchange or 80%
of the adjusted net asset value per Common Share at the end of the reporting period. During 2019, the
Company reversed previously recorded compensation liability with the reversal recorded against
compensation expense in the amount of $(554,000) in general and administrative expenses. During
2018, the Company reversed previously recorded compensation liability with the reversal recorded
against compensation expense in the amount of $(2,229,000).
An aggregate 24,975 units granted under the 2005 Plan have been forfeited.
(15) PENSION PLANS
Siem Offshore maintains a defined benefit pension plan for its employees in Norway. Benefits under
the defined benefit pension plans are based primarily on the participant’s age, years of service and level of
compensation at the assumed time of retirement. Siem Offshore’s costs are shown below for the years
ended 31 December:
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Components of Pension Cost (in thousands)

2019

Service cost
Interest expense on pension liabilities
Expected return on plan assets
Social contribution and administrative expenses
Impact of curtailment/settlement
Net pension cost (benefit)

1,888
326
(252)
183
(1,042)
$ 1,103

The development in the benefit obligation is as follows (in thousands)

2019

At January 1
Present value of current years benefit earned
Interest expense
Effect of settlement
Payroll tax of employer contribution, assets
Benefits paid
Remeasurement loss (gain)
Exchange differences
At December 31

(12,638)
(1,888)
(326)
6,669
246
497
635
69
$ (6,536)

The development in the fair value of plan assets is as follows (in thousands)

At January 1
Expected return on plan assets
Effect of settlement
Employer’s contribution
Payroll tax of employer contribution, assets
Benefits paid
Remeasurement loss (gain)
Exchange differences
At December 31

2019

10,928
252
(6,022)
1,992
(246)
(497)
(285)
(64)
$ 6,059

Status of Plan Funding (in thousands)

Fair value of plan assets
Estimated defined benefit obligation
Net pension plan assets (obligations)
Unrecognized actuarial gains (losses)
Net pension plan assets (obligations)

2018

1,956
296
(225)
280
(393)
$ 1,914

2018

(12,900)
(1,956)
(296)
—
—
699
573
1,242
$ (12,638)

2018

11,063
225
—
1,933
—
(425)
(727)
(1,141)
$ 10,928

2019

2018

6,059
(6,536)
$ (477)
—
$ (477)

10,928
(12,638)
$ (1,710)
(21)
$ (1,731)

Siem Shipowning’s wholly-owned U.K. subsidiary, Siem Shipping UK, maintains a defined
contribution pension plan that covered 21 employees in 2019 and 22 employees in 2018. Under this
plan, Siem Shipping UK contributes a fixed percentage of the employee’s base salary. The percentage is
dependent on the number of years employed and the employee’s position within the company. Total
contributions are recorded as general and administrative expenses when incurred and were
approximately $169,000 and $179,000 for 2019 and 2018, respectively.
Certain information concerning pension assets and benefit obligations related to foreign subsidiaries
has not been presented since the information is not readily available and is immaterial.
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(16) LEASES
Effect related to implementation of IFRS 16 Leases
The impact on the Consolidated Balance Sheet at the date of implementation was as follows (see table
below):
At 1 January 2019 (in USD millions)
2019
At 1 January 2019 (in USD thousands)

Right-of-use assets
Lease liabilities
Other provisions

IFRS 16

2018
Previous IFRS

80,675
(80,675)
—

Impact

—
—
—

80,675
(80,675)
—

On initial implementation of IFRS 16, the management opted to apply practical expedients and has:
-applied the requirements of IFRS 16 to all contracts previously identified as leases under IAS 17
“Leases”
- excluded initial direct costs from measurement of the right-of-use asset
- applied discount rates on a portfolio basis where leases are similar in nature and have similar
remaining lease terms
- relied upon the previous assessment of whether a lease is onerous as an alternative to performing
an impairment review. Where applicable the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset was adjusted
by the carrying amount of the onerous lease provisions. There was no reduction in the right-of-use
asset recognized in implementation.
- applied the short-term lease excemption to all leases with duration which terminate within 12
months of the implementation date, with the exception of vessel leases which at inception were
greater than 12 months, which are in substance long-term agreements, and
- payments related to leases are presented as financing cash flows, representing payments of
principal and interest in the Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
The following table represents the reconciliation of lease liabilities as of 1 January 2019
As of 1 January 2019 (in USD thousands)

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018:
Operating lease commitments at 31 December – operating expenditure portion
Recognition excemption for short-term and low-value leases
Effect of discounting at the incremental borrowing rates as of 1 January 2019
Liability from leases as of 1 January 2019

$ 211,018
(120,566)
(9,777)
$ 80,675)

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to Right of use assets and Lease liability as of 1
January 2019 :
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

Right of Use Asset at 1 January 2019:
Additions in 2019:
This year’s depreciation:
The year’s impairment:
Remeasurement renegotiated lease-term 31 December :
Right-of-Use assets at 31 December 2019 :
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$
$
$

80,675
943
(25,122)
(5,000)
(6,006)
45,490
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Concolidated Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

Lease liability at 1 January 2019:
Additions in 2019:
Lease payments
Interest cost
Remeasurement renegotiated lease term 31 December:
Lease liability at 31 December 2019 :

$

$

80,675
612
(29,294)
4,297
(6,006)
50,284

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

31 December 2019

Right of use assets
Land and buildings
Vessels and equipment
Total Right of use assets

$

47,412
2,872

$

77,529
3,146

$

50,284

$

80,675

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (in thousands)

31 December 2019

Lease liabilities
Current:
Non-Current:
Lease liability at 31 December 2019 :

1 January 2019

1 January 2019

1,672
7,989
$ 9,661

23,558
57,117
$ 80,675

Amounts recognized in the statement of profit and loss:
Consolidated Income Statement (in thousands)

2019

Operating expenses:
Administrative expenses:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment:
Interest expenses:
Net effect:

$

$

(26,843)
(1,013)
25,222
5,000
4,297
6,663

Amounts recognized in the statement of cash flows:
Consolidated Income Statement (in thousands)

2019

Total cash outflows for leases:

$

(27,856)

Net effect :

$

(27,856)

The net profit after tax have decreased by approximately $6.7 million for 2019 as a result of
adopting the new rules. Operating margin has increased by approximately $27.9 million, as the
operating lease payments were previously included in operating margin, but the amortization of the rightto-use assets and interest on the lease liability are now recorded in finance items.
Operating cash flows have increased and financing cash flows decreased by approximately $23.6
million as repayment of the principal portion of the lease liabilities will be classified as cash flows from
financing activities.
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(17) COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company or any of its subsidiaries or associates may become involved in various legal
proceedings during the ordinary course of business. It is the Company’s policy to accrue for amounts
related to these legal matters if it is probable that a liability has been incurred and an amount can be
reasonably estimated. The Company is not aware of any litigation which, in the opinion of management,
is likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company's financial position, results of operations or
cashflows other than as discussed.
The Company initially guaranteed the payment of the Murabaha profit, or interest, for the first 2year period of the Commodity Financing provided by the Ex-Im Bank of Malaysia to Day OCV for the
purpose to acquire the vessel, “Siem Day”, of which the interest were payable from the net proceeds of
the operations after advances for operations and working capital had been recovered. After year-end 2019
SOSI agreed to acquire the vessel “Siem Day” from Day OCV, and as part of the transaction the
guarantee of the Company was cancelled.
The following guarantees and commitments relate to the Company’s subsidiaries and affiliates:
Star Reefers – In 2008, the Company agreed to provide a secondary guarantee of Star Reefers’
charter payments for each of the four vessels in the third series of newbuild reefer vessels delivered to
Star Reefers. The maximum amount of each guarantee which commences upon delivery of the vessel to
Star Reefers is $10,000,000 and reduces by $1,000,000 at the end of each year for the ten-year guarantee
period. Star Reefers has agreed to pay the Company a fee at the rate of 1.5% p.a. on the outstanding
balance of the guarantee. The fee is payable quarterly in advance. At 31 December 2019 an aggregate
liability of USD2,000,000 was outstanding. These secondary guarantees expired on 30 April 2020.
Siem Europe – During 2017 and 2018, Siem Europe provided counter-guarantees and indemnities
to banks and insurers who had provided refund guarantees to owners for contracted instalments on their
newbuilds under construction at the FSG shipyard. At the end of 2019, a total EUR49,682,500 of
counter-guarantees were outstanding of which EUR33,162,500 expires in July 2020. Due to the
termination of one newbuilding contract at FSG with subsequent owner request for refundment under
the refund guarantee, the remaining EUR16,520,000 of counter-guarantees and indemnities was called
by an insurance company.
(18) RISK MANAGEMENT AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
Liquidity Risk – The Company’s liquidity position, leverage and capitalization are presented below as
ratios or metrics for the years ended 31 December:

(in thousands, except for ratios)

2019

Liquidity ratios and metrics:
Net cash provided by operating activities (see Statements of Cash Flows)
Working capital
Current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities)
Quick ratio (current cash plus accounts receivable
plus marketable securities divided by current liabilities)
Leverage and capitalization ratios:
Equity multiplier (total assets divided by total equity)
Debt-to-equity ratio (long-term debt divided by shareholders’ equity)
Debt-to-capitalization ratio (long-term debt divided by
long-term debt plus total equity)
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$(12,937)
$(21,327)
0.95

2018

$212,776
$223,553
1.55

0.46

0.56

2.22
0.81

1.99
0.70

0.45

0.44
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The Company’s current and long-term contractual maturities of financial liabilities are presented
below for the periods shown:
Less than
12 Months

(in thousands)

Accounts payable, other accrued costs
and short-term liabilities
Debt service, comprised of principal maturities
and interest payments

$ 273,278

Total contractual maturities of financial liabilities

Total
Contractual
Maturities

Greater than
12 Months

$

—

$

273,278

229,918

1,437,595

1,667,513

$ 503,196

$ 1,437,595

$ 1,940,791

Based on the information above and its ability to enter into any needed working capital facilities, the
Company believes that it has sufficient liquidity to meet its short-term obligations during 2020.
Foreign Exchange Risk — The nature of the operations conducted by the Company exposes the
Company to foreign exchange risk. This risk is primarily associated with compensation costs and
purchases from suppliers that are denominated in currencies other than the USD. Gains and losses on
foreign exchange derivative instruments which do not qualify as hedges for accounting purposes are
recognized based on the change in the market value of the derivative instruments.
The Company has on occasion purchased foreign exchange contracts with contracts terms less than
12 months to protect against the adverse effects of exchange rate fluctuations. These derivatives did not
meet the strict guidelines to qualify for hedge accounting and the gains and losses on both the derivatives
and the existing foreign currency-denominated assets and liabilities were recorded as currency gains or
losses in the statements of operations.
Several subsidiaries of the Company operate in industries in which a majority of its transactions are
denominated in USD, whether such activity involves revenues or operating expenses or assets or
liabilities. The management of each individual subsidiary is responsible for monitoring its foreign
currency risks, and enters into currency derivative contracts from time to time to manage their foreign
currency exposure mainly related to EUR, NOK and GBP.
Siem Offshore has entered into cross currency swaps for the purpose to hedge both interest and
principal payments on long-term financings that are denominated in currencies other than the USD.
Interest Rate Risk — The Company’s use of debt exposes the Company to risks of adverse interest rate
development. Floating rate debt, in which the interest rate can change from one interest period to the
next in periods as short as one month, exposes the Company to short-term changes in market interest
rates. Fixed rate debt, in which the interest rate is fixed over the life of the facility, exposes the Company
to changes in market interest rates if the Company should decide to refinance maturing debt with new
debt.
The subsidiaries of the Company may, from time to time, use interest rate swap agreements to
manage the effect of interest rate changes on future income. These derivatives are used as a hedge of
underlying future interest payments and are not used for speculative or trading purposes. The agreements
involve the exchange of amounts based on variable interest rates and amounts based on a fixed interest
rate over the life of the agreement without an exchange of the notional amount upon which the
payments are based. The interest rate differential to be paid or to be received on the swaps is recognized
over the lives of the swaps as an adjustment to interest expense. The agreements are adjusted to market at
each reporting date.
The major risks in using interest rate derivatives include changes in interest rates that affect the value
of such instruments, potential increases in the interest expense of the Company due to market increases
in floating interest rates in the case of derivatives which exchange fixed interest rates for floating interest
rates and the creditworthiness of the counterparties in such transactions.
The Company’s long-term debt and notes payable are presented in sufficient detail in Note 8 to
provide an indication of the Company’s sensitivity to interest rate changes.
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Credit Risk — Credit risk is managed on an entity basis. Each entity is responsible for managing and
analyzing the credit risk for their new and existing customers. Credit risk arises from cash and cash
equivalents, derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks and other financial institutions as
well as to customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. Management does
not expect any losses from nonperformance by its counterparties at this time.
Bunker Hedging —Star Reefers and Siem Shipowning may at times be exposed to price fluctuations in
the purchase of bunker fuel for vessels. Star Reefers is exposed to the spot market, however the fixed
business is either covered by a bunker adjustment factor (BAF) clause in the contracts or is under timecharter where there is no exposure to bunkering costs. All of Siem Shipowning fixed business is either
covered by a BAF or is time-charter business where there is no exposure to bunker prices. The exposure
to fluctuations in bunker prices for both Companies are limited to the voyage charters, where the bunker
expenses are for the account of the Star Reefers or Siem Shipowning. Star Reefers’ and Siem
Shipowning’s management have been authorized by its board of directors to enter into bunker hedge
contracts if considered necessary but the low bunker prices in the recent past has eliminated the need for
such activity.
Capital Management — The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Company’s ability to continue as a going-concern in order to provide returns for its shareholders, to
provide benefits to its stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital. Further objectives include safeguarding the ability of its subsidiaries and associates as goingconcerns to an extent that is both reasonable and prudent.
(19) RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Subsea 7 — Subsea 7 makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director fees for
the services provided by Mr. Siem as its chairman and reimbursements of expenses for office, travel and
communication.
Siem Offshore — Siem Offshore makes payments to the Company in relation to chairman and director
fees for the services provided by Messrs. Siem and Delouche and for consultation on financings and
corporate development and reimbursements of expenses for office, travel and communication.
Star Reefers — Star Reefers makes payments to the Company in relation to the chairman and director
fees for the services provided by Messrs. Siem and Delouche and for consultation on financings and
corporate development and reimbursements of expenses for office, travel and communication.
Siem Shipowning — Siem Shipowning similarly makes payments to the Company in relation to the
chairman and director fees for the services provided by Messrs. Siem and Delouche and for consultation
on financings and corporate development and reimbursements of expenses for office, travel and
communication.
Compensation of Directors and Officers — The Company recorded aggregate fees or compensation for
the services of its directors and officers during fiscal years 2019 and 2018 of approximately $1.1 million
and $1.1 million, respectively. Directors are entitled to a director’s fee of $18,000 per annum and
reimbursements of expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. Specific agreements for the services of
certain other directors and officers are as follows:
Management Services Agreement, Years 2015-2019 — A 5-year MSA was agreed between the
Company and a separate management company. The management company has procured the services of
Mr. Siem who has continued as Chairman. The MSA requires the Chairman to devote a minimum 50%
of his professional time, skill and labor to perform his duties for, and promote the interests of, the
Company. The annual compensation consists of a base compensation in the amount of $600,000- plus
additional compensation equal to 5% of the audited net income in excess of $5 million.
The fees payable under the MSA for 2019 and 2018 were $600,000- and $600,000-, respectively.
Management Services Agreement — Mr. Delouche is seconded to the Company under a separate
management services agreement which provides for reimbursement for certain compensation and office
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expenses incurred by him. The regular compensation reimbursements for fiscal years 2019 and 2018
were approximately $395,000 and $395,000, respectively.
Notes Payable to Shareholder – Mr. Siem, the Company’s Chairman and the largest individual
owner of the Company’s shares had a loan outstanding to the Company at the end of 2018 for
NOK232,000,000- plus accrued interest, or approximately the equivalent of $27,035,000-. The proceeds
from the loans were combined with available internal cash to acquire SIOFF02 convertible bonds in the
market at a discount. The interest rate on the loan 2.5% p.a. This loan amount was fully-repaid in early
February 2019.
In early August 2019, Mr. Siem advanced a EUR5,000,000 loan to the Company which was repaid
in early December 2019. The interest rate on the loan was 1.25%.
A summary of receivables and payables with associates and other related parties at 31 December is
presented below:
(in thousands)

2019

2018

Due from (to) associates and other related parties:
Loan and accrued interest payable
Net fees payable in relation to MSA and other

$

(2,755) $
(4,653) $

(27,035)
(4,017)

Total due from (to) associates and other related parties

$

(7,408) $

(31,052)

(20) CAPITALIZATION AND CAPITAL ACCOUNTS
The Company purchases Common Shares from time to time from its shareholders who have offered
to sell such shares to the Company. Any Common Shares that are purchased by the Company are retired
and cancelled. The Company have not purchased any Common Shares during 2019. During 2018,
66,367 Common Shares were offered to, and purchased by, the Company at an average price of $59.86
per share.
The Board of Directors will, on occasion, declare an extraordinary dividend. The Directors last
declared and paid extraordinary dividends of $0.20 per Common Share in May 2015.
(21) DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS — ASSETS HELD-FOR-SALE
During 2018, FSG sustained significant cost overruns in its construction of vessels. The losses
eliminated FSG’s equity and it was necessary to recapitalize the shipyard. At the end of 2018, the
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Siem Europe, entered into an agreement with a third party
company, whose activities are focused on special situation investment opportunities across continental
Europe, Africa, Middle East and Asia, to sell a part of the investment in FSG (the “New Investor”). The
transaction was concluded in February 2019 and the Company’s interest in FSG was reduced from 100%
to 24%. The New Investor made a cash contribution of EUR33 million in exchange for 76% of the
shares of FSG and Siem Europe made a contribution-in-kind where EUR10 million of the revolving
credit facility provided to FSG by Siem Europe in 2018 of EUR64 million was converted to equity.
The Company’s Board of Directors was committed to a sale plan in 2018 involving the loss of
control over FSG by Siem Europe and, consequently, the investment in FSG was classified as a
discontinued operation in the income statement for 2018 and assets held-for-sale in the balance sheet at
31 December 2018. As a result of Siem Europe’s ownership dilution and loss of control, the investment
in FSG is derecognized as of 1 February 2019.
In August 2019 Siem Europe sold its remaining 24%-interest in FSG to the New Investor and recognized
a loss of $10 million, representing the carrying amount of the equity contribution from the
deconsolidation in February 2019. Loss on sale of subsidiary also includes expected credit loss on long
term receivables, commitments and other claims.
In early-2016, the Company had provided loans and advances to BSR of approximately £160 million.
The Company took a more active role and helped reorganize BSR’s operations. By September 2016, all
of the solar parks that had been built by BSR had been sold with the exception of Bradenstoke Solar
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Park, which was one of the largest solar parks in the U.K. Most of the loans and advances made by the
Company had been repaid from the proceeds of the sales. The project loan for the construction of
Bradenstoke Solar Park was refinanced and the principal and accrued interest were rolled into a new
loan. Bradenstoke Solar Park is not one of the Company’s core assets and will be marketed for sale.
Therefore, Bradenstoke Solar Park has been deemed to be discontinued operations and its assets
reclassified to assets held-for-sale in the 2019 and 2018 consolidated balance sheet and its revenues and
expenses recorded as net income (losses) from discontinued operations for 2019 and 2018.
XAct Global was a start-up that commenced its activities in 2017. The purpose of XAct Global was
to develop software to provide inexpensive precise positioning for vessels on the water and rolling
equipment such as cars, trucks, tractors and other on land. The Company provided seed capital to the
start-up. Although progress was made on the product, the progress was insufficient. Further, XAct Global
was not successful in bringing in those industry operators, several of whom had expressed interest, as
participants in the venture. The Company terminated further funding of XAct Global and deemed it to
be discontinued operations and reclassified its net assets to assets held-for-sale in the 2019 and 2018
consolidated balance sheet and its revenues and expenses recorded as net income (losses) from
discontinued operations for 2019 and 2018.
Siem Investments established Day OCV Pte. Ltd., a wholly-owned Singapore company, for the
purpose to acquire ownership of the “Siem Day”, an offshore subsea construction vessel (“OSCV”),
following an agreement reached with the owner and the Export-Import Bank of Malaysia Berhad (“Ex-Im
Bank”). Siem Offshore had sold the vessel, a sister vessel to OSCVs owned by Siem Offshore, to the
owner in the fourth quarter of 2015 who used a loan from the Ex-Im Bank to finance the transaction.
The owner experienced financial difficulties and it was determined that it was in the best interest of all
parties that Day OCV should acquire the “Siem Day”. The price for the vessel was $82.7 million which
was financed by the Ex-Im Bank. Day OCV held an irrevocable right to put the vessel back to the original
owners which would re-deliver the vessel to the bank. The Company provided a guarantee of payment of
interest on the loan for the first 2 years, or an exposure of approximately $6.4 million. As of 31
December 2018, the net losses for the company was $7.6 million and the vessel was idle and due to the
financial difficulties related to the financing of the vessels, it was considered as highly probable that the
vessel will be redelivered to the original owner in 2019. Therefore, Day OCV was deemed to be
discontinued operations and its assets reclassified to assets held-for-sale in the 2018 consolidated balance
sheet and its revenues and expenses recorded as net income (losses) from discontinued operations for
2018. In December 2019 the Siem Investments entered into a debt settlement agreement with Ex-Im
Bank, reducing the loan on the vessel from $82.7 million to $45.5 million, of which $2 million of the
remaining loan is considered as a contingent liability that have to be repaid to Ex-Im Bank if a charter
contract for the vessel for a period of at least 12 months has been entered into.
In January 2020, Siem Day was sold to Siem Day AS, a wholly owned subsidiary of Siem Oil Service
Invest Holdings UK Ltd. of which the Company holds a 20% interest. Therefore, Day OCV Pte. Ltd.
was deemed to be discontinued operations and its assets reclassified to asset held-for-sale in the 2019
consolidated balance sheet and its revenue and expenses recorded as net income (losses) from
discontinued operations in 2019.
The financial performances related to the discontinued operations for 2019 are presented individually
for VSK Holdings, FSG, SOC, Bradenstoke, Day OCV and XAct Global:
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($ in thousands)

FSG

SOC

Bradenstoke

Day
OCV

XAct
Global

Total

Total revenues and operating expenses:
Total revenues
Operating expenses

—
—

—
—

8,964
(5,134)

—
—

—
33

8,964
(5,101)

Operating margin

—

—

3,830

—

(33)

3,863

Other income:
Interest income
Gains (losses) on sale of investments
Other income

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—
—
—

—

—

3,830

—

(33)

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(2,434)
—
—

—
—
—
—

—
(30)
—
—

—
(2,464)
—
—

Total expenses and other

—

—

(2,434)

—

(30)

(2,464)

Income (losses) before taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit

—
—

—
—

1,396
2,858

—
—

(63)
—

1,333
2,858

—
5,260

4,254
—

—
—

(63)

4,191
(128,689)

$ 5,260

$ 4,254

—

$ (63)

(124,497)

Total other income
Expenses and other:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange gains (losses)

Net income (losses) after taxes
from discontinued operations
Gain (loss) on sale of discontinued operations

—
(133,949)

Net income (losses)
from discontinued operations

$

(133,949)

—
—
—

3,863

The financial performances related to the discontinued operations for 2018 are presented
individually for VSK Holdings, FSG, SOC, Bradenstoke, Day OCV and XAct Global:
VSK
Holdings

($ in thousands)

FSG

SOC

Bradenstoke

Day
OCV

XAct
Global

Total
231,665
(301,948)

Total revenues and operating expenses:
Total revenues
Operating expenses

—
—

195,348
(277,581)

14,490
(14,981)

11,630
—

10,165
(9,386)

32
—

Operating margin

—

(82,233)

(492)

11,930

779

32

Other income:
Interest income
Gains (losses) on sale of investments
Other income

—
—
—

—
—
4,781

282
12
—

(5,066)
—
—

110
—
—

—
—
—

(4,674)
12
4,781

294

(5,066)

110

—

118

(1,991)
(3,924)
—
(167)

(8,092)
(16,856)
—
—

(4,429)
(3,976)
(77)
—

(70,283)

Total other income

—

4,781

Expenses and other:
Depreciation and amortization
Interest expense
General and administrative expenses
Currency exchange gains (losses)

—
—
—
—

(2,203)
(2,249)
—
—

Total expenses and other

—

(4,452)

(6,082)

(24,948)

(8,482)

(820)

(44,784)

Income (losses) before taxes
Income tax (expense) benefit

—
—

(81,904)
(2,576)

(6,280)
—

(18,084)
—

(7,593)
—

(788)
—

(114,649)
(2,576)

Net income (losses) after taxes
from discontinued operations
Gain on sale of discontinued operations

—
2,864

(84,480)
—

(6,280)
108,600

(18,084)
—

(7,593)
—

(788)
—

(117,225)
111,464

Net income (losses)
from discontinued operations

2,864

(84,480)

102,320

(18,084)

(7,593)

(788)

$ (5,762)

$
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The assets and liabilities related to the Discontinued Operations for 2019 are presented individually
for VSK Holdings, FSG, SOC, Bradenstoke, Day OCV and XAct Global:
Siem
Offshore

($ in thousands)
Assets:
Cash
Work-in-process, vessels under constr.
Accounts receivable and other
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Notes, loans finance lease and other
Vessels and related equipment, net
Property and equipment, net
Other assets and long-term receivables
Assets held-for-resale
Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued and other
Other accrued costs and short-term liab.
Long-term debt and current maturities
Reserve for impairment
Liabilities directly related to
assets held-for-sale
Net assets held-for-sale

$

Star
Reefers

Bradenstoke

DayOCV

XAct
Global

Total

—
—
—
—
—
715
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
5,566
—
—

435
—
122
1,305
—
—
66,791
2,951

632
—
2,733
—
—
55,000
—
—

69
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

1,136
—
2,855
1,305
—
61,281
66,791
2,951

715

5,566

71,604

58,689

340

136,643

739
44,535
2,000
—

—
31
—
—

1,235
50,302
3,104
74,084
54,641

—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—

496
5,736
1,104
—

—

—

7,336

47,274

31

64,268

11,415

38

715

5,566

$

82,002

The assets and liabilities related to the Discontinued Operations for 2018 are presented individually
for VSK Holdings, FSG, SOC, Bradenstoke, Day OCV and XAct Global:
VSK
Holdings

($ in thousands)

FSG

SOC

Assets:
Cash
$
Work-in-process, vessels under constr.
Accounts receivable and other
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Notes, loans finance lease and other
Vessels and related equipment, net
Property and equipment, net
Other assets and long-term receivables

—
—
—
—
8,222
—
—
—

32,086
61,154
1,074
10,914
61
—
14,584
1,589

Assets held-for-resale

8,222

121,462

16,950

—
36,247
—
—

—
—
—
—

Liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued and other
Other accrued costs and short-term liab.
Long-term debt and current maturities
Reserve for impairment
Liabilities directly related to
assets held-for-sale
Net assets held-for-sale

—
—
—
—
—
$ 8,222

—
—
—
—
—
16,950
—
—

36,247

—

85,215

16,950
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Bradenstoke

DayOCV

XAct
Global

2,898
—
1,401
—
—
—
62,369
—

538
—
5,485
—
—
74,570
—
—

66,669

80,592

340

294,235

113
722
—
—

(86)
3,408
82,660
—

20
—
—
—

47
40,377
82,660
—

835
65,834

85,982
(5,390)

2
—
45
—
—
—
—
293

Total

20
320

35,524
61,154
8,004
10,914
8,283
91,520
76,954
1,882

123,084
$171,151
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(22) CREDIT RISK AND CONCENTRATION RISK
The Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other short term receivables and
asset derivative positions. The derivative counterparties are large established financial institutions, and
the counterparty risk for the asset derivative positions are regarded as limited.
The exposure to credit risk for trade and other short term receivables is measured on an ongoing
basis and credit evaluations are performed for customers identified to be risky. The Company’s debtors
are mainly major oil companies, offshore service companies and European ferry companies, which are
considered to be creditworthy third parties. Historically, the loss percentage has been low but due to the
market development caused by the low oil price, the counterparty risk has increased significantly during
the year. Ongoing provisions are made and, on 31 December 2019, the provision for certain accounts
receivable which may not be paid in full was $2.5 million for the Company (2018: $2.4 million).
However, as shipping markets are volatile, there is no complete protection against potential
counterparty default. Hence, Seven Yield conducts on-going credit reviews annually to monitor each
lessee’s financial performance and compliance with financial covenants (if any). In addition, the payment
conduct of a lessee is monitored on a monthly basis. Seven Yield uses a provision matrix to measure the
lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade and finance lease receivables.
In measuring the expected credit losses, trade receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and days past due. In calculating the expected credit loss rates, Seven Yield considers
historical loss rates for each category of customers and adjusts to reflect current and forward-looking
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables.
These receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, such as a debtor
failing to engage in a repayment plan with Seven Yield. Seven Yield considers a financial asset as in
default (as defined in the relevant contractual agreement) if the counterparty fails to make contractual
payments when they fall due, and writes off the financial asset when a debtor fails to make contractual
payments greater than 120 days past due. Where receivables are written off, the company continues to
engage in enforcement activity to attempt to recover the receivables due. Where recoveries are made,
these are recognised in profit or loss. Further in order to mitigate risk, the underlying lease contracts are
generally structured such that the lessee pay an advance prior or at commencement of contract, implicit
payback period is relatively steep such that book value is comfortably above projected book value during
the duration of the contract and implicit asset value risk is low, purchase obligation or put option close
to scrap at the end of the period is the norm, monthly payment of hire in advance ensures early warning
of credit risk, as well as parent company guarantee's supporting the credit of the contract by covering all
liabilites under each lease agreement, including any purchase obligations. At 31.12.2019, Seven Yield
have assessed the financial assets as performing, counterparties having low risk of default and does not
have any past due amounts.

67

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The tables below present the concentration risks for 2019 and 2018:
2019
(in thousands)
Accounts receivables, 31 December:
1 to 5 largest
6 to 10 largest
Others
Provisions for bad debt

$

42,236
3,060
29,145
(2,479)

Total accounts receivables

$

71,962

(in thousands)
Provisions for bad debt:
Opening balance, 1 January
Realized losses
Reversal of provisions previous years
Provisions current year
Currency translation difference
Total provisions for bad debt

Amount

% of Total
58.7%
4.2%
40.5%

Amount
$

46,858
10,401
20,055
(2,399)

$

74,915

2019
Amount

2018
Amount

$

1,322
0
0
65
(18)

$ 15,149
(7,099)
(6,692)
44
(80)

$

1,369

$

Amount
$

$

58,064
5,142
3,149
5,608
71,962

% of Total
80,7%
7,1%
4.4%
7.8%

62.5%
13.8%
26.7%

1,322

2019
(in thousands)
Aging of Accounts Receivable, 31 Dec:
Not due
Due up to 1 month
Due 1 to 4 months
Due more than 4 months
Total accounts receivables

2018
% of Total

Amount

2018
% of Total

$ 52,624
18,794
2,367
1,130
$ 74,915

70.2%
25.1%
3.2%
1.5%

The carrying amount of the accounts receivables are denominated in the following currencies:
(in thousands)
Currency
USD
NOK
EUR
GBP
CAD
AUD
BRL
PLN
Total accounts receivable

2019
Amount % of Total
40,142
2,416
15,562
3,413
5,015
3,117
2,285
12
71,962
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55.8%
3.4%
21.6%
4.7%
7.0%
4.3%
3.2%
0%

2018
Amount
% of Total
53,331
2,075
8,783
1,243
2,667
4,075
2,737
4
74,915

71.2%
2.8%
11.7%
1.7%
3.6%
5.4%
3.7%
0%
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(23) FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities
as at 31 December 2019:

Carrying
Value

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value (in thousands)
Derivative financial assets:
Foreign exchange forward contracts (NOK-USD)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (GBP-NOK)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (EUR-NOK)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (EUR-USD)
Cross Currency Swaps – NOK-USD
Interest rate swap NOK-USD
Put-Call shares
*)
Listed equity investment (note 5):
Offshore sectors
Non-listed equity instruments (note 4):
Offshore sector
Other sectors
Quoted debt instruments (note 4):
Corporate bonds Offshore sector

Fair Value Measurement Using
Significant
Significant
Quoted Prices Observable Unobservable
in Active Markets Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)

$ 6,000
$ 5,200
$ 61,845
$ 1,319
—
—
$ 7,988

$1,119,163

—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 1,119,163

$ 8,037
$ 50,119

—
—

$ 61,381

Contingent consideration asset (note 21):
Disposal of subsidiary (SOC)

$

$

69

$ 124
$ 33
$ 124
$ 33
—
$ (1,406)
$ 7,988

—

—

$ 8,037
$ 50,119

—
—

61,381

—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—

$

—

—

$

—
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Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value (thousands)
Derivative financial liabilities:
Foreign exchange forward contracts (NOK-USD)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (EUR-USD)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (GBP-USD)
Cross-currency swap (NOK-USD)
Interest rate swaps (NOK-USD)
Conversion right convertible bond
Conversion right exchangeable bond
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (Note ):
Obligation under finance lease contracts
Secured floating rate borrowings (USD)
Unsecured floating rate borrowings (USD)
Unsecured fixed rate bonds (NOK)
Unsecured floating rate bonds (NOK)
Exchangeable bond
Liabilities classified in Discontinued Operations
for which fair values are disclosed (Note )
Loan at amortized cost
Loan at amortized cost

Carrying
Value
$ 15,500
15,500
150
106,934
20,000
2,727
40,950

Fair Value Measurement Using
Significant Significant
Quoted Prices Observable Unobservable
in Active Markets Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$

50,284
1,197.257
34,895
82,362
39,862
256,870

$ 44,535
$ 2,000

$
$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$

(745)
(745)
28
14,973
372
2,727
40,950

—
—
—
—
—
—

50,284
1,197.257
34.895
82,362
40,283
256,870

—
—

$ 44,535
$ 2,000

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$
$

—
—

*) During 2019 the Company entered into several OTC Option structures consisting of sold puts
and bought calls with the underlying being Subsea 7 shares (OSE Symbol: SUBC). All of the option
structures are European, with different maturities and strike prices. For the bought calls the strike prices
are NOK 94 and NOK 103 per SUBC share and for the sold puts the strike prices varies from NOK76 to
NOK90 per SUBC share. In the last trading day of 2019 the SUBC share price closed at NOK104.95.
The Company re-valuates the OTC Option structures at each reporting date according to Black-andScholes pricing model. Fair value of the financial derivatives as of 31 December 2019 are included in the
Financial Statements as a part of Total current assets under the line Financial derivative.
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The following table provides the fair value measurement hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities
as at 31 December 2018:

Carrying
Value

Financial Assets Measured at Fair Value (in thousands)
Derivative financial assets:
Foreign exchange forward contracts (NOK-USD)
Foreign exchange forward contracts (EUR-USD)
Interest rate swaps (NOK-USD)
Listed equity investment (note 5):
Different sectors
Contingent consideration asset (note 21):
Disposal of subsidiary (SOC)

$ 5,000
4,580
175,000

Carrying
Financial Liabilities Measured at Fair Value (thousands)
Value
Derivative financial liabilities:
Foreign exchange forward contracts (NOK-USD) $ 15,500
Foreign exchange forward contracts (GBP-USD)
150
Cross-currency swap (NOK-USD)
106,934
Interest rate swaps (NOK-USD)
20,000
Conversion right convertible bond
2,727
Conversion right exchangeable bond
40,950
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed (Note ):
Secured floating rate borrowings (USD)
$ 1,174,794
Unsecured floating rate borrowings (USD)
35,426
Unsecured fixed rate bonds (NOK)
82,236
Unsecured floating rate bonds (NOK)
40,283
Exchangeable bond
247,793
Liabilities classified in Discontinued Operations
for which fair values are disclosed (Note )
Loan at amortized cost
$ 82,660

Fair Value Measurement Using
Significant Significant
Quoted Prices Observable Unobservable
in Active Markets Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$

—
—
—

$

124
33
3,760

$

—
—

—

$

—

$ 10,104

$

—

$

—

$ 26,401

$

—

Fair Value Measurement Using
Significant Significant
Quoted Prices Observable Unobservable
in Active Markets Inputs
Inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(Level 3)
$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

$

(745)
28
14,973
372
2,727
40,950

$

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

$ 1,174,794 $
35,426
82,236
40,283
247,793

—
—
—
—
—

—

$

—

82,660 $

(24) CASH FLOW INTEREST RISK AND FAIR VALUE
The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, which may affect the Company’s financial
results. These risks are mainly related to the Company’s long term borrowings with floating interest rates.
Further details of the Company’s borrowings are set out in Note 8. The Company has no significant
interest-bearing assets other than cash and cash equivalents and therefore the Company’s income and
operating cash flows are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. Cash and cash
equivalents are invested for short maturity periods, generally from 1 day to 3 months, which mitigates
some of the potential interest rate risk.
The following sensitivity tables for 2019 and 2018 demonstrate the impact on the Company’s profit
(loss) before tax and equity from a potential shift in interest rates, all other variables held constant:
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At 31 December 2019
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

-1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

Carrying
Amount
$191,341

$(1,913)

$(1,913)

(1,913)

(1,913)

1,913

1,913

$ 17,989

$ 17,989

$ (17,989)

$(17,989)

7,034

7,034

(7,038)

(7,038)

Impact on financial assets
before taxes
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings

$1,798,921

Impact on financial liabilities
before taxes
Total increase (decrease)
before taxes

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$5,121

$5,121

-1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

Carrying
Amount
$231,953

Impact on financial assets
before taxes
Financial liabilities:
Borrrowings

+1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

$1,580,533

Impact on financial liabilities
before taxes
Total increase (decrease)
before taxes
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$1,913

$(5,125)

$1,913

$(5,125)

+1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

$(1,512)

$(1,512)

$1,512

$1,512

(1,512)

(1,512)

1,512

1,512

$9,104

$9,104

$(10,071)

4,269

4,269

(4,540)

$2,758

$2,758

$(3,029)

$(10,071)
(4,540)

$(3,029)
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The following sensitivity tables demonstrate the impact on the Company’s profit before tax and
equity from a potential shift in interest rates, all other variables held constant, but which now include the
cash and cash equivalents and the borrowings classified as noncurrent assets-held-for-sale:

At 31 December 2019
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

-1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

Carrying
Amount
$192.477

Impact on financial assets
before taxes
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings

$1,845,456

Impact on financial liabilities
before taxes

Total increase (decrease)
before taxes

At 31 December 2018
Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

$(1,925)

$1,925

$1,925

(1,531)

(1,531)

1,531

1,531

$18.455

$18.455

$(18,455)

$(18.455)

$18,455

$18,455

$(18,455)

$(18,455)

-1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

$267,476

Impact on financial assets
before taxes
Financial liabilities:
Borrowings

$(1,925)

16,924 $ 16,924 $

Carrying
Amount

$1,662,533

+1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

(16,924) $

(16,924)

+1% Movement
Profit
(Loss)
Equity

$(1,867)

$(1,867) $

1,867

$1,867

$(1,867)

$(1,867) $

1,867

$1,867

$10,625

$10,625

$(10,892)

$(10,892)

Impact on financial liabilities
before taxes

$5,098

$5,098

$(5,365)

$ (5,365)

Total increase (decrease)
before taxes

$3,231

$3,231

$(3,498)

$(3,498)

(25) FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES
The Company’s financial assets are classified as assets at fair value through profit and loss and
amortised cost. Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities at fair value through profit and loss and
amortised cost. For further information about the categorization under IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
and changes from IAS 39 Financial Instruments, see Note 2.
The value of forward exchange contracts is set by comparing forward exchange rate and the rate on
the reporting date. The Company’s following financial instruments are not evaluated at fair value:
accounts receivable, cash and cash equivalents, other short-term receivables, accounts payable and longterm liabilities with floating interest.
Because of the short term to maturity, the value of cash and cash equivalents entered into the
Statements of Financial Position is almost the same as the fair value of these. Accordingly, the values of
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accounts receivable and accounts payables are almost the same as their fair values since they are entered
on “normal” conditions.
The fair value of the Company’s non-current liabilities subjected to fixed interest rates is calculated
by comparing the Company’s terms and market terms for liabilities with the same terms to maturity and
credit risk.
The following tables display the book value and the fair value of financial assets and obligations:

2019
(thousand USD)

Financial assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable
79,915
Accrued interest receivables
Trading Securities
Derivative financial instruments
Notes, loans, and other receivables
Non-Current asset held for sale
Restricted cash
Investment in associates
Other long term receivables
Total financial assets

$

Book Value

Fair Value

121,932
71,962

121,932
71,962

0
12,818
11,939
218,834
136,643
69,409
1,177,319
145,266

142,623
74,915

136,666

0
12,818
11.939
218,834
134,107
66,873
1,177,319
145,266

1,603
1,603
10,104
10,104
0
0
171,893
171,893
294,235
294,235
89,330
95,287
1,176,757 1,176,757
63,178
63,178

$ 1,966,122 $ 1,961,050

$2,024,638 2,029.638

Financial liabilities:
Accounts payable
$ 64,492
Other current liabilities
89,435
Borrowings
1,744,471
Derivative financial instruments
18,617
CIRR loan
54,450
Other noncurrent liabilities
115,918
Net liabilities directly related to asset-held-for sale
54,642
Total liabilities

2018
Book Value
Fair Value

64,492
89,435
1,717,570
18,617
51,914
115,918
54,642

68,144
68,144
38,396
38,396
1,581,533 1,587,461
41,468
41,468
68,730
74,687
45,691 145,691
123,084
123,084

$ 2,142,025 $ 2,112,588 $ 2,067,046
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(26) SEGMENT INFORMATION
Primary Reporting Format – Operating Segments. For purposes of operating segment reporting, the
Company has segregated its operations into Offshore Support Vessels, Reefer Vessels and Car Carriers,
Cable-lay for Offshore Wind Farms (OWF), Scientific Core-Drilling, Shipbuilding, Potash-Mining and
Corporate and Other:

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Operating revenue by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Operating revenue from continuing operations
Revenue from discontinued operations

$ 302,032
238,140
55,298
15,358
28,316
--639,144
231,633

$ 277,273
183,406
60,784
13,729
28,384
630
564,206
231,633

Revenue from continuing and discontinued operations

$ 797,289

$ 797,289

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Depreciation and amortization by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Depreciation and amortization from continuing operations
Depreciation and amortization from discontinued operations
Depreciation and amortization from continuing/discontinued operations

$ 104,672 $
33,146
7,331
4,717
3,564
1,937

103,930
16,646
7,680
4,176
4,208
1,554

155,367

138,195

1,991

16,715

$ 157,358

$

154,909

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Impairment by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Siem Europe
Impairment from continuing operations
Impairment from discontinued operations
Impairment from continuing and discontinued operations
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$ 75,564
5,000
—
—
—
—
—
80,564
—
$ 80,564

$ 57,577
26,582
(16,682)
—
—
(50)
—
67,527
—
$ 67,527
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Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Operating margin by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Operating margin from continuing operations
Operating margin from discontinued operations
Operating margin from continuing and discontinued operations

$ 114,107
53,544
14,915
13,743
16,406
(45)
212,670
3,863
$ 216,533

$ 100,947
23,322
13,721
13,608
14,937
15,577
190,111
(72,993)
$ 117,118

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Capital expenditures by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Capital expenditures from continuing operations
Capital expenditures from discontinued operations
Capital expenditures from continuing and discontinued operations

$ 35,667
—
9,911
126,719
12
—
172,308
—
$172,308

$

6,969
12,024
6,960
197,183
—
29
223,064
—
$ 223,064

Year Ended 31 December
2019
2018

(in thousands)

Book value for tangible assets, including
assets held-for-sale, by business area:
Offshore support vessels
Reefer vessels and car carriers
Potash-mining
RoRo vessels
Scientific core-drilling vessel
Corporate and other
Capital expenditures from continuing operations
Capital expenditures from discontinued operations
Capital expenditures from continuing and discontinued operations

$ 1,280,534
324,927
53,108
240,663
13,235
563
1,913,030
121,414
$2,034,444

$ 1,439,010
203,057
50,397
254,888
16,787
595
1,964,734
—
$ 1,964,734

Geographical Segments. The Company business operations are worldwide with constantly changing
geographical markets. Therefore, a presentation is not included.
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(27) SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
-

The COVID-19 pandemic and dramatic and unprecedented drop in the oil prices and global
demand for oil, as well as sudden stop in general consumer demand and trade, has influenced
operations and outlook of the Company's subsidiaries and investments compared to year end
2019. The Company is pro-actively handling the situation through all levels of its organization
to ensure safety of its personnel and minimal disruption of operations.

-

Fluctuations in the share price of Subsea 7 will highly influence the fair market value of the
exchange right incorporated into the exchangeable bond. In the first half of 2020 a gain will be
reflected from the reduction of fair value of conversion right.

-

After year-end 2019, SOSI agreed to acquire the vessel "Siem Day" from Day OCV.

-

In March 2020, Seven Yield signed a Japanese Operating Lease with Call Option (“JOLCO”)
for the two LNG PCTCs "Siem Confucius" and "Siem Aristotle”.

-

The newbuild RoRo MV "Liekut" was delivered from FSG to Seven Yield in March 2020.

-

In December 2019, the Company entered into an agreement to sell its 44%-interest investment
in Venn Partners. The financial close of the transaction was conditional upon formal approval
from the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) of UK and the UK government related to the
PRS Housing Guarantee scheme managed by Venn Partners. This formal approval was received
in March 2020, and the transaction concluded.

-

In April 2020, FSG filed for provisional self-administration with the local court in Flensburg.
The Company has provided construction funding to FSG and is in discussions with the
custodian of the estate in order to find a viable way forward for the ship yard.

-

In May 2020, The Company acquired a total of 1,270,000 shares in Subsea 7, related to the
exercise of two put option legs entered into in 2019. Following the share acquisition, the
Company holds 72,982,977 shares in Subsea 7 or the equivalent of 24.33% of the Subsea 7
share capital.

-

In May 2020, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement with its secured lenders in Europe and
Norway for a standstill agreement for the period from 29 May 2020 until 30 April 2021. The
terms of the agreement included 100% deferral of principal and interest until the end of the
standstill period, as well as waiver of financial covenants. The standstill agreement is conditional
upon Siem Offshore reaching standstill agreements with the secured lenders in Brazil and
Canada and the bondholders of SIOFF01 and SIOFF02, which includes deferral of payments
and suspension of acceleration rights until the expiry of the standstill period on 30 April 2021.
The intention is to use the standstill period to agree a long-term plan which will take Siem
Offshore through the prolonged downturn in the Offshore Support Vessel sector. Siem Europe
received notice of demand related to the termination of a newbuild contract for one vessel in
which Siem Europe had provided counter-indemnity for approximately EUR16.5 million
related to a refund guarantee issued by FSG when Siem Europe was its sole shareholder
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(28) PROVISIONS

At 31 December 2019
Carrying amount 1 January 2018:

Restructuring
Obligations
$
—

Contingent
liabilities
—

Legal claims
—

Others
99,448

Total
amount
99,448

Provision acquired through business
combinations:

—

—

—

—

—

Charges (credited) to profit or loss
Additional provisions recognized:
Unused amounts reversed:

—
—

—
—

5,267
—

33,128
—

38,395
—

Amounts used during the year:

—

—

(99,448)

(99,448)

—

—

5,267

33,128

38,395

—

—

—

Charges (credited) to profit or loss
Additional provisions recognized:
Unused amounts reversed:

—
—

—
—

11,177
—

Amounts used during the year:

—

—

Carrying amount as of
31 December 2018:
Provision acquired through business
combinations:

Carrying amount as of
31 December 2018:

—

—

—

—

16,444

—

—

48,729
—

59,906
—

(33,128)

(33,128)

48,729

65,173

Numbers presented under the category “Other” includes commission and accruals for purchase orders,
accrued salaries and incentive program, provision for operating expenses and other short term liabilities.
An accrual at $16 million has been recorded for possible legal claims related to contracts and labour cases.
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(29) NONCONTROLLING
INTEREST
Siem Offshore

Star Reefers /Siem
Shipowning

Deusa

Group adjustment

Total

Summarised Balance Sheet
31 Dec
2019

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

Current Assets

143,312

158,302

37,242

38,879

53,374

48,282

-

-

233,928

245,463

Current Liabilities

180,823

2,630

2,360

50,207

44,782

-

-

280,867

227,965

Current Net Assets

228,030
84,718

34,612

36,519

3,167

3,500

-

-

(46,939)
-

17,498
-

Assets held for sale

715

-

-

6,281
-

16,950
-

Non-Current Assets

1,397,426

1,571,021

42,891

36,640

257,195

183,050

-

-

1,697,512

1,790,711

Non-Current Liabilities

953,054

1,099,361

48,970

48,478

140,185

57,757

-

-

1,142,209

1,205,596

Non-Current Net Assets

444,372

471,660

(6,079)

(11,838)

117,010

125,293

-

-

555,303
-

585,115
-

Net Assets

360,369

466,089

28,533

24,681

125,743

128,793

-

-

514,645

619,563

Accumulated NCI

50,002

85,956

9,526

13,261

30,996

31,486

417

692

90,107

130,011

(22,521)
16,950

-

-

5,566
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Summarised Statement
of comprehensive income

Deusa
Siem Offshore
31 Dec
2019
31 Dec 2018

Revenue
Profit for the period

299,996
109,246

Profit attributable to NCI

35,950

Other comprehensive income

Star Reefers
/Siem Shipowning

Group adjustment

31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2019

54,589

59,826

113,536

138,938

-

-

468,121

506,500

(7,286)

6,711

1,956

(3,036)

(21,490)

-

-

(105,571)

(26,820)

(20,530)

(3,735)

1,089

(490)

(3,435)

(33,755)

(16,949)

307,736

Total comprehensive income

6,527
102,719

(7,555)

6,711

1,956

(3,036)

(21,490)

Total comprehensive income
attributable to NCI

35,954

(20,529)

(3,735)

1,089

(490

(3,435)

Dividends paid to NCI

-

Summarised cash flows
Cash flow from operating
activites
Cash flow from investing
activities
Cash flow from financing
activities
Net increase/ (decrease)
in cash and Cash
Equivalents

(269)

-

Siem Offshore
31 Dec 2019
31 Dec 2018

-

-

Deusa
31 Dec 2019
31 Dec 2018

-

31 Dec 2018

-

-

-

-

31 Dec 2019

Total

6,420

31 Dec 2018

5,927

31 Dec 2019

-

-

6,527

(269)

-

-

(99,044)

(27,089)

(33,759)

(16,948)

6,420

5,927

-

Star Reefers /Siem
Shipowning
31 Dec 2019
31 Dec 2018

31 Dec 2018

-

Group adjustment
31 Dec 2019
31 Dec 2018

-

Total
31 Dec 2019

31 Dec 2018

96,023

32,731

44,761

25,911

140,784

58,642

31,118

178,199

27,029

24,162

58,147

202,361

(111,261)

(210,313)

(69,429)

(52,062)

(180,690)

(262,375)

15,880

617

2,361

(1,989)

18,241

(1,372)
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(30) GOING CONCERN – UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO OFFSHORE SUPPORT VESSEL
SEGMENT AND REEFER SEGMENT
The Offshore Support Vessel segment is now in its 7th year of depressed conditions and it has taken
longer to recover than earlier expected. It is highly uncertain as to when charter rates will offer sufficient
earnings for full debt servicing. Siem Offshore has been able to reduce its debt substantially over the last
five years. Principal payment of debt instalments in 2019 was USD99 million (2018: USD195 million).
The significant debt reduction has been possible due to good cooperation between Siem Offshore and its
financing banks, significant shareholder support, good ship operations and disposal of non-strategic and
older assets. However, the significant excess capacity in the worldwide offshore service vessel fleet has
increased the competition amongst owners for any vessel requirements, thereby depressing charter rates.
The imbalance of supply and demand for offshore vessels is expected to remain for some years and will
continue to put pressure on the charter rates and cash flow from operations. The COVID-19 pandemic
situation when combined with the dramatic and unprecedented collapse in oil prices and global demand
for oil have put even more pressure on the Offshore Support Vessel market. Oil companies and oil service
companies are again cutting costs and reducing capital expenditures as projects are cancelled or
postponed.
In May 2020, Siem Offshore entered into an agreement with its secured lenders in Europe and Norway
for a standstill agreement for the period 29th of May 2020 until 30 April 2021. The terms of the
agreement include 100% deferral of principal and interest until the end of the standstill period, and
further includes waiver of financial covenants. The standstill agreement is conditional upon reaching an
agreement with the secured lenders in Brazil and Canada as well as the bondholders of SIOFF01 and
SIOFF02. The intention is to use the standstill period to agree a long-term plan which will take Siem
Offshore through the prolonged downturn. Further information about long-term debt within Siem
Offshore is included in note 8 Long-term debt.
The Reefer segment is exposed to the spot market and has limited contract backlog, which may cast doubt
upon the segment’s ability to continue as a going-concern in the future. In addition to the uncertainty
relating to the market, the segment has significant long-term charter commitments. Further information
about the long-term charter commitments is included in Note 11 Finance and Operating leases.
Based on current estimated cash flow forecast, the segment may not have sufficient liquidity as of 31
December 2020 or at latest during 1Q 2021. Star Reefers Inc. is dependent on improved market
conditions, reduced charter-in rates and/or injection of new working capital in the form of new equity or
a working capital loan facility unless the market significantly improves.
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To the General Meeting of Siem Industries Inc
Independent Auditor’s Report
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Siem Industries Inc, and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2019, the consolidated income
statement, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements are prepared in accordance with the law and
regulations, and give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019,
and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the
Group as required by laws and regulations, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern in OSV and Reefer segments
We draw attention to Note 30 in the financial statements and the Description of business which
indicates that material uncertainties exist that may cast significant doubt about certain parts of the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. The material uncertainties relate to the OSV and Reefer
business, which is part of the Reefer and Car Carrier segment. The OSV and Reefer business represent
approximately 41% of the consolidated financial statements total assets and 54% of the consolidated
financial statements total revenues and their financing is independent of the other segments and of the
Group. The OSV segment is dependent upon reaching agreement with some of its banks and
bondholders to amend the terms of its existing contractual debt facilities to waive certain covenants
and to defer scheduled payments for a minimum 12-month period. The Reefer business is dependent
on improved market conditions or reduced charter-in rates for its leased vessels. We emphasize that
the consolidated financial statements do not reflect impairment charges that may occur should sale of
assets be forced in the OSV segment and Reefer segments. Our opinion is not modified in respect of
this matter.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have determined the matters described below to be
the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
The Group’s business activities have remained largely unchanged during 2019. Except for the matter
described in the Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern section, we have not identified
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regulatory changes or other transactions or events that qualify as new Key Audit Matters for 2019. The
Estimate of contingent consideration, Refinancing of bonds and Held for sale and discontinued
operations were non-recurring transactions reported as key audit matters in our 2018 audit. However,
Impairment assessment vessels and Valuation of embedded derivative Incorporated in an
exchangeable bond transaction have approximately the same characteristics as last year and continue
to be in our focus.
Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment assessment vessels
Refer to note 2 (summary of significant
accounting policies) and note 6 (vessels,
property and equipment), where
management give further detail and
explain their impairment testing.
As of 31 December 2019, the Group owns
Vessels and related assets with a combined
carrying amount of USD 1 850 million,
which constitutes approximately 48% of
total asset values.
Impairment indicators were considered
present as of 31 December 2019 as freight
rates have been at historically low levels
during 2019. During 2019, the Group
recognized an impairment of the vessels of
USD 80.6 million.
We focused on this area due to the
significant carrying value of the vessels
and the judgement inherent in the
impairment review. Management made
judgements on the discounted future cash
flow forecasts in the value in use model
and certain key inputs including discount
rate, future freight rates and terminal
values of the vessels.
The fair value less costs of disposal is
determined by management based on
external broker valuations. We
concentrated some of our audit effort on
understanding how the brokers arrived at
the estimate for the fair value and the
judgement management made regarding
the costs to sell.
We note that impairment assessment is
sensitive to any changes to the
assumptions above.

We evaluated and challenged managements’ impairment
assessment and the process by which this was
performed. We assessed managements accounting policy
against IFRSs and obtained explanations from
management as to how the specific requirements of the
standards, in particular IAS 36 – Impairment of assets,
were met. We also satisfied ourselves regarding the
consistency year on year of the application of the
accounting policy.
In order to assess each of the significant assumptions in
management’s value in use forecast, we interviewed
management and challenged their assessments. For
certain key assumptions we specifically used;


External market data to assess the assumptions used
to build the discount rate. We considered that the
discount rate used was within an appropriate range.
We checked the consistency of the use of the
discount rate against all vessels and ensured the
mathematical accuracy of its application in the value
in use calculations.



Current and historical external market data, where
available, to corroborate the charter rates used by
management. We challenged management on their
assessment of market rates, including expected
timing and extent of increase in charter rates.
Further, we tested the charter rates used by
management for reasonableness by comparing these
rates with historical average rates. We also
corroborated management’s assessment with
external market reports where possible. We
considered that charter rates used by management
were within an appropriate range.

Our procedures also included sensitivity analysis to key
assumptions applied. We note that impairment
assessment is sensitive to any changes to the
assumptions above.
In order to assess the estimates for fair value less costs of
(2)
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disposal, management compiled broker valuation
certificates for the vessels. We satisfied ourselves that the
external brokers had both the objectivity and the
competence to provide the estimate. We obtained an
understanding of how selected brokers estimated fair
value for the vessels. We also satisfied ourselves that the
brokers were provided with relevant facts in order to
determine such an estimate, by testing key inputs such
as build date, build location and certain key
specifications back to the ships register. No matters of
consequence arose from the procedures above.
We evaluated the appropriateness of the related
disclosures and satisfied ourselves that the disclosures
appropriately explained the valuation.
Valuation of embedded derivative
Incorporated in an exchangeable bond
transaction
Refer to note 2 (summary of significant
accounting policies) and note 8 (Longterm debt) where management explain the
details of the embedded derivative.
As set out in the notes to the consolidated
financial statements, the Group issued an
exchangeable bond 2016 that can be
exchanged into Subsea 7 SA shares, which
is owned by the Group. The exchangeable
bond includes an embedded derivative,
which is valued and recognized in the
financial statements of the Group. The
bond is denominated in EUR, the shares in
Subsea 7 SA are quoted in NOK at Oslo
Stock Exchange and the functional
currency of the Group is USD. The issuer
has the right to either make a share
settlement, based on the prevailing share
price in NOK, or a cash settlement in EUR.
The valuation of the embedded derivative
incorporated in the exchangeable bond
arrangement was key to our audit because
of management’s use of judgmental
financial assumptions in the valuation.
Further, the instrument is rather complex
due to the different currencies involved
and the interactions between the
fluctuations of the different currencies.

We obtained and studied the loan agreement in order to
assess whether the financial valuation model used for the
valuation of the exchange right was appropriate for the
purpose. We satisfied ourselves that managements’
accounting policy embedded in the model was in
accordance with IFRS and we assessed the mathematical
accuracy of the valuation model. No errors were found in
our review. No matters of consequence arose from these
procedures.
We satisfied ourselves about the classification of the
instrument as a financial derivative through discussions
with management and corroboration of information
from management with information in the loan
agreement and requirements in IFRS.
We tested whether the financial assumptions used in the
valuation model was in accordance with the loan
agreement. We reviewed share prices and currency
exchange rates against quoted prices in the markets. We
found no material deviations.
We assessed the appropriateness of the information in
the notes about the valuation of the exchange right and
found it reasonable.

(3)
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Other information
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises information in
the annual report, except the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and the Managing Director for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors and the Managing Director (Management) are responsible for the preparation
in accordance with law and regulations, including fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, and for such
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with laws, regulations, and auditing standards and practices
generally accepted in Norway, including ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. We design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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•

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

•

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

•

conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including
the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.
We also provide the Board of Directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related
safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the Board of Directors, we determine those matters that were of
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

Oslo, 15 June 2020
PricewaterhouseCoopers AS

Bjørn Lund
State Authorised Public Accountant

(5)

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
2019 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Company’s Board of Directors and its Management are committed to meeting high corporate
governance standards at all times during its business proceedings. The Board of Directors recognizes its
responsibility for proper corporate governance and believes that maintaining exacting standards for moral
and ethical behaviour, professionalism and performance will benefit all stakeholders.
The Company is an exempted company duly organized and existing under and according to the laws and
regulations of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s registration number is CR-1248 and its registered office is
located P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, South Church Street, George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman Islands. The Company is subject to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands with respect to
corporate governance.
Because the Company’s Exchangeable Bonds are traded on the Oslo Stock Exchange, the Company follows
the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate Governance (the “Code”) on a “comply or explain” basis to
the extent that it does not contradict the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands. The Code is available at
www.nues.no/en/ .
The Company’s corporate policies and procedures are discussed below with reference to the principles of
corporate governance as set forth in the sections identified in the Norwegian Code of Practice for Corporate
Governance dated 30 October 2014.
MEMORANDUM AND ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION
Cayman Islands’ laws and regulations do not require a specifically-defined objects clause within the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association. The Articles of Association establish the rights of the
Shareholders and the responsibilities and obligations of the Board of Directors and Management. The Board
of Directors acknowledges the division of roles and ensures that good corporate governance is instilled in the
Company culture by holding regular Board of Directors meetings at which Management presents the
Company’s recent performance and discusses existing and proposed operational, strategic and financial
matters.
BUSINESS
The Board of Directors believes that the foundation for success in business is the Company’s enduring
commitment to quality, health, safety, environmental matters in its operations and the operations of its
subsidiaries and associates.
The Board of Directors reviews and approves, where appropriate, the strategies, goals and objectives presented
by its Management. Details of the Company’s activities are presented in pages 1-11 in the Company’s 2019
Annual Report.
EQUITY AND DIVIDENDS
The Company’s Shareholders’ Equity is $1.65 billion at 31 December 2019 as compared to $1.92 billion at
the end of 2018. The Board of Directors believes that the level of equity is satisfactory for the Company to
pursue its strategy, goals and objectives given the risk profile.
The Company’s long-term goal is to provide its Shareholders with a competitive return of their invested
capital over time through a combination of increases in the value of the Company’s share, share buybacks
and dividends.
EQUAL TREATMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS AND TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES
Classes of Shares. Cayman Islands laws and the Company’s Articles of Association draw a distinction between
authorized share capital and issued share capital. The Company’s authorized share capital, which fixes the
maximum number of shares that the Company is authorized to issue, is determined at a general meeting of
the Shareholders by a vote on a proposed ordinary resolution. Within the limits of the authorized share
capital, the Board of Directors has the power to issue new shares subject, however, to certain pre-emption
rights held by existing Shareholders.
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At present, the following classes of shares are authorized: 100,000,000 shares of Common Shares, $0.25 par
value per Common Share; 5,000,000 shares of preferred shares, $1.00 par value; and 50,000,000 redeemable
preferred shares, $0.01 par value. Only the Common Shares are issued and outstanding (references to
“shares” in this report mean Common Shares unless the context implies otherwise).
Share Issues. In the event that the Board of Directors deems it appropriate to issue new shares in accordance
with the Articles of Association and waive the pre-emption rights of existing Shareholders, the Company will
comply with the recommendation of the Code that the justification for such waiver will be disclosed in press
release announcing the share issue.
The Code provides that authorizations to issue new shares should be divided into separate mandates, each to
be considered and voted upon at a General Meeting of Shareholders. In order for the Company to comply
with this guidance, it would be necessary to amend the Company’s Articles of Association. The Company
will, therefore, maintain its current practice which provides the Board of Directors with more flexibility to
issue new shares when the need arises.
Rights of Shareholders. The Company has one class of shares, Common Shares, in issue which are freelynegotiable and carry equal rights including equal voting rights at all annual and extraordinary general
meetings of the Company’s Shareholders. No shares carry any special control rights and there are no
restrictions on voting rights. The Board of Directors’ right to authorize the re-purchase and cancellation of its
own shares is conditional upon such purchases being made in open market transactions through a broker
subject to certain restrictions.
General Meetings. The Company holds an annual general meeting for its Shareholders at its registered office
in the Cayman Islands. The notice of the meeting and the proxy statement detailing the business to be
presented and, as required, to be voted on at the Shareholders is distributed by mail and posted on the
Company’s website at www.siemindustries.com . Approximately 98.6% of the holdings of Common Shares
entitled to vote were present in person or by proxy at the June 2019 Annual General Meeting and this
compares to the 99.1% and 97.5% in attendance at the 2018 and 2017 AGMs, respectively.
The Board of Directors sets a record date and all Shareholders included in the share register on the record
date are eligible to attend the meeting in person or vote by proxy. Proxy forms are available and may be
submitted by eligible Shareholders which permit separate voting, or voting instructions to be given in case a
proxy is appointed, on each of the matters presented for vote. Shareholders may present proposals for
consideration by the Shareholders at the next annual general meeting provided that the submitted proposals
are in proper form and are delivered on a timely basis. Notice of the date, prior to which time the
Shareholders can submit a timely proposal for inclusion in the proxy statement for the next annual general
meeting, is included in the previous year’s proxy statement which is available on the Company’s website or by
written request.
The business of the annual general meetings includes, but is not limited to, the election of members to the
Board of Directors for stipulated terms of appointment, the approval of the Company’s Annual Report, the
discharge of the Directors and Management and the appointment of the external auditor. The Chairman of
the Board of Directors is elected by the Directors at the subsequent meeting of the Board of Directors which
typically immediately follows the conclusion of the General Meeting.
Related Parties. Transactions between the Company and related parties are detailed in Notes 14 and 19 of the
2019 Annual Report. When possible, the Company will seek third-party valuations on related party
transactions in an effort to ensure that the terms are satisfactorily based on arms’ length negotiations.
NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The trustee for the Ores Trust, a trust whose beneficiaries include Kristian Siem and his immediate family,
owns approximately 67.2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares. Mr. Siem, the Company’s
Chairman, personally owns 12.5% of the Company’s issued and outstanding shares. The remaining Directors
own, in aggregate, less than 10% of the remaining issued and outstanding shares.
The responsibility for nominating candidates to the Board rests with the Company’s Board of Directors. Prior
to nominating a candidate, the Board of Directors will consult with the trustee of the Ores Trust to assess
whether the candidate possesses the requisite experience to serve on the Board. Shareholders may propose

88

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
candidates in accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association. On this basis, the Board of Directors
has determined that it is not necessary to form a Nomination Committee.
The Articles of Association provide that a vacancy on the Board of Directors may be filled by a replacement
Director who is appointed by the remaining Directors on the Board who have been duly elected at annual
general meetings. Replacement Directors must be placed in nomination for election by the Shareholders at
the next annual general meeting.
CORPORATE ASSEMBLY AND THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
There is no requirement for the Company to establish a corporate assembly under Cayman Islands law. With
the exception of the Chairman, all Directors are independent of the Company’s management and material
business relationships. At all times, the Board of Directors must satisfy the independence criteria set forth in
the Code.
The Directors include Mr. Kristian Siem who also serves as Chairman, Mrs. Karen Siem, Mr. M.D. Moross,
Mr. Barry Ridings and Mr. Ivar Siem. The biographies of the Board of Directors are included in the Proxy
Statement to the 2020 Annual General Meeting and are incorporated herein by reference.
Each Director is elected by the Shareholders at an annual general meeting to a term not to exceed three years
as provided by the Articles of Association, or less than three years if necessary to adjust the election of
Directors on a staggered, evenly-distributed basis.
The Board of Directors, as a whole, possesses extensive experience in areas which are important and relevant
to the Company.
ATTENDANCE RECORD OF DIRECTORS IN 2019
During 2019, a total of six Board of Directors meetings were held at which all Directors were in attendance.
WORK OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors reviews the Company’s strategy, goals and objectives and their implementation and
progress, reviews and approves the Company’s budget for the next plan year and reviews and monitors the
Company’s current performance in relation to the approved budget. The Board has constituted a
Compensation Committee and an Audit Committee.
In cases where a Director has a personal or other direct interest, such Director will abstain from deliberation
and voting on the issues. The Company has no deputy chairman but, if the Chairman is an interested party
to a transaction, then another Director will be elected to chair the meeting by the other Directors.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
The Board of Directors has the responsibility for the system of internal control and reviewing its effectiveness.
The Company maintains its internal control systems to the extent practical. The Board of Directors reviews
the previous quarter and year-to-date performance as presented at meetings by Management.
The Board of Directors is kept advised of the developments in the Company at each meeting and the Board
or the Audit Committee is updated regularly on the status of the control environment in the Company.
REMUNERATION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The remuneration of the Directors is established by Board of Directors and is placed for a vote of approval by
the Shareholders at the annual general meeting. At the end of 2019, a Director’s fee of $18,000 was payable
to each of Mrs. Siem, Messrs. Moross, Ridings and I. Siem for the past year.
REMUNERATION OF MANAGEMENT
The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors reviews and approves the compensation of the
Chairman and other members of Management. Any bonuses are based on achievement of specific goals for
the individuals and the overall performance of the Company. The Board does not see a need for an absolute
limit for performance related remuneration as the final decision on the amount is at the discretion of the
Board.
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The Company’s performance unit plan, in place since 1995, expired at the end of 2014 and no further units
can be awarded. The existing performance units remain the responsibility of the Compensation Committee
until all have been converted or forfeited. Details of the plan are available in Note 14 in the 2019 Annual
Report.
INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATIONS
The Board of Directors’ policy is to treat all of its interested parties equally and to keep them properly
informed and updated concerning significant developments which may impact the Company. This
communication is conducted by the distribution of notices and announcement to the Oslo Stock Exchange
and by the posting of such notices and announcements on our website.
TAKE-OVER SITUATIONS
The Company’s shares are freely tradable and the Articles of Association of the Company does not provide
for specific defense mechanisms against take-over situations. The Board of Directors believes that
Shareholders should seek their own professional advice to guide them on whether or not to accept a take-over
bid. If appropriate, the Board will make a recommendation as to whether Shareholders should or should not
accept an offer that has been tendered to the Company’s Shareholders. The Board of Directors will not
hinder or obstruct take-over bids and will always act in the best common interests of the Company and its
Shareholders.
AUDITOR
The Auditor of the Company is nominated by the Board of Directors and the recommendation is voted on
by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting who also vote to approve the Auditor’s remuneration. The
Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group has an independent and effective external audit
process. The Auditor meets with the Audit Committee and Chairman, as necessary, to present and discuss
the plans for the preparation of the annual report and for approval of the scope of work and levels of fees
proposed by the Auditor. The Auditor also reports on internal controls, risk areas and improvement potential
in control systems once a year or more frequently if deemed appropriate. The audit process is planned in
detail and the findings of the auditors are discussed with Management. Potentially significant issues are
brought directly to the attention of the Audit Committee who will then report to the Board of Directors.
DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
We confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements as of and
for the year ended 31 December 2019 have been prepared in accordance with current applicable accounting
standards and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and results of the Company
and the Group taken as a whole. We also confirm that, to the best of our knowledge, the Company’s 2019
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements include a fair review of the development and
performance of the business and the position of the Company, together with a description of the principal
risks and uncertainties confronting the Company.
For and on behalf of the
Board of Directors of Siem Industries Inc.
15 June 2020
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